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3. 1 make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless
otherwise stated. I have had the benefit of reading through the audit papers.
References to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to page numbers of
Exhibit “"HR 1” to this Witness Statement.

4. As an Auditor, I was responsible for auditing Post Office Branches. I usually carried
out at least one audit every day, aithough sometimes it could be closer to two or
three audits and on one occasion I remember I did four audits. {{in the basis
that Helen has 20 days holiday per year, I calculate that she spent 285

working days per year doing audits. We need to ascertain precisely how

‘to audit the Marine

many years audit experience she had when she ca
Drive Branch, If it was five years at an averayg 4
she will have done approximately 1,425 audif;é- before s

colleague Chris Taylor. We arrived at approxinately S.O(Itﬁa‘m, I had not had any

previous involvement with the Maring Drive Branc

6. The process of es physically counting the cash and
stock at the Ma

and withdrawal receipts, Pe

-Drive branch, checki g he paperwork such as Giro deposits
tlowances Reports and where appropriate,

declared cash receipts.

that he'had been having problems balancing the books and
thaf‘t,iif‘it;se problems had started in the cash account week ending 43 (21 January
2004) Wifh a shortfall of £4,230.97. Mr Castleton was adamant that the
misbalancé§:§:W§rei§:aﬁe to a computer problem and that no members of his staff

7. 'M_rza":_astleton explai

could be comfrﬁtiing theft. In my considerable experience as an auditor, I have
never known there to be a single instance of a computer problem generating cash
shortfalls and Mr Castleton’s explanation sounded completely implausible to me.

8. A copy of the conclusion of my report is at page [ 1. In short, I concluded that
there were unauthorised losses of £25,758.75. This was a result of unauthorised
losses that had accumulated in the cash account and it had been transferred to the
suspense account for many weeks leading up to the audit.

9. As part of an audit, we have to complete a procedural security inspection. This was
carried out by my colleague Chris Taylor. A copy of the procedural and security

1A_1107425_1 2



10.

11,
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inspection is at pages [ ]. A typed copy of the audit is at pages [ ] and the
handwritten notes are pages [ 1. The inspection revealed that the safe was left
open, the safe keys were left in the safe door and it was not secured, that cash
and stock were not secured during lunchtime if the Sub-Postmaster was not on the
premises, that Travellers Cheques were not kept in the safe and Foreign Currency
was not held securely, that standard procedures for adjusting losses and gains
were not adhered to (because losses were unauthorised) and personal cheques on
hand had been incorrectly treated.

I do remember that Mr Castleton left the branch at lunchtime _a_nd returned in the
afternoon smelling strongly of alcohol, [ Was he drunk? W ;éi*&ﬁd he say about
the result of the audit?].

iring the audit. If
Ppstmaster to

1 did not remove any documents from the Marine gDr ve branch _
there were any documents that are required,_,I;‘éiWays ask the Su
print off his spare copy. I understand that.c of the live issues in th

whether any balance snapshots were removed A balance snapshot is a report that
contains what the computer believes is the total cash in stock figure. It looks at

stock and adjus
istomer has purchased then the figures

the previous weeks’ declared cas ems as they are sold, so if

someone forgets to enter an item*
will be inaccurate. 1 certainly do not: -ovmgg‘a_ny daily balance snapshots

would not have been particularly useful

and for the reason plained,

to me,

ther after completing the audit.

this witness statement are true.
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Witness: Iohn Howard lones
Statesments 1

Exhibits: JHI1

Date mades 1383406

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Clatm Mo HGOSXGRZO6

POST QFFICE LEMITEDR
Claimant/ Part 20 Defendant

Part 20 Clatrsasl

I, JOHN HOWARD JONES of Network Change, Posh Qffice Limited, Sales and Service,
GRO mx, TR A%

B Bt Gfee mesf"e’d {"the Post
Uffice™) and arm alsa an Appesls Manager, with rmmnmty far heanng bcth agents

2. I make this Witness Statement in suppost of the Post Office’s Application for an Qrder
that:

{a} Tiree be exbencded until 16 Bovemnber 2005 for the Calmanty/Part 20 Defendant to
file and serve its Reply ta Defence and Defence ta Counterclaim; and

£ Voo sk aside the |
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant.

3. I make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise
stated. References to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to page numbers of
exhibit JHI1 to this Witness Statement.
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GRO
£27 115.83. During this time, Mr Castleton, the Defendant, was the Subpostmaster at
the Marine Drive branch and responsible for making good all losses, whether caused

through his own negligence or that of his assistants.

% I understart that o or about 23 March 2004, Mr Castleton’s contract for services was
mperxded ecavse of lavge unexplained losses that had been reported ocunring over
the preceding 12 weelks. A audit ook place at the Marine Drive branch o 23 Mavch
2004, followed by a full investigation, during which time Mr Castleton was interviewed
by Ms Catherine OUglesby, the Retail Line Manager who was deating with the matter at
theal aw 1?%2&% Mr Castlenur was dismissed. 1 was
ook ageinst the dismissal.
&. L wroke to Mr Castletan on 21 June 2004 to confirm that I had scheduled the appeal
hearing to ek place oy T July 2004 {pages I tw 2},
7.
the following actiorn:
8. 1 mede erpairies withy Cheryl Yoo

Section to check on the w > of ervar v
accurred bebtween weeks 42 and 51. € alse checked the tevel of ervar s
been received since the suspension on 23 March 2004, An error notice is a correction
staterrrent el is & divect result of aw ocorrect entry belng roade by e o :

noted that only one error notice had been received for £1,256.88 for a customer called

Dorothy Constable, which was charged to the Late Account. (The Late Account is a
holding account that is established following either the suspension or last day of
service of a Subpostmaster and records all previous errors that are recorded against
that branch, which have not been brought to account). Two smaller error notices
totalling £292 were also charged to the Late Account. I do mot have the dates and
specific amourts for those errors totalling £292, but believe that they actuatly ooourred
whilst Mr Castleton was the postmaster but had not been drawn to the attention of the
business until after he was suspended. As such Mr Castleton was. liahle for the errars.
which occurred during his period of appointment.
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9. I personally reconstructed and anahesed e Marine Drive branch Cashr Acoourts for the

17 weeks between 24 Decembier 2003 and 14 April 2004 (i.e. account weeks, 39-03
ouer the oitical period when the losses being
of my analysis was to independently

inclusive). I examined syery ransackion

incurred were at their greatest. The mupose
check the arithmetical accuracy of those acopunts,
the transactions at the Marine Drive branch during this period, the average cash
usage, the cash ordering cyde and idermtifying any transactional areas that were
outside the mean average value for the banb he. whether there was anything unusual
for this particodar branch. & sp - the results of my analysis is at page
23.

the average volume and value of

10. I visited the Marine Drive branch on 28 Jume 2004, tu investigate those transactions
that 1 had identified as bemg 5 e value I analysed a3 Giro Business

cross referered with the entry thet was faoes sysiem. Fach entry
was recorded correctly in line with our operating instructions and brought to account
through the MHorizon systews o the dop the cash was depesited. T also corvied out 3
numbrer of further checks ir relatiorr to the receipts gvailable at the branch to prove
thvat thee firal tutals accwately and correctly appeeaved iy the e of week acoounts. 1
checked o number of daily records thel were svailable i the vancly to confirmy thelr
arithrmetical correchhess and that they had beany coreselly recorded ontg the Horizon
Tox by O

11. I asked Ms Oglesby, then the Retail Line Manager, why the adyice she had given to Mr
Castleton had not been followed by him and any reason 36 1o why such losses werg
Mg Galeshy advised me that My Casticton was loath to take her advice, dismissed any
suggestion that there might be problem that csdd possibiy be theft related and
© 3% 3 resait of the comouter

experienced Post Office manager given that he was a relatively new Subpostmaster

and significant losses were accumulating in the Marine Drive branch.

12. 1 conducted a daily transactional analysis from hoth daily and weekly balance
snapshots in the cash accounts of weeks 46, 47 and 50 in which there were losses of
£8,243.10, zero and £10,653.11 respectively {page 24). My analysis showed that there
were anomalies between the cash dedared on each Tuesday of those weeks and the
final cash declaration on the Wednesday at the final balance. For example, I evaluated
individual transactions between Tuesday 10" February 2004 and Wednesday 11
February 2004 for cash account week 46. My evaluation indicated that the actual



transactional receipty e bober the M
Drive Branch by approximately £15308. It can be demonstrated thet @ cash depasit
of £16,500 by customer number 685 9461 was received on Wednesday 11 February
2004, burt this is not reflected in the final cash dedaration & the dose of husiness on
the Wednesday. A cash dedaration of approximately £49,000 should have beeny made
as opposed to the incorrect cash declaration that was actually made of £33,100. In
other words, the Marine Drive branch physically received approximately £15,300 more
cash that the amount it actuatly declared.

13.1 again visiteg the Marire Drive brawdy o 30 Juwe 2004 to rack the Gire Bank
business deposits that the el received amnd to establish the fow of cash into the
branch. The Marine Drive branch holds the account book for a customer account
number 6859461 who regufarty deposited significant volumes of cash  eachr
Wednsday L anaiysed all of that cushomer’'s deposits, siiwe November 2003 to confinm

weeks of 46, £F and 50 where | had © ¥ analysis, to

establish whether the levels of cash that had heen declared had actually been received
because the cash usage that occurred i the weeks 46, 47 and 50 was not reflected in

the fnal casiy declared by the Marine Drive brancdy upor commpletion of the balance., I

other words, the cash that the Marine Drive brench physically received from this

customer was not reflected in the cash that Mr Castlieton declared in each of the weeks
iond 2t the Marine gt bove Doen

nat close due to running out of cash. My enquiries revealed that tests had satisfactarily
been carried out on the Horizon systern which confirmed its integrity.

15. 1 presided over Mr Castleton’s Appeal Hearing on 1 July 2004. Mr Castleton had a
representative present, Mrs Julie Langham. Miss Paul Carmichael of the Post Office was
also there to take a note of the Hearing.

16. During the Hearing, Mr Castleton blamed the Horizon computer system for the losses.
The Morizon Systerm is arr orline accounting system that is integrated into over
17,000 Post Office branches which provides the highest level of security and integrity
far the Post Qffice and our clients with those transactions. The system provides for

on-line reconciliation of all our customer transactions and the Post Office weekly
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19,

20.

3 repsactions taling place at the braswdy.
: g entered onta the system by the user wher &
customer resents @ ransaction at the Post Office counter. Each counter position has a
oonpnder terminal, 8 visual display unit, 2 keyboard, barcode scanner and printer.
This systeryy records all bansaciions inputted by the counter clerk working at that
counter position. Each user has a unique pass word and identifier to enable the
system to have both internal and external security. Once logged on, any transactions
performed by the user must be recorded and entered on the computer. The system
rexorciies the defly and weekly transactions and provides the weekly Post Office
batarce, The anus is an the operator to check and confirm the value of the stock and
cash that & o hand whew complicting the balance.  The system also aliows for
information to be transferred to the main accounting department at Chesterfield in
order for accounts for eaclr Post Office branch to be balanced.

Fujitsp  Services {(whw were responsible for de ,
implementing and operating the Horizon system), nor the Horizon System Helpdesk
trad beerr abde b iderdify arry problems withy the systerrr. Irr any evert, My Castietorr
stated that the cash declarations he had made (i.e. the accuracy of the cash that he
declared oo the systay and ulthmately the cashy accounts that he sigred) were
accurate “nire times oot of ten”™. Mr Castleton stated that he knew how much to order
based on amounts previousty ordered and Chrissie’s (his assistant) experience.

branch hagt ordered significanthy wore cash from the Post Office than bad pormally
been the case. Mr Castleton stated that he only ordered what he felt was requived. 1

he had anly achually needed n arder bebwesn 200,000 to £265.000 fov casds. Togd
Mr Castleton had ordered £305,000 of which only £20,000 had been returned,

e b caslhy ombered by the branch de

My analysis of the oy

required to serve the transactions that were being performed. Significantly, the orders
for extra cash were always in weeks where there was reported to be a significant loss

at the branch.

The Marine Drive branch never ran out of cash. If the Horizon system had been
incorrect and the cash shaortfalls merely theoretical (i.e. compuier gencratad}), rather
than actual, there would always have been sufficient cash in the Marine Drive branch

to meet its requirements and no need to order extra cash. Crucially, it was only the
ordering of the extra cash that ensured that the branch was always able to remain

trading. Mr Castleton was unable to explain why he needed actual additional cash or

Ty

branch did not need to order these excessive amounts of cash, because they were not

POL00071231
POL00071231



where that additord casly
theoretical shortfall,

21. If Mr Castleton’s assertion was oorrech,. this would not bave affected the physical
amount of cash at the Marine Drive hrarnch or mean that Mr Castleton had to order and
use extra cash. Mr Castleton specifically stated that he anly wrdered the cash he felt

was required.

Post Appeal Heoring Bnep

2. After the Appest Hearing, T dida & w cheeh withy Cheryl Woodwmant of ransscion
processing which confirmed that there were no ather cubstanding error notices in the

systerr.

w By £kl . ek 4 : anabysis be e
we prictouts.  § wente o bim o 5 Jobp 3004 o confirmy that 1
would obtain the analysis and endeavour to confirm my decision on 14 July 2004
{prages I8 ot 395 v, T gove the Morizon fask sccount declavations to the
Network Development Marager, Anmita Turmer, who had no previous knowledge of the
case amt asked ber o comchuct her owrr bdepencdent anatysis of the losses amd
mvernents i the suspernss scoount betweeyy cashr acvount weeks 4% and 50. 1 wrote
o Mr Castletor on 8 July 2004 to confiemy the result of Ms Tumer's analysis {page 32}.
ed Sk

{a} For the week ending 12 February 2004 {(cash account week 46), the Marine Drive
branch declared a shortage discrepancy of £8,243.10.

b} For the: w ¥ 2004 {Cash as
£8,743.10.
(€} For the 2004, {(cas 2

branch declared a shortage discrepancy of £3,509.18.

(d) For the week ending 4 March 2005 (cash account week 49), the Marine Drive
branch transferred the shortage discrepancy from week 48 of £3,509.18 to the
suspense account. The branch then declared a further shortage of £3,512.26.

{e} For the weelk ending IX March 2004, {cash account week 5U) the Marine Drive
branch did not transfer the shortage discrepancy of £3,512.26 to the suspense

account, but it was instead rolled over to week 50 without being made good.
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26.

27.

28.

; St e : o Tl 2009,
pages 30 b 31 sk 36 b 37 : s, 1 dor not recalt seeing those letters at the
e, winichy roey be because they were sent to the Darlington Area Office rather than
Caltharpe House, London where | was working at the tme.

g ey decision to dismmiss Mr Castleton’s Appeal

. The decision to dismiss Mr Castleton’s appeal was not taken lightly. A list of the factors

affecting myy decision are at pages 9 and 10. I conducted extensive analysis on the
accowrding documentation made available for the Appeal as well as the transactional
% Bk b 2 Drive branch The Post Office's Transachion # 3
Department only had three error notices, all of which were accounted far. The cash
ordered by the Marine Drive branch was significantly outside the mean average value
that it normmally ordered. The cash ovdered was systematically increased on fouwr
g which @ lawrge cash discrepancy ocourred.

The Marine Drive branch incurred unprecedented declared losses over a 12 week
perioe in respeet of wiich My Castietor could only offer the explanation thet & was the
Horizon System that was causing the errors. If the Horizon system was erroneously
dectariny losses in the twanch, there woule have beernt no actual cashy shortfalls amngd
there would always be sulficent amwounds of cash v the branch to service is
requirerments. However, Mr Castleton ordered extra cash and it was only thig extra
tthe b Y i continue i racke and meant Wl iU never raes oul.
Lashleton was unable to explaln why he vequ Fional cash € thers. was oy &
system error, His argument that there was a system error was unfounded, but was in
any event, academic. The physical need for extra cash can only be explained by the
fark that cash wa host.

Fuiitsu Services” checks indicated that the branch had made false csh
and this was further corrobarated with the daily account analysis. My analysis of the
weekly accounts show thet the Marine Drive branchy nreeded approximstety £200,000 b
£265,000 o meet 1S ransackion or reqpirements. bebwesn weehs 42 and 49, but had
ordered £305,000 in cash to cover this period in respect of which only £20,00Q0 was
returned. It was significant that additional cash was ordered prior to a subsequent
cash discrepancy being declared. Mr Castleton was not able to explain why such sums
of cash were ordered that were in excess of what was actually required and where it

had gone.

There were and have not been since any subsequent error notices for the branch under
Mr Castleton's operation, nor any similar experiences of large shortages by a number
of locum Subpostmasters who have all operated the same pieces of Harizon kit, week

in week out.

POL00071231
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29. In the circumstances, I believe that the decision ultimately to dismiss Mr Castleton was
soundly based and accordingly I dismissed his Appeal. I wrote to Mr Castleton on 9
July 2004 to confirm my decision (page 38). I firmly believe not only that there is a
very real prospect that the Post Office will succeed if allowed to defend the
Counterclaim, but also that the arguments advanced by Mr Castletan hold no credence

whatsoever.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

SIGNEA.....oiiioiimmi ottt ves sinson:
JOHN HOWARD JONES

DA, .corccricrmisserniimminsimesesiseriaereesiisionseserns 2006
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20

Defendant
Witness: Stephen John
Dilley
Statement: 2
Exhibits: $ID3
Date made: 26/09/2006
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BETWEEN:
POST OFFICE LIMITED Clajfmant/Part 20
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/
- and ~ Vi

LEE CASTLETON i Defendant/Part
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&

& .
SECOND WITNESS STATEMENT @?ff?STEPHﬁN JOHN DILLEY

’f

&

I, STEPHEN JOMN DILLEY, solicitor of;éond Pearce LLP Ballard Hous¢

GRO WILL SAY A§ FOLLOWS:-

1. had conduct'::o,f";;:this matter on behalf of the
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant (the Post Office). i
2.
| ensure that the case is brought to trial in
repared manner.
3. nt from facts within my own knowledge unless

othéijygjse stated. References to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to

page numbers of exhibit SID2 to this statement.

Summary of Claim and Defence and Counterclaim

1A_1215575.1 1
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4. The Defendant, Mr Castleton was a Sub-Postmaster at the branch of the Post
Office at i GRO | (the Marine Drive
branch) from approximately 18 July 2003 to 23 March 2004. Mr Castleton
accepts that the express terms of his Contract for services included that he would

be strictly responsible for the safe custody of cash and stock, was obliged to make
good all losses caused through his own negligence, carelessness or error and
losses of any kind caused by his assistants and that his responsibility did not cease
when he relinquished his appointment and that he remains obliged to make good
any losses incurred during his term of office which subsequen’t}y came to light.

858.95 occurred at
e losses together

5. Between 18 July 2003 and 25 March 2004, net los: ’ 5
the Marine Drive Branch. The Post Office seek repayment of

with interest and costs.

fault of probferhs with the
Drive branch and that the Post
f which he has suffered loss

6. Mr Castleton’s case is that any shortfall is it
Horizon computer and accounting system at Marin

Office wrongfully terminated his Contract in respe
not exceeding £250,000.

Disclosure

7. By a Consent Orc?e' date v'March 20'063': standard disclosure was due to take

ith mspectlon 7 days thereafter. By consent, the Post

disclosur‘é’?ﬁﬂ ‘May, 6, 8, 16, 21 June, 14, 25 and 31 July, 3 and 23 August, 5
and 12 Septer ber 2006. Copies of the inter-parties correspondence between
Bond Pearce and Rowe Cohen at pages to U,/ di{ihave now received most but not
all of Mr Castleton’s disclosure. Currently we are awaiting copies of items 1, 2, 58,
62, 76 and 77 from Mr Castleton’s disclosure list, being the following:
1. Daily cash declarations for week 41 (2 January 2004) to week 51 (11
March 2004);

2.  Weekly suspense account reports relating to weeks 47 and 49;

1A_1215575_1 2
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58. Letter to Lee Castleton from National Savings and Investments dated 30
December 2004;

62. Letter to Mr Castleton dated 12 January 2005;

76. Error notice dated 23 May 2004, and

77. Marine Drive Post Office account.

9. Rowe Cohen’s explanation for failing to prowde documqnts when originally
=
requested is contained in their 11 August letter: }pparentl

’,

fihen Mr Castleton’s
disclosure list was prepared, some of the documents:‘ isted in it were in their

possession, but others were in Mr Castleton’s pos ._;here was confusion

as to who had them. In any event, we do 'quire copies of the above remaining
documents, so that we can assess their relev nce and xf necessary deai with them

in Witness Statements.

oy

10. Mr Castleton’s solicitors requested¢opies o the Past Off“ ce gdoc%ments on 13 June

ated 16 June 2006 37{1 should in fairness
duties of disclosure, the Post Office has
came to light after exchange of disclosure

lists.

Witnéé_a: Statements

11. Given the déiéyi'téiv:d.isclosure, the parties agree to initially extend the deadline of
Witness State:r;ients exchanged at 15 September 2006. I sent to Court for
approval and sealing a Conse_nt‘Order dealing with this {(and other consequential)
amendments on 25 July 2006?é%n 2_; August 2006, I wrote to the Court asking for
a sealed copy of the Order (page&%';;f On 6 September, we received an amended
copy of the Order (pageﬁ\w) ;;d on 7 September, e-mailed an amended copy to
Mr Castleton’s solicitors for signature (page %é)"’/ At the time of making this

statement, 1 have not yet received the signed copy to enable me to file it at Court.

1A_1215575_1 3



12. In any event, one of the Post Office potentiél witnesses, Ruth Simpson, who was
the relief sub-postmaster who took over immediately following Mr Castleton’s
suspension, is currently recovering from an operation and has not been available
for me tc meet to take evidence. Given that and given that disclosure has been
protracted, it has not been possible to finalise witness statements in the timetable

originally envisaged.

Expert’s Reports

13. Aithough Mr Castleton has made various allegati_ puter system, it

is difficult to understand at this stage precis@l‘y’" how he says th'a'i'::éf?any computer

errors caused the shortfalls. The cost of e%;ﬁe(ts’ s is likely to be significant.

For example, the Post Office’s accountancy expert has stated that their anticipated

costs could be in the region of £62,00 $:is because this would need

to cover a substantial amount of&:gr_ound j ‘order td:help reduce the cost of

experts’ reports and_s S fffces expé?{s' reports can be focused on

particular allegatiéiis raiseeﬁ: by Mr Castleton, we would prefer there to be a

sequential excharige: of e;{ﬁén:s‘ ‘{eports‘,:’With Mr Castleton serving any expert

14, Given that tﬁéf?@éﬁf ‘Office claim is for £25,858.95 plus interest and costsg. I believe

that it would be more appropriate for this case to be tried at the Ccfunty Court
rather than the High Court. Accordingly, on 24 August 2006 I wrote to Mr
Castleton’s solicitors and invited them to agree to the transfer of the claim to the

Chancery List in the Central London County Court (page ‘)}‘.”‘

1A 12155751 4

POL00071231
POL00071231




POL00071231
POL00071231

Conclusion

15. In summary, it would be helpful to have a case management conference to review
the timetable and to give further directions to enable the matter to be resolved

cost effectively, or brought to trial in a proportionate and fully prepared manner.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

1] o] o= Te E R R VRN
STEPHEN JOHN DILLEY

DAE ..oosieisiiricrsi i ens sns smminssemsesnmensssnssnese

1A,1215575_1 5
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STEPHEN JOHN DILLEY
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Filed on behalf of the:  Claimant/Part 20

Defendant
Witness: Stephen John
Dilley
Statement: 2
Exhibits: $ID3
Date made: 26/09/2006
IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Clalm No. HQO5X02706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:
POST OFFICE LIMITED Claimant/Part 20
a Defendant
- and ~
LEE CASTLETON /" Defendant/Part
£ 20 Claimant
/

o,

",
g,

SECOND WITNESS STATEMENT OF STEPHEN JOHN DILLEY

I, STEPHEN JOHN DILLEY, soiiciton;f‘gf i ‘ GRO
_,, :

GRO WILL SAYAS FOLL

&
£

Fon,
o,

2. 1 make this Witness ﬁtatement in support of an Apphcatlon for an Order that
thereby a case mar}‘eagement conference at which the Court do give further
directions, since. th_v e are requ;red in order to ensure that the case is resolved in a

cost effect;ve@;:n

a proportuanate a';

or altematw&ty, to. ensure that the case is brought to trial in
g
uii’v‘ prepared@ana:- M = L Al INGUAL,
o 4 Maaned & Vhe iV 5&&&&}}»@& .

3. I make this W)tness Statement from facts W|thm my own knowledge unless
otherwuse stated. Reﬁarences to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to

page numbers of exmblt $ID2 to this statement.

Summary of Claim and Defence and Counterclaim

1A_1215575_1 1



4, The Defendant, Mr Castleton was a Sub-Postmaster at the branch of the Post
Office at | GRO 3} (the Marine Drive
branch) from approximately 18 July 2003 to 23 March 2004. Mr Castleton
accepts that the express terms of his Contract for services included that he would

be strictly responsible for the safe custody of cash and stock, was obliged to make
good all losses caused through his own negligence, carelessness or error and
losses of any kind caused by his assistants and that his responsibility did not cease
when he relinquished his appointment and that he remains obliged to make good
any losses incurred during his term of office which subsequently came to light.

5. Between 18 July 2003 and 25 March 2004, net Ios 858.95 occurred at
the Marine Drive Branch. The Post Office seek repayment of ¢ 5’ e losses together

with interest and costs.

6. Mr Castieton’s case is that any shortfall ié’géntireiy th'e fault of problefhs with the
Horizon computer and accounting _system at Marine Drive branch and that the Post
Office wrongfully terminated hi's:,"
not exceeding £250,000.

nitract in respéétﬂafwhich he has suffered loss

Disclosure

;th mspectlon 7 days thereafter. By consent, the Post

-statement 50N 25 May, 6, 8, 16, 21 June, 14, 25 and 31

5_MWA o

ugust 5 and. 12 September ”*R%Mfﬁ wrote to Mr Castieton’s,

Ry 5N L&iﬁ—\ 7 P i:&,g%%éga*\ S —
icitors, to seek coples of st dlsclosure ;’Copies of the mter partles

July, 3 and "

sol
L‘“ e W I SR

correspondence between Bond Pearce and Rowe Cohen at pages to S Currently
we are awaiting copies of items 1, 2, 58, 62, 76 and 77 from m disclosure list,
being the following:
1. Daily cash declarations for week 41 (2 January 2004) to week 51 (i1
March 2004);

2. Weekly suspense account reports relating to weeks 47 and 49;

1A_1215575_1 2
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Q.

10.

58. Letter to Lee Castleton from National Savings and Investments dated 30
December 2004;

62. Letter to Mr Castleton dated 12 January 2005;

76. Error notice dated 23 May 2004; and

77. Marine Drive Post Office account.

Rowe Cohen’s explanation for failing to provide documents when originally

: v;.rhen Mr Castleton’s

requested is contained in their 11 August letter. Apparent

disclosure list was prepared, some of the documents isted in it were in their

possession, but others were in Mr Castleton’s pqssé sion an’&‘f(‘;here was confusion
) T rfaegl N
as to who had them. In any event, we do reguire copies of the abavgggocunfénts,

Vzv‘deal with thevm in Witness

so that we can assess their relevance and:j

Statements.

Mr Castleton’s solicitors requested"f‘(ﬁnpies [} t Ofﬁce documents on 13 June

and they were sent undercover of a !étter‘iééted 16vv‘vjjune 2006, I should in fairness

Witness Statements

11,

y disclosure, the parties agree to initially extend the deadline of

Given the delay t

Witness Statehents exchanged at 15 September 2006. 1 sent to Court for
approval and sealing a Consent Order dealing with this (and other consequential)
amendments on 25 July 2006. On 23 August 2006, {le wrote to the Court asking
for a sealed copy of the ;Orde,r (page ). On 6 September, we received an
amended copy of the Orde%ﬁon 7 %ﬁptember, e-mailed an amended copy to Mr
Castleton’s solicitors for signaturs? ﬂ the time of making this statement, I haéﬁot

yet received the signed copy to enable me to file it at Court.

1A 12155751 3
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12. In any event, one of the Post Office potential witnesses, Ruth Simpson, who was
the relief sub-postmaster who took over immediately following Mr Castleton’s
suspension, is currentl reccverlng from an operation and has not been available
for ys to meety™ Given that and guven that disclosure has been protracted, it has

A

not been possible to finalise witness statements in the timetable originally

envisaged.

Expert&s}Reparts

13, In-sormmary, M Castietsn s rage 18 that any sﬁ'i FeFall is ntirely the f”z;ultw of

system, it is difficult to understand at this stage '

significant. For example, &g theﬁccountan

Venue

14, Given that the Post Office claim is for £25,858.95 plus interest and costs arsi-titat
,m@m%@mﬁa@m@w@n,ma..aaxz;enhm,xh.e«-&ountea%wchim~whvie»h---eu-rrfeﬂtly
therefore--seems..unlikely. to reach £250,000; I believe that it would be more
appropriate for this case to be tried at the County Court rather than the High

Court. Accordingly, on 24 August 2006 I wrote to Mr Castleton’s solicitors and

1A_1215575_1 4



invited them to agree to the transfer of the claim to the Chancery List in the

Central London County Court, ig}w)é)
i 4
Conclusion

15. In summary, it would be helpful to have a case management conference to review

the timetable and to give further directions to enable the matter to be resolved

cost effectively, or brought to trial in a proportionate and fg!}g» repared manner.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Sianed

DALE oeiicnsvisscroscrrsnimsrsnrinsisinsiriasesns mrie

1A_1215575_1 g
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Filed on behalf of the:
Witness:
Statement:

Exhibits:
Date made:

IMN THE HIGH COURY OF JUSTICE Claim No. HQOSXQ2706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
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- @ -
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Flied on behalf of the: Claimant
B paness:  Helen Rose
Exhibits: "HR2"
Date made: 14/09/06
IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No. HQGSXGQ?{}é
Py
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION '
4"(K'
BETWEEN: .4!
/
A
&
/
POST OFFICE LIMITED Cﬁlmant[ Part 20
g’j Defendant
- angd ~ [,f
LEE CASTLETON /" Defendant/Part
Jf’ 20 Claimant
£
Vi
£
&
fg
f‘
SECOND WITNESS S?ATEMWT OF HELEN ROSE
ff'
;‘
I, HELEN ROSE (nee Hollingworth) of Im@estlgatton Suite,] GRO
GRO | WILL SAY asfoLLows:

1. I am currently an Investigatigns Manager for the Post Office Limited (“the Post
Office”) and have been an Jfivestigations Manager since September 2004. Prior to
that, I was an auditor aifthe Post Office for 5 years since August 1999. I have

worked for the Post Offige for over 9 years since approximately February 1997.

2. I make this Witnads Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless
otherwise statedva have had the benefit of reading through the audit papers.
References to gage numbers in this Witness Statement are to page numbers of

Exhibit "HR240 this Witness Statement.

3. As an Augitor, I was responsible for auditing Post Office Branches. I usually carried
out at feast 1 audit every day, although sometimes it could be closer to 2 or 3
auditg " and on 1 occasion I remember that I did 4 audits. 1 would therefore

rvatively estimate that over the 5 years whilst I was an auditor, I carried out

wéll over 1,400 audits.

4. On 23 March 2004, I attended the branch of the Post Office at | GRO
GRO | (the Marine Drive Branch), together with my

1A_1212111_1 1



10.

colleague Chris Taylor. We arrived at approximately 8.00 a.m. I had not had any
previous involvement with the Marine Drive Branch.

The process of carrying out the audit involves physically counting the cash and
stock at the Marine Drive branch, checking the paperwork such as Giro deposits
and withdrawal receipts, Pensions and Allowances Reports and where appropriate,
declared cash receipts.

Mr Castieton explained that he had been having problems balancing the books and
that those problems had started in the cash account week ending 43 (21 January
2004) with a shortfall of £4,230.97. Mr Castleton was adamant that the
misbalances were due to a computer problem and that no members of his staff
could be committing theft. In my considerable experience as an auditor, I have
never personally come across any computer problem generating cash shortfalls
and Mr Castleton’s explanation sounded completely implausible to me.

The handwritten notes of the audit are at pages 1 to 47 and a typed copy of the
audit is at pages 48 to 64. A copy of the conclusion of my report is at page 65. In
short, I concluded that there were unauthorised losses of £25,758.75. This was a
result of unauthorised losses that had accumulated in the cash account and it had
been transferred to the suspense account for many weeks leading up to the audit.
(For clarification I should confirm that the report is erroneously dated 25 rather
than 23 March 2004. 1 believe that the audit took place on 23 March 2004 and
that this is a typographical error. The report also lists weeks 48 to 43 and their
figures twice and this is also simply a typographical error).

As part of an audit, we have to complete a procedural security inspection. This was
carried out by my colleague Chris Taylor. A typed copy of the procedural and
security inspection is at page 63. The inspection revealed that the safe was left
open, the safe keys were left in the safe door and it was not secured, that cash
and stock were not secured during lunchtime if the Sub-Postmaster was not on the
premises, that Travellers Cheques were not kept in the safe and Foreign Currency
was not held securely, that standard procedures for adjusting losses and gains
were not adhered to (because losses were unauthorised) and personal cheques on

hand had been incorrectly treated.

I do remember that Mr Castleton left the branch at lunchtime and returned in the

afternoon smelling strongly of alcohol.

I did not remove any documents from the Marine Drive branch during the audit. If
there were any documents that are required, 1 always ask the Sub-Postmaster to
print off his spare copy. I understand that one of the live issues in this case is

1A 1212311 1 2
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whether any balance snapshots were removed. A balance snapshot is a report that
contains what the computer believes is the total cash in stock figure. It looks at
the previous weeks’ declared cash in stock and adjusts items as they are sold, so if
someone forgets to enter an item that a customer has purchased, then the balance
snapshot figures will be inaccurate. I certainly do not recall removing any daily
balance snapshots and for the reason I have explained, they would not have been
particularly useful to me.

11. I was not involved with the case any further after completing the audit.

12. At page 65 is a Former Subpostmasters Accounts Statement of Outstanding Debt
as at 11 February 2005. [#elen, do you know how these statements are
generated?] This shows that the outstanding indebtedness (excluding interest)
is £25,858.95. This is slightly different to the figure of £25,758.75 on the audit
because the following error notices (copies attached) that occurred on 23 March
2004 were not issued until after the audit had taken place:

(a) £176 lottery charge error (i.e. an error notice against the
subpostmaster) (pages ); and

(b) £75.80 lottery claim error (i.e. an error notice in favour of the
subpostmaster) (pages ).

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true,

1A_1212111 1 3
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i iled on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant

4 e/ cen oot LA Wines: Eizpets orgn

Date made:

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQDSX02706

QUEENS BEMNCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:-
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
~gnd-
LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
WITHESS STATEMENT OF ELIZABETH MORGAN

I, BLIZABETH MORGAN, of GRO EWILL

SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. I am currently a Rural Support Manager for Post Office Limited (the Post Office) and have held this
position since January 2005, From May 2002 to March/April 2004, I worked as an advisor in the Post
Office Suspense Account team. [ have worked for the Post Office for over 27 years and 15 of those

were as an auditor.

2. I make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.

The Suspense Acgount Team

3. The Suspense Account Team’s role was to determine whether to permit postmasters to temporarily
transfer a shortfall from their cash account to suspense account and to try to reduce across the
business the amounts being transferred by post office branches into suspense account.

4, If a branch incurs unauthorised losses then at the material time (December 2003 to March 2004) they
would have usually called the NBSC helpline and sought permission to transfer the loss into a
suspense account. The NBSC would refer the matter to the Suspense Account team who would call
the subpostmaster back to ascertain whether they could explain the precise reason for the
discrepancy. The subpostmaster might be given permission to transfer the shortfall from the Cash
Account to the Suspense Account where it could legitimately remain for up to 8 weeks provided

either:
(a) they provided a sufficiently detailed and acceptable explanation for the discrepancy;

(b) they submitted a hardship form which showed that they could not afford to make good the

shortfall in the cash account; or
1A_1209662_2 i
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exceptionally, their Retail Line Manager (RL#M) authorised it

&

(c) i
If they obtained permission to transfer the loss into suspense account, they were also given an
authorisation code (being the NBSC call log number) and were supposed to write that number on their

5.

Cash Account

6. There was in fact nothing to prevent the subpostmaster transferring a shortfall in the Cash Account to
the Suspense Account without permission, although they were not supposed to do this

If a subpostmaster transferred a shortfall into the Suspense Account, the shortfall would still show in
any balance snapshot printed after the transfer until after they balanced the following week. This
sometimes caused subpostmasters to at first mistakenly believe that they had not transferred the

7.
shortfall from the Cash Account to the Suspense Account even though they had

My involvement
March 2004 and that he stated he did not know “what was going on” (meaning he did not know why

1 vaguely remember speaking to Mr Castleton on the telephone probably in or around February or

8.
he was incurring losses). %5-5:”@:&.3 LP .
In or around May 2004, I was asked by Catherine Oglesby (who at the time was Mr Castleton’s RLM)
GRO
Given the amount of time that has passed since I examined them, 1

9.
to examine various Cash Accounts she sent to me for

(the Marine Drive branch). Gi
cannot now remember which weeks or what specifically it was in the Cash Accounts that I looked at
However, given that at the time I was used to carrying out this exercise for RLMs, I believe that I
would have reviewed the figures in the Stock, Receipts and Payments in the Cash Accounts. I would
have looked for anything unusual such as at whether particular figures varied significantly from week
i o

to week in the Cash Accounts or whether they were unusual for the type of transaction concerned
do remember @sking my colleague Davlyn Cumberland to assist and that we were unable to find

e“\ .
X
anythind wrong.; I reported this to Catherine Oglesby

facts stated in this witness statement are true

I believe that

/

f"fSignP
GRO

f Date... G R R b Y
/
_ph D Vo C»éfé(z‘ W"‘”B

_1209662_2
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Filed on behalf of the fét ant/Part 20 Defendant

. i é’_’)w Witness: D Cumberland
i‘ AW 6’::,/ - Statement: 1
\ N ¢ Exhibits:
R e Date made:

& ¥
s

TN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQOBX02706

QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:~
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
~@rngi-
LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
WITNESS STATEMENT OF DAVLYN CUMBERLAND

I, DAVLYN CUMBERLAND, of Post office Limiteg GRO IWILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS:

1. 1 am currently an Area Intervention Manager Area for Post Office Limited (the Post Office) and have
held this position since June 2005. From January 2004 I worked on the Network Reinvention
programme carrying out general administration duties. From September 2001 to January 2004, I
worked as an advisor in the Post Office Suspense Account team. [ have worked for the Post Office
since 1990. I make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise
stated.

2. The Suspense Account Team’s role was to determine whether to permit postmasters to temporarily
transfer a shortfall from their cash account to suspense account and to try to reduce across the
business the amounts being transferred by post office branches into suspense account.

3. In or around May 2004, 1 was asked by my colleague Elizabeth Morgan to examine various Cash
Accounts she had received from Catherine Oglesby (who at the time [ am informed was Mr Castleton’s
Retain Line Manager RLM) for; GRO (the Marine Drive
branch). Given that 2 and a half years have passed since I examined them, I cannot now remember
what exactly it was in the Cash Accounts or which weeks that I looked at, However, at the time I was

used to carrying out this exercise for RLMs, so I believe that I would have reviewed the figures in the
Stock, Receipts and Payments in the Cash Accounts and looked for anything unusual such as at
whether particular figures varied significantly from week to week, or whether they were unusual for
the type of transaction concemed I do remember that we were unable to find anythmg»,wrong and
. Elizabeth Morgan would have reported this to Catherine Oglesby 1 was not-invoived anv i rther.

S Y w{/ xS "‘}(‘{Mai@w& . i

\ L@ W/ﬁ{:’ *@:‘“‘g i?w (Cf‘» Lo & 5’;
f o 5 S C%%mi
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I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Signed,

~ GRO

DAL oo ecssinsiee oot s s s demttn e e s
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J Filed o behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
. Witness: G J Booth
3 Statement: 1
Exhibits:
Date made:
IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQOSX027086

QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:-
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
~@ng-
LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
WITNESS STATEMENT OF GREGORY JOHN BOOTH

I, GREGORY JOHN BOOTH, of GRO WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:
1. I am currently the Manager of the Newby Post Office branch,; GRO i1 have

O ¢ FTEWEREY

worked at Newby branch for 1 year (the first 6 months as-temporary Manager, the last 6 months as
sermanent Manager). 1 have worked in Post Office branches for the past 8 years. 1 was
subpostmaster of Edgehill branch from October 1998 to September 2003. I was temporary
subpostmaster for Southcliff;@’ branch from September 2003 to February 2004. Before working in Post

ga e fudting
Office branches, I was an accountanz{in audit for Coopers and Lybrand (as PriceWaterhouseCoopers

was then known).

2. I make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.
References to page numbers in this Witness statement are to page numbers of Exhibit "GB1"” to this

Witness Statement.

3. From 21 April 2004 to 28 May 2004 (just over 5 weeks) I was the temporary subpostmaster at 14
GRO i(the Marine Drive branch). I was asked by Catherine

Oglesby, then the Retail Line Manager, to be the new temporary subpostmaster because Ruth
Simpson, who was the temporary subpostmaster before me, could not continue in the position any
longer due to other commitments she had.

Assistant

4. Subposmasters decide whether they need to employ an assistant. I employed Joan Train as my part
time assistant whilst I was the temporary subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch. Joan Train
worked 2 or 3 days per week. As far as I was aware, she had not previously worked at the Marine

drive branch, but had just left another branch in Bridlington on Quay Road.

5. Joan Train was coincidentally the mother in law of Mr Castleton’s assistant Christine Train. Christine

Train had been employed by Mr Castleton to work behind the counter whilst he was subpostmaster,
1A_1207764_1 i
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but whilst I was there, she worked in the shop rather than behind the Post Office counter. Mr
Castleton also worked in the shopg}ommmm‘«e&&eﬂmvwk&am.-wm%e&*4behinﬂ‘-=ﬁse%‘%h«erwbehMxﬁhe
Rast Office. counter-er-shop willst Mr Castleton was subipustifigster put-whiv was-net-kept 8 dfterte

wassUspénded. [whatsnakes WMM@W&‘ Pt

two computers are pooled into one shared stock and cash account. During Joan Train's days off, zfi
would log on to both computer terminals and serve customers from both of them. This enabled me
to.. [yiease THEEFE Fsgson for ursmg both fermmais] 4 . 9&@ & %‘f*} ?“‘*g Fascsd

Cash accounts

7.

The Cash accounts for the period when I worked as a subpostmaster are at pages [ ]. In summary,
they show that:

(a) Cash Account week 5, week ended 28 April 2004 surplus of £14.26

(b) Cash Account week 6, week ended 5 May 2004, surplus £103.11 (I will explain the reason for this
below)

(c) Cash Account week [ ], week ended [ ], £

etc

Suspense account

10.

Mr Castleton informed me that he thought that that wfyl,st he was subpostmaster, the suspense
account had been “doubling up” the losses. He said that he had transferred the shortfalkm his
cash account into the suspense account, altheugh-the-amount was showing in the suspense lint,
it was-alse-still-shewing as a loss-if-the cash account again the next waek, s &

F % &
4, sé’?fb-éi}

i

Catherine Oglesby contacted me around 5 May 2004 and told me that Mr Castleton had also spoken to
her about the suspense account and she wanted to test whether it was in fact doubling up the losses.
I told her that I was a few pounds over so far that week. Ms Oglesby asked me to print an office
snapshot (pages ) which shows that the cash was £41,777.87. She then asked me to transfer £100
into the shortages line on the suspense account which I did and then to print a second snapshot
{pages ) and a suspense account report (pages ). The £100 was in the correct place and the cash
figure had reduced by £100 to £41,665.53 (in fact, it had reduced slightly more than this due to an
unrelated transaction(s) performed before the snapshot was printed). This appeared to show that the

system was working correctly,

Ms Oglesby asked me to balance with those amounts still in the account as I should balance £100
over. She said she would then call me a few days later and ask me to transfer the £100 out off the
suspense account, to see if the opposite occurred. 1 balanced later that day and left Ms Oglesby a
message on her telephone to confirm that I had balanced £100 over, as expected.

1A_1207764_1 2



POL00071231
POL00071231

11. On 7 May 2004 Ms Oglesby visited me at the Marine Drive branch. She asked me to firstly print an
office snapshot (pages ), then to remove the £100 from the suspense account which 1 did, then to
print a second snapshot (pages ) and a suspense account report (pages ). Again the cash figure in
the snapshot had changed by £100 which suggested that the system worked correctly.

The two computers

12. 1 have been asked to confirm whether 1 experienced certain problems with the Horizon computer

terminals whilst I was the temporary subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch. Given-thak-it-has
eer ). years..ago. singe-i-werked-there; -this-ts-diffieult-to-reealt;bat 14
g@@%"g‘%ﬁﬁmﬁ‘ being-amyékittg other than the usua@?ﬁﬁéof the mill problems you tend to experience with computers

% remember there ».2.2 &

from time to time. In particular:

(a) 1 did not come across instances where the 2 computer terminals did not appear to
communicate with each other,

(b) I cannot recall whether the touch sensitive computer screen ever froze. This is not an

uncommon problem, but if it occurs, you can still use the keyboard to input information. ?éas%s’?

. ?& sp¥ad f Lagde. 5} s gm,»fi&& SE. @»é %
(c) 1 cannot remember there bemggoccasmns wghen the screen went blank.
|
(d) 1 cannot recall the card swipe machine being particularly defectwe, although this is can be a

fairly common occurrence in any branch. [why would it ha/gp‘en, would it be because the

magnetic strip on the card was old, dirty or scmx‘ched?] If the card swipe n ine
failed to read the card, it would not misread and record erroneous information, rather it would
simply not read any information at all. If this happens, you can re-swipe the card or just type
in the card number instead.

-
i é‘i&
(e) M@M&a@au the -'Ovemxght Cash Holdmg Figures doubling up. [£¢ you think you would

gy

have remembered something like this if it happened?]

S gt

ber transagtlons being entered on the system and being lost. Do you think

Q) ! .
you would have remembered something fike this if it happenedg]
L0 g Sy .fv;t‘
13. I have been asked whether any of the computer equipment was changed whilst I was at the Marine
Drive branch. I certainly do not remember any being changed at the time and do not believe that it

was.

Car auction deposits
Tewa g wiadf
14. There was one thing at the Marine Drive branch that struck me as being highly | at the time. A
car auction in Bridlington would usually deposit around £15,000 to £20,000 in cash each week in one
or two tranches. It was by far the largest amount that the Marine Drive branch would receive in cash
deposits each week. The cash would usually be left with Mr Castleton in the shop early in the morning

before the Post Office counter opened. It was left in a bag or boxes and there was no covering note
1A_1207764_1 3
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stating how much cash there was: it was simply left to the Marine Drive branch to count and to pay
into the customer’s girobank account. The paying in book was kept permanently behind the Post
Office counter whereas it should have been retained by the customer. Not wanting to upset the
relationship with the customer, I did not raise my concerns about this with them or with Mr Castleton.

§ e wat s ol

[&¥d you ever meetl the customer?] -

29 May 2004 onwards

15. 1 was unable to continue as temporary subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch beyond 28 May
2004 because I had prior relief work booked. After I left, Dorothy Day took over as subpostmaster
and worked at the branch with her husband.

16. In around late September 2004, Mr Oglesby contacted me to ask me if I would act as relief
subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch again presumably because at the time, it was thought that
Dorothy Day was not going to continue in the role. She sent to me the contract papers. After
speaking to Ms Oglesby I received 2 or 3 telephone calls from Mr Castleton. He explained that he did
not want me to go back to the Marine Drive branch because he wanted to keep Dorothy Day as the
customers had become used to her. He said he would make it difficult and very expensive for me if I

m‘ PTGy

went back& r ol kb 2k sy

17. The barrister of Mr Castleton’s father in law Allan then telephoned me to say that the business was
being purchased by Allan’s pension fund and it was therefore his duty to ensure a proper rate of
return which in his opinion would require rent for the Marine Drive branch of £1,250 per month. That
would make it uneconomic to run. Given that and the problems Mr Castleton said would crop up if I
returned, I decided to decline Ms Oglesby’s offer. She asked me to confirm this in writing to her
which I did on 3 October 2004 (page ). g{@ I o Powt 4 finat / o b,

18. I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Signed_
GRO

[ 2= ) T SRR
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med on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: G J Booth

£ o Statement: 1
= Ai o \"2 ! %(/ L, Exhibits:
C g i Date made:
IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE i Clalm No: HQOBX02706

QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:~
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
~gnd~
LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
WITNESS STATEMENT OF GREGORY JOHN BOOTH

1, GREGORY JOHN BOOTH, of| GRO WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:
1. I am currently the Manager of the Newby Post Office branch, i GRO ! T have

worked at Newby branch for 1 year (the first 6 months as temporary Manager, the last 6 months as
permanent Manager). [ have worked in Post Office branches for the past 8 vears. 1 was
subpostmaster of Edgehill branch from October 1998 to September 2003. [ was temporary
subpostmaster for Southcliffe branch from September 2003 to February 2004. Before working in Post
Office branches, I was an accountant in audit for Coopers and Lybrand (as PriceWaterhouseCoopers

was then known).

2. I make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.
References to page numbers in this Witness statement are to page numbers of Exhibit “"GB1” to this

Witness Statement.

GRO (the Marine Drive branch). I was asked by Catherlne

Oglesby, then the Retail Line Manager, to be the new temporary subpostmaster because Ruth
Simpson, who was the temporary subpostmaster before me, could not continue in the position any
longer due to other commitments she had.

Assistant

4. Subposmasters decide whether they need to employ an assistant. I employed Joan Train as my part
time assistant whilst I was the temporary subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch. Joan Train
worked 2 or 3 days per week. As far as I was aware, she had not previously worked at the Marine
drive branch, but had just left another branch in Bridlington on Quay Road.

5. Joan Train was coincidentally the mother in law of Mr Castleton’s assistant Christine Train. Christine

Train had been employed by Mr Castleton to work behind the counter whilst he was subpostmaster,
1A_1207764_1 1



POL00071231
POL00071231

but whilst I was there, she worked in the shop rather than behind the Post Office counter. Mr
Castleton also worked in the shop. I think someone else may have worked lpﬁw@either behind the
Post Office counter or shop whilst Mr Castleton was subpostmaster but who was not kept on after he
was suspended. [what makes you think this?]

6. Whilst Joan Train was working and serving customers we would each use a separate computer
terminal. At the Marine Drive branch they are a shared stock unit so all the transactions done on the
two computers are pooled into one shared stock and cash account. During Joan Train’s days off, 1
would log on to both computer terminals and serve customers from both of them. This enabled me
to...[please insert reason for using both terminals]

Cash accounts

7. The Cash accounts for the period when I worked as a subpostmaster are at pages [ ]. In summary,

they show that:

(a) Cash Account week 5, week ended 28 April 2004 surplus of £14.26

(b) Cash Account week 6, week ended 5 May 2004, surplus £103.11 (I will explain the reason for this
below)

(c) Cash Account week [ ], week ended [ ], £

etc

A €
Qe 1\‘?‘?“\%1

Suspense account }\'7 X ytia : 0 uk
PRI T ¢
- ‘\'t ¥ et Vi\}

@ oy o

8. \Mr Cast:itonbormed me that he thought that that whilst he was subpostmaster, the suspense
account had been “doubling up” the iosses. He said that when he had transferred the shortfall in his
cash account into the suspense account, although the amount was showing in the suspense account,
it was also still showing as a loss in the cash account again the next week.

9. Catherine Oglesby contacted me around 5 May 2004 and told me that Mr Castleton had also spoken to
her about the suspense account and she wanted to test whether it was in fact doubling up the losses.
I told her that I was a few pounds over so far that week. Ms Oglesby asked me to print an office
snapshot (pages ) which shows that the cash was £41,777.87. She then asked me to transfer £100
into the shortages line on the suspense account which I did and then to print a second snapshot
(pages ) and a suspense account report (pages ). The £100 was in the correct place and the cash
figure had reduced by £100 to £41,665.53 (in fact, it had reduced slightly more than this due to an
unrelated transaction(s) performed before the snapshot was printed). This appeared to show that the

system was working correctly.

10. Ms Oglesby asked me to balance with those amounts still in the account as I should balance £100
over. She said she would then call me a few days later and ask me to transfer the £100 out off the
suspense account, to see if the opposite occurred. 1 balanced later that day and left Ms Oglesby a
message on her telephone to confirm that I had balanced £100 over, as expected.

1A_1207764_1 2
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11. On 7 May 2004 Ms Oglesby visited me at the Marine Drive branch. She asked me to firstly print an
office snapshot (pages ), then to remove the £100 from the suspense account which I did, then to
print a second snapshot (pages ) and a suspense account report (pages ). Again the cash figure in
the snapshot had changed by £100 which suggested that the system worked correctly.

The two computers

12. 1 have been asked to confirm whether I experienced certain problems with the Horizon computer
terminals whilst I was the temporary subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch. Given that it has
been over 2 years ago since I worked there, this is difficult to recall, but I do not remember there
being anything other than the usual run of the mill problems you tend to experience with computers
from time to time. In particular:

(a) I did not come across instances where the 2 computer terminals did not appear to
communicate with each other.

(b) I cannot recall whether the touch sensitive computer screen ever froze. This is not an
uncommeon problem, but if it occurs, you can still use the keyboard to input information.

(c) 1 cannot remember there being occasions when the screen went blank.

(d) 1 cannot recall the card swipe machine being particularly defective, although this%’can be a
fairly common occurrence in any branch. [why would it happen, would it be because the
magnetic sirip on the card was old, dirty or scratched?]. If the card swipe machine
failed to read the card, it would not misread and record erroneous information, rather it would
simply not read any information at all. If this happens, you can re-swipe the card or just type

in the card number instead.

(e) I do not recall the Overnight Cash Holding Figures doubling up. [£¢ you think you would
have remembered something fike this if it happened?]

) I do not remember transactions being entered on the system and being lost. Do you think
vou would have remembered something like this if it happened?]

13. I have been asked whether any of the computer equipment was changed whilst I was at the Marine
Drive branch. 1 certainly do not remember any being changed at the time and do not believe that it

was.

Car auction deposits

14. There was one thing at the Marine Drive branch that struck me as being highly unusual at the time. A
car auction in Bridlington would usually deposit around £15,000 to £20,000 in cash each week in one
or two tranches. It was by far the largest amount that the Marine Drive branch would receive in cash
deposits each week. The cash would usually be left with Mr Castleton in the shop early in the morning

before the Post Office counter opened. It was left in a bag or boxes and there was no covering note
1A_1207764_1 3
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stating how much cash there was: it was simply left to the Marine Drive branch to count and to pay
into the customer’s girobank account. The paying in book was kept permanently behind the Post
Office counter whereas it should have been retained by the customer. Not wanting to upset the
relationship with the customer, I did not raise my concerns about this with them or with Mr Castleton.
[Did you ever meet the customer?)

29 May 2004 onwards

15. I was unable to continue as temporary subpostmaster at the Marine Drive branch beyond 28 May
2004 because I had prior relief work booked, After I left, Dorothy Day took over as subpostmaster
and worked at the branch with her husband.

16. In around late September 2004, Mf?Og!esby contacted me to ask me if I would act as relief
subpostmaster at the Marine Drive brdnch again presumably because at the time, it was thought that
Dorothy Day was not going to continue in the role. She sent to me the contract papers. After
speaking to Ms Oglesby I received 2 or 3 telephone calls from Mr Castleton. He explained that he did
not want me to go back to the Marine Drive branch because he wanted to keep Dorothy Day as the
customers had become used to her. He said he would make it difficult and very expensive for me if I
went back and that something might happen to my car. He was threatening.

17. The barrister of Mr Castleton’s father in law Allan then telephoned me to say that the business was
being purchased by Allan’s pension fund and it was therefore his duty to ensure a proper rate of
return which in his opinion would require rent for the Marine Drive branch of £1,250 per month. That
would make it uneconomic to run. Given that and the problems Mr Castleton said would crop up if I
returned, 1 decided to decline Ms Oglesby’s offer. She asked me to confirm this in writing to her
which I did on 3 October 2004 (page ).

18. I believe that the facts stated in this withess statement are true.

SIGNEA ...cvecrisnmsn e iersnm s
GREGORY JOHN BOOTH

DAt ..o iirriitmiicmiieniin vt ves s s
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i
WITNESS STATEMENT OF MICHAEL JOHNSON

I, MICHAEL JOHNSON, of GRO '@VILL BAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. I am employed by Post Office Limited (the Post g&‘:fﬁce) as a Postal Officer in the Lottery Exceptions
Team. I have worked for the Post Office for 3.7 years and in this particular team for the past 12
years. My role includes recovering money for_ﬁﬁéxe Post Office in relation to lottery errors.

2. 1 make this Witness Statement from ;}écts within my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.
References to page numbers in this Wlﬁ’ﬁess statement are to page numbers of Exhibit "MJ1” to this

&

Witness Statement. f—:"

£
&

3. 1do not believe that I was involved with the branch at | GRO
s

(the Marine Drive branch) orf’this matter at the material time (December 2003 to April 2004). 1

have been asked simply to prgﬁiide an overview for the benefit of the Court of what happened at the

material time when a Post O((ﬁﬁce customer buys a National Lottery ticket.

£

4. I am informed that theff@?ational Lottery terminal at the Marine Drive branch is in the shop on the
premises as opposed tg behind the Post Office counter. Basically, the customer would choose their
t which lottery draws they wished to enter and pay the shop clerk for their

lottery numbers, seled
lottery ticket, which dvould be printed by the lottery terminal.

5. Each lottery ters si‘nal has its own unique retailer number. Every time a ticket is sold, the details of
the transaction‘at that terminal are automatically downloaded to Camelot within, I am informed, 7

seconds of the transaction taking place.

6. After close of business each day, the branch should print out two summaries from the lottery terminal
of ali transactions done at that terminal: one is an on-line summary; the other is an instant summary.
(The post office branch should keep these for 2 years). The summaries show what the lottery receipts

were and any prize money paid out that day. The time and date of the printout is included on the
1A_1209645_2 1



POL00071231
POL00071231

summaries. In relation to lottery scratchcard packs that are activated on the lottery terminal, a pink
activation slip is produced each time a pack is activated. These slips should also be retained by the
post office branch for 2 years. Each pack that is activated should be remmed in i.e. recorded by the
subpostmaster or their assistant on to their computer, the same day as the activation. Where
premises have a Post Office counter within a shop, (and I am informed that the Marine Drive branch
does have a shop), the shop will often stay open later than the Post Office counter. In that case, the
shop will continue selling lottery tickets after the Post Office counter has closed and consequently, the
subpostmaster will use the shop till receipts to simply input the details of the lottery transactions into
their Horizon computer terminal the next day before open of business.

7. At the end of the cash account week, the value of all the lottery transactions done through the lottery
terminal should agree with the totals shown in the weekly cash account that the subpostmaster
completes, signs and sends to Chesterfield. These weekly cash accounts must include all transactions
done outside of post office hours, in other words, Thursday morning through to the following
Wednesday evening.

8. Camelot electronically send a daily text file to the Post Office, Chesterfield, which contains details of
the transactions for every retailer number. Each week those figures are totalled and were at the
material time posted automatically by the Post Office into the Counters Business Database. This
information is automatically compared to the information received on the Horizon system from each

branch to see whether there are any discrepancies between the two,

9. If there was a discrepancy, the computer would have details of the branch code, the week, year, the
type of product (i.e. in this case, lottery) and whether it is a claim error (m the branch’s favour) or a
charge error (against the branch). wg{»ém gig E_g, el b A V&
4 m& o floar 2k A Q@&MWM
10. The Lottery Exceptions Team would usually then try to call the branch before issuing an error notice, .{
particularly if there were several discrepancies or a discrepancy for a significant amount, to try to Mw
understand whether there is an explanation that could explain the discrepancy. An error notice is a
formal notification to a branch advising of a mistake made and giving instructions on how to rectify
the situation in their accounts. The error notice is sent to the branch in question and the postmaster
is required to bring the error to account before the end of the next cash account period.

11. I have been shown a spreadsheet for the Marine Drive branch which shows that there were 16 errors
brought to account for 2003 to 2004 (page 1). 10 of these were for lottery error notices as follows:
2
(a) 3 ;,ef“i:br notices dated 7 QOctober 2003 which were for £271, £731 and £160 charge errors

/4.-"“5’gainst the subpostrmaster in respect of discrepancies that occurred in cash account weeks 19,
21 and 22 respectively The schedule shows that errors were all brought to account on 15
October 2003. (}‘Brought to account” is when the subpostmaster is sent an error notnce an}g
) {“em:eps»%hede’talls into his Cash Account).

(b) Error notice dated 7 October 2003 which was for a £160 claim error in favour of the
subpostmaster in respect of a discrepancy that occurred in the cash account week 20. The
schedule shows that error was brought to account on 15 October 2003.

14_1208648 2 b
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. ¢
(c) 2 error notices dated 8 October 2006 ywhich were for £227 and £628 claim errors in favour of
the subpostmaster in respect of discrépancies that occurred in cash account weeks 19 and 21
<

respectively. The schedule shows that errors were brought to account on 15 October 2005,

(d) 3 errors notice dated 16 January 2004 which were for £360, £520 and £534 charge errors

against the subpostmaster in respect of a discrepancies that occurred in cash account weeks
34, 24 and 25 respectively. The schedule shows that errors were brought to account on 21
January 2004.

(e) Error notice dated 16 January 2004 which was for a £65 claim error in favour the
subpostmaster in respect of a discrepancy that occurred in the cash account week 25. The
schedule shows that error was brought to account on 21 January 2004.

12. At pages 2 and 3 are details of a lottery error that occurred on 23 March 2004 for £176 that has not

been repaid. 6:‘({32{;{% J\ﬁ/\:) ’Z_j} N Ty

13. I am informed that Mr Castleton contends that his Horizon computer terminals may not have recorded

or accurately recorded all the information inputted into them. If that was the case for the lottery,

then:

(a) the subpostmaster would have been able to see at the time that he prepared his weekly cash
account that the lottery information contained in it did not match the summary printed from

the lottery terminal; and
(b) when the text file sent by Camelot to the Post Office, Chesterfield was compared against the

information from Horizon, the two would not have matched and I would have expected to see
a significantly greater volume of lottery error notices generated for the Marine Drive branch.

1 believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true,

SIGNEA .t iy v

DAL .oviiivvi et snscornns v sins e oo
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF GILLIAN HOYLAND

I, GILLIAN HOYLAND, of GRO WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1.

I am employed by Post Office Limited (the Post Office) as a Postal Officer in the Cheques to
Processing Team. I have worked for the Post Office for 25 vears and in this particular team for the
past 7 years. My role includes recovering money for the Post Office in relation to unprocessed

cheques.

1 make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.
References to page numbers in this Witness statement are to page numbers of Exhibit “GH1” to this

Witness Statement.

I wwasdo not_believe that I was involved with the Marine Drive branch or this matter at the material
time (December 2003 to April 2004). I have been asked simply to provide an overview for the benefit
of the Court of what happened at the material time when a Post Office customer paid for a product or

service by cheque.

Basically, at the counter the customer would purchase whatever product(s) or service(s) they
required, write out a cheque for the appropriate amount and give it to the counter clerk. The counter
clerk would input the details of the transaction (including that it had been paid by cheque) on to their
computer terminal. They would then supply whatever product(s) and/or services(s) were required
and retain the cheque, manually recording what product(s) or service(s) had been supplied on the
back (such as a TV licence).

At the end of each day, the subpostmaster would print out a cheque listing report from their computer
which lists the quantity and amount of each cheque received that day. They would then manually

complete a Batch Control Voucher (BCYW)-¢

the_branches are issued with are barcoded under the thick black line with their unigue

sigtelv biank BCY is 2t nace 3
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office FADR code. The BCV states the number of cheques received that day and their total value. It
also contains the date stamp, the branch’s unique FAD code and address.

6. The branch would then retain their cheque listing report (which ought to be kept for 2 years) and at
the material time, send the BCV and cheques to Data Central in London where the BCV and cheques
were loaded on to a conveyor belt and automatically counted by machine. (The processing function
performed by Data Central was outsourced to the EDS Processing Centre, Shepshed, Leicestershire at
about the end March 2004 and Data Central no longer exists). The processed cheques would in due
course be sent to the clearing banks.

7. If the information contained in the BCV either:

(a) did not match the cheques, there was an “unbalanced match”; or

(b) matched the cheques, but the information the counter clerk inputted into Horizon does not
match this, there is a “balanced match”

*that-Bata-Central's-procedure-was-te¥s

send a standard form to the branch to complete settmg out their datly and/or weekly figures for the

cheques they had received. The form would contain the date, amount of the cheque and number of

cheques of that amount. An example of WLW form_gurrently in use is at page ®
RV JEF Ty i ort-of-format2.

details of the branch, amount of error, BCV date, number of cheques claimed, amount claimed,
number of cheques received, amount received and any explanation and would send the form to the

1A_1207763_2 3
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12. 49 The cheques to processing team would usually then try to call the branch in question and ask for
all the branches work the day before the BCV, the day of the BCV and the day after the BCV. If the
branch did not reply to the call, we would follow this up by letter. We would review the paperwork
received and either:

(a) If the paper work supplied by the branch supported the quantity and value of cheques
received, we would contact the customer and seek a replacement cheque;

(b) If, for example, the same cheque had been double counted by the branch, we would issue a
transaction correction i.e. an error notice; or

(c) If the evidence was inconclusive, the Post Office would write off the shortfall.

and/or cheques. with a lower value to be processed by Data Central, than they h
an.the Horizon compuler sysiem.

14.%3%+1 have been shown a spreadsheet for the Marine Drive branch which shows that for 2043 o

WMP&MLLLV&S cancelled (Qagg ) Only 2 of these were cheque error notices, as

follows:

(a) Error notice dated 31 October 2003 which was for £56.94 charge against the subpostmaster in
respect of a discrepancy that occurred in the cash account week 13 August 2003. The
schedule shows that error was brought to account on 12 November 2003. (“Brought to
account” is when the subpostmaster is sent an error notice and enters the details into his
Cash Account. As it can take a while for an error notice to be generated, the subpostmaster
may not enter the error details into the Cash Account until many weeks after the error

occurred).

(b) Error notice dated 12 February 2004 which was for £862.32 charge against the subpostmaster
in respect of a discrepancy that occurred in the cash account week 17 September 2003. The
schedule shows that error was brought to account on 25 February 2004,

recorded all the information inputted into it. If that was the case for cheques, then:

(a) the subpostmaster would have been able to see at the time that the daily cheque listing report
did not match the actual number and value of cheques they had received; and

(b) when the cheques and BCVs were processed by Data Central, this would not have matched

the information contained in Horizon and I would have expected to see a significant volume of
1A,.1207763_2 4
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error notices generated for the Marine Drive branch. There were in fact no error notices
generated at all for the cash account period January to March 2004 when I am informed that
the losses occurred at the branch.

3] believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Signe

BT 1 PSRRI

1A_1207763_2 5
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: G Hoyland

Statement: 1

Exhibits: GH1

Date made: 14/88/2008

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE
Claim No: HQOSX02706

GQUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEM:-
POST OFFICE LIMITED
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~and-

LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant

WITNESS STATEMENT OF GILLIAN HOYLAND

Bond Pearce LLP
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Solicitors for the Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: G Hoyland

Statement: 1

Exhibits: GHX

Date made: 14/88/23006

IN THE HIGH COURY OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQUSX02706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:-
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant

-and-

LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: G Hoyland

Statement: 1
%w% (/ CE ( C:}é Exhibits:
Date made:

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQOSX02708

QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:~
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
~angd-
LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
WITMNESS STATEMENT OF GILLIAN HOYLAND
1 s"/f
I, GILLIAN HOYLAND, ofE GRO ; WILL SAY A??:OLLOWS:

i. I am employed by Post Office Limited (the Post Office) aﬁ a Postal Officer in the Cheques to
Processing Team. I have worked for the Post Office for 25 years and in this particular team for the
past 7 years. My role includes recovering money faor’ the Post Office in relation to unprocessed

.

cheques.

2. 1 make this Witness Statement from fact_s:-""i/vithin my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.
References to page numbers in this Witngzﬁé statement are to page numbers of Exhibit "GH1"” to this

o

Witness Statement.

«‘)

Qlw A el e ‘(’f\wm{,«f .‘_\_ﬁ"

3. I was neg involved with the Marm@ Drive branch or this matter at the material time (December 2003
to April 2004). I have been as’&;ed simply to provide an overview for the benefit of the Court of what
happened at the material tum’e when a Post Office customer paid for a product or service by cheque.

7
&

4. Basically, at the cou;rér the customer would purchase whatever product(s) or service(s) they
required, write out a/cheque for the appropriate amount and give it to the counter clerk., The counter
clerk would mput s:he details of the transaction (including that it had been paid by cheque) on to their
computer termmal They would then supply whatever product(s) and/or services(s) were required
and retain thgf cheque, manually recording what product(s) or service(s) had been supplied on the
back (such, és a TV licence).

/
5. Atthe é/nd of each day, the subpostmaster would print out a cheque listing report from their computer
which lists the quantity and amount of each cheque received that day. They would then manually
complete a Batch Control Voucher (BLY) (page 1) [Please can you send me a copy of a blank
BCV as an example?]. The BCV states the number of cheques received that day and their total

value. It also contains the date stamp, the branch’s unique FAD code and address.

1A_1207763_1 1



POL00071231
POL00071231

6. The branch would then retain their cheque listing report (which ought to be kept for 2 years) and at
the material time, send the BCV and cheques to Data Central in London where the BCV and cheques
were loaded on to a conveyor belt and automatically counted by machine. (The processing function
performed by Data Central was outsourced to the EDS Processing Centre, Shepshed, Leicestershire at
about the end March 2004 and Data Central no longer exists). The processed cheques would in due
course be sent to the clearing banks.

7. If the information contained in the BCV either:
(a) did not match the cheques, there was an “unbalanced match”; or

(b) matched the cheques, but the information the counter clerk inputted into Horizon does not
match this, there is a “balanced match”

8. In those circumstances, I understand that Data Central’s procedure was to:

(a) check that the machine had correctly scanned the cheques i.e the words (for example, ten
pounds) and figures (for example, £10) on the cheques matched each other; and

(b) send a standard form to the branch to complete setting out their daily and/or weekly figures
for the cheques they had received. The form would contain the date, amount of the cheque
and number of cheques of that amount. An example of such a form is at page 2 [Please can
you let me have an example of this sort of form?].

9. If the completed form matched the processed cheques, but not the BCV or the information on
Horizon, Data Central would then complete a form setting out details of the branch, amount of error,
BCV date, number of cheques claimed, amount claimed, number of cheques received, amount
received and any explanation and would send the form to the Cheques to Processing team to deal
with from that point onwards. An example of such a form is at page 3. Please can you fet me
have an example of this sort of form?

10. The cheques to processing team would usually then try to call the branch in question and ask for all
the branches work the day before the BCV, the day of the BCV and the day after the BCV, If the
branch did not reply to the call, we would follow this up by letter. We would review the paperwork

received and either:

(a) If the paper work supplied by the branch supported the quantity and value of cheques
received, we would contact the customer and seek a replacement cheque;

(b) If the same cheque had been double counted by the branch, we would issue a transaction

correction i.e. an error notice; or
(c) If the evidence was inconclusive, the Post Office would write off the shortfall.

11. I have been shown a spreadsheet for the Marine Drive branch which shows that there were 22 errors

brought to account for 2003 to 2004 (page 3). Only 2 of these were cheque error notices as follows:
1A,.1207763.1 2
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(a) Error notice dated 31 October 2003 which was for £56.94 charge against the subpostmaster in
respect of a discrepancy that occurred in the cash account week 13 August 2003. The
schedule shows that error was brought to account on 12 November 2003. (“Brought to
account” is when the subpostmaster is sent an error notice and enters the details into his
Cash Account. As it can take a while for an error notice to be generated, the subpostmaster
may not enter the error details into the Cash Account until many weeks after the error

occurred).

(b) Error notice dated 12 February 2004 which was for £862.32 charge against the subpostmaster
in respect of a discrepancy that occurred in the cash account week 17 September 2003. The
schedule shows that error was brought to account on 25 February 2004.

12. 1 am informed that Mr Castleton contends that his computer may not have recorded or accurately
recorded all the information inputted into it. If that was the case for cheques, then:

(a) the subpostmaster would have been able to see at the time that the daily cheque listing report
did not match the actual number and value of cheques they had received; and

(b) when the cheques and BCVs were processed by Data Central, this would not have matched
the information contained in Horizon and I would have expected to see a significant volume of
error notices generated for the Marine Drive branch. There were in fact no error notices
generated at all for the cash account period January to March 2004 when I am informed that
the losses occurred at the branch.

13. I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

SIGNEd oo
GILLIAN HOYLAND

B

DALE... oo s s

1A_1207763_1 3
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Fited on hehalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: G Hoyland

Staterment: 1

Exhibits:

Date made:

IM THE HIGH COURT OF JUBTICE
Claim No: HQOEXO2706

QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant

~arid-

LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant

WITNESS STATEMENT OF GILLIAN HOYLAND

Bond Pearce LLP

GRO

Ref., 53D3/348035.134
Tl GRO

Solicitors for the Claimant/ Part 20 Defendant
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: G Hoyland
Statement: 1
Exhibits:
Date made:
IN THE HIGH COURY OF JUSTICE Clalm No: HQUSX02706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:-

POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
@y~

LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant

This is the exhibit gh1 referred to in the Witness Statement of Gillian Hoyland dated
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j&y 1914 @Q Ca y W Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant

Witness: K A Crawley
Statement: 1

e B - 9 . N Exhibits:

(»;f&‘} < ﬁ l/ C.}i{ (:ff’\ ot 2/2’ 'd %/‘W{ . Date made:

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQOSX02706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:-
POST OFFICE LIMITED e
Claiphant/Part 20 Defendant
~and- £
LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant
/
£
y
WITNESS STATEMENT OF KENNETH ALYAN CRAWLEY
/
&
£
/!A[
I, KENNETH ALLAN CRAWLEY, of | GRO 'WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

£
1. I am employed by Post Office Limited (the Pasi&,«ﬁfﬁce) as a Postal Officer in the Current Agent Debt

&
Team. I have worked for the Post Office for Z}}S years and in this particular team for the past 3 years.
My role includes dealing with cases remainiﬁb from the Pensions and Allowances work carried out for

the {now) Department of Work and Pensig;évs,

f(
¢

2. I make this Witness Statement fr)?t‘x;z facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise stated.
References to page numbers in Thi;;’Witness statement are to page numbers of Exhibit “KACL1” to this

Wutness tatement 4

W&b ke prlyae s Aleer L P

Y V{as n@t involved with the Ménne Drive branch or this matter at the material time (December 2003
to Apnl 2004). I have beery asked simply to provide an overview for the benefit of the Court of what

happened at the material fime when a Post Office customer collected their pension and/or allowance.
/

4. Basically, the customgr would present their pension & allowance book to the counter clerk at the
branch. The countef clerk would input the details of the transaction on to their computer terminal.
They would then tgzar out the counterfoil from the book, stamp the book and stamp the counterfoil.
The stamp conta!fis the branch name and date and often a letter or symbol which would identify the
counter clerk whi) did the transaction. The counter clerk would then pay out the amount in cash to

the customer gnd retain the counterfoil as proof of payment.

5. At the end of each day, the subpostmaster wouid, at their discretion, print from their computer a daily
summary. This is not a procedural requirement but was a facility available to postmasters so they
could check their pensions and allowances on a daily basis (or other timescale of their choice) if they
so preferred. This would contain a summary of the amount of money that had been paid out to
customers by that branch that day for their pensions and allowances. The subpostmaster would check
the summary against the counterfoils to ensure they matched. A copy of the daily summary, if

printed, was retained in the office. I am informed that Mr Castleton contends that his computer may
14_1209673_1 1
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not have recorded or accurately recorded all the information inputted into it. If that was the case for
pensions and allowances, then if he printed the daily summary, he would have been able to see at the
time that it did not match the actual number and value of counterfoils received.

6. The branch also had to print @ mandatory weekly summary called form P2311MA and send it each
week, together with the counterfoils to the Paid Order Unit (POW) at Lisahally in Northern Ireland.
Often bundles of foils would be “add-listed” by the postmaster. The “add-list” print out would be
wrapped around the foils to which they related - usually one per day (or other timescale of their
choice). The branch also had to send a further copy of the weekly summary form P2311MA to
Transaction Processing (now called Product an§ Branch Accounting) in Chesterfield. ) Ldi{’i )
, - & L e T %&jﬁ
ML«W’ C»--g i Y T ,5‘/“%/‘“’ &‘x—fu. o o Cof /\:}{S (»g
7. The POU is responsible for conducting manual checks of the paid foils received. If these checks reveal .~
any discrepancies (i.e. the amounts in the weekly summary and counterfoils do not match), the POU
will notify the Transaction Processing team by entering the details into their computer using software
called Pensions and Allowances Checking System (PACSYS). The information will include the branch
office code, week number, the week ending date, details of the error including value and category (for
example sickness benefit, income support, family credit) and any explanation for the error. The
information from PACSYS was downloaded weekly and automatically entered into the Counter
Business Database and any supporting documentation, such as the P2311MA form will be amended.

8. Transaction Processing would then arrange for an error notice to be issued. An error notice is a
formal notification to a branch advising of a mistake made and giving instructions on how to rectify
the situation in their accounts, The error notice is sent to the branch in question and the postmaster
is required to bring the error to account before the end of the next cash account period. Once the
error notice has been brought to account (i.e. entered by the subpostmaster into their cash account),
the error notice should be signed by the postmaster and returned to Transaction processing, together
with the weekly cash account. To my knowledge this process has been the same for a considerable

number of years.

9. There are however, certain occasions when discrepancies found by the POU are not dealt with in this
way. If certain criteria are met (i.e. the error was for over £80) and the discrepancies are not
believed to have been caused by genuine mistakes, the relevant documentation is forwarded to the

Post Office Limited Investigation Section. An error notice will then not be issued until completion of

(&
10. I have been shown_a spreadsheet for the Marine Drive branch which shows that there were g2 error

%
notices issued, ‘Zot}of which were brought to account and one cancelled for 2003 to 2004 (page 1).
During this period, there was only 1 Pensions and Allowance error notice dated 5 September 2003

any investigation.

which was for £119.38 a charge against the subpostmaster in respect of a discrepancy that occurred
in the cash account week 30 July 2003. The schedule shows that error was brought to account on 22
September 2003.

1A_1209673_1 2
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I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

GRO

14_1209673_1 3
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Fited an behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: K A Crawley

Statement: 1

Exhibits:

Date made:

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
witness: K A Crawley
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Date made:
IMN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQDSXO27048
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BETWEEN:~
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Clatmant/Part 20 Defendant
gy~

LEE CASTLETON
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This is the exhibit marked KAC1 referred to in the Witness Statement of Kenneth Allan
Crawley dated
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
Witness: John Howard Jones
Statement: 2
Exhibits: JHI2
Date made: 4/09/06
IN THE HIGH COURTYT OF JUSTICE Claim No: HQOSX02706
GUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:-
POST OFFICE LIMITED
Claimant/Part 20 Defendant
~gntd-

LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant

SECOND WITNESS STATEMENT OF JOHN HOWARD JONES

I, JOHN HOWARD JIONES of Network Change, Post Office Limited, Sales and Service,

i GRO | WILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS: -

Q&% . 1. 1 am currently an Area Development Manager for the Post Office Limited (“the Post
th‘gf Office”) and am also an Appeals Manager, with responsibility for hearing both agents
4 5 and employee appeals as part of Post Office’s independent Appeals Panel. I have

)é)‘ worked for the Post Office for 24 years.

2. I make this Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless otherwise
stated. References to'page numbers in this Witness Statement are to page numbers of
exhibit JH32 to this Witness Statement.

Background

3. Between 18 July 2003 and 25 March 2004, the brancpf of the Post Ofﬂ,ee at | GRO
GRO (""the Marine Dnve branch™ wfhcurred Iosses of ““’K

£27 115. 88 During this tl,me Mr Cagtleto the Defendant was the Subpostmaster at
K PN L i-k L e

the Manne Drive branch, m responsuble for makmg good all losses, whether caused

through his own negligence or that of his assistants.

4. 1 understand that on or about 23 March 2004, Mr Castleton’s contract for services was
suspended because of large unexplained losses that had been reported occurring over
the preceding 12 weeks. An audit took place at the Marine Drive branch on 23 March
2004, followed by a full investigation, during which time Mr Castleton was interviewed
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by Ms Catherine Oglesby, the Retail Line Manager who was dealing with the matter at
that stage. On 17 May 2004, Mr Castleton was dismissed and I was responsible for
dealing with Mr Castleton’s appeal against the dismissal. }-i¢ - e (e
Lop 08 vl ;Sg ¢ 2eMg el
5. I wrote to Mr Castleton on 21 June 2004 to |
hearing to take place on 1 July 2004 (pages 1 to 2).

nfirm that I had scheduled the appeal

Pre~Appeal Enquiries

/

6. }/attach a typed note of the Case Hsstory and the Noges of Appeal at pages 3to 11. Mr
1 Castleton does not accept that the typed Note of thia x,ppeal hearing is accurate, so a .~

%

._copy of the handwritten note is at pages 13 to Zziﬁefore hearing the appeal, I took

the fc;immng BewonT "“‘:Mw o Pemetia’ e ok (,5,5@_5 if*ﬂi&&t@?&z %mfw

7. I made enquiries with Cheryl Woodward of the Post Office’s Transaction Processing

E’“@"{;_g.m&&v 5

e

Section to check on the volume of error notices recorded prior to the losses that
occurred between weeks 42 and 51. I also checked the level of error notices that had
been received since the suspension on 23 March 2004, An error notice is a correction
statement tm;wm“mmmmm@m WWW&UWM

ofr-thse-Horkzan, Computer  system. \ P ASEOMEE D sing
transastion.- It is generated if the paperwork that is produced by the branch for a

transaction (for example, pension counterfoil, girobank slip or cheque) that is sent off
5
for processing does not match the information inputted by the counter clerk j&’\the A
. g "

L T

computer, when the two streams of infermation are compared.

ithn i e s oA PRI B T 4 &M ﬁﬁug\}w‘}}

A A nt it

8. 1 noted that}only one error notsceé had been received for £1,256.88 for a customer ‘s‘“ v
called Dorothy Constable, which was charged to the Late Account. (The Late Account is {ﬁ* ’Qz,
a holding account that is established following either the suspension or last day of
service of a Subpostmaster and records all previous errors that are recorded against
that branch, which have not been brought to account). Two smaller error notices
totalling £292 were also charged to the Late Account. I do not have the dates and
specific amounts for those errors totalling £292, but believe that they actually occurred
whilst Mr Castleton was the postmaster but had not been drawn to the attention of the
business until after he was suspended. As such Mr Castleton was liable for the errors

which occurred during his period of appointment. &m ﬂ%‘m a{}iﬁ.i.mﬁ/

ek
9. I personally reconstructed and analysed t?‘{e Mariné Drive branch Cash Accounts for the
17 weeks between 24 December 2003 aér:d 14 April 2004 (i.e. account weeks, 39-03
LT over the critical period when the Jgsses being

[
g x‘%‘ um incurred were at their greatest The purpose of my analysis was to mdependently
RS «glpgk the arithmetical accuracy of those accounts, the average volume and value of
v}‘gi ‘e the transactions at the Marine Drive branch during this period, the average cash
& & *

ngu»«&%%f



POL00071231

POL00071231

usage, the cash ordering cycle and identifying any transactional areas that were
outside the mean average value for the bank i.e. whether there was anything unusual
for this particular branch. A spreadsheet showing the results of my analysis is at page
23. g O
éj&, Ny %’*ﬁw £25

10, I visited the Izlarme Drive branch on 28 June 2004 to mvﬁsugate those transactions

w,,\..,. B

that 1 had 1dent|f|ed as being outside the s ver& & miu ganaiysed a Giro Business

Customer’s cash deposits that were made mtd the branch. Each cash deposit was then

cross referenced with the entry that was recorded from the Horizon system. Each entry

was recorded correctly in line with our operating instructions and brought to account

through the Horizon system on the day the cash was deposited. I also carried out a

number of further checks in relation to the receipts available at the branch to prove

that the final totals accurately and correctly appeared in the end of week accounts. I

checked a number of daily records that were available in the branch to confirm their
arithmetical correctness and that they had been correctly recorded onto the Horizon
L'Xstem Again, these were proved to be correct W‘I
N SRR e

JLp— %’u(,;& (54
¢ Ms Oglesby, then the Retail Line Manager, why the advice she had given to Mr

'Castleton had not been followed by him and any reason as to why such losses were
. consistently dismissed by Mr Castleton as being a fault with the Horizon system.;ﬂl
understand that Ms Oglesby had advised Mr Castleton to prepare balances every day.
Ms Qglesby advised me that Mr Castleton was loath to take her advice, dismissed any
suggestion that there might be problem that could possibly be theft related and
persisted with the presumption that all shortages were as a result of the computer
system. 1 was surprised that Mr Castleton repeatedly dismissed the advice of an
experienced Post Office manager given that he was a relatively new Subpostmaster

G
i ::}‘f(w W*}@
i conducted a daily transactional analysis from botéz daily and weekly balance

£8,243.10, zero and £10,653.11 respectivel
.45, v {/’i.{ )\h(j}% pﬁ*m Y(

¢ he & h Tuesda of those weeks and the
were anomahes b vygep t\f&\ anﬁj\:: v

%ﬂi {2%},@/38{ analys:s showed that there

k :;Q”ufzc.%«;(y

final cash declaratlonien the Wedni day att e flna! Igflance For example, I evaluated
L gy ‘«_

individual transactions between Tuesday 10th rua?} 2004 and Wednesday 11'
February 2004 for cash account week 46. My evaluation indicated that the actual
transactional receipts exceeded those payments that were declared by the Marine
Drive Branch by approximately £15,300. It can be demonstrated that a cash deposit

ey é{: 5 &ii“"”

y

g

%M?;M%

and significant losses were accumulating in the Marine Drive branch. 3 -
g g s am §e g m@&%?

phagedls
oo
§ Al
\%“%X
mg Lo
f}{(‘;,

WL

of £16,500 by customer number 685 9461 was received on Wednesday 11" February -y &Er‘ﬁ%

/f 2004 but this is not reflected in the final cash declaration at the close of business on

v <;§J‘€“' the Wednesday. A cash declaration of approximately £49,000 should have been made

}“’\:x S as opposed to the incorrect cash declaration that was actually made of £33,100. In
& S

({ LR g UV L

foaaTo

Flcn g&iy% <



POL00071231
POL00071231

other words,f}:hg Marine Drive branch physically received approximately £15,300 more
cash that the amount it actually declared,, P st porede s Jeblr {wwiw»% g
Nl Cog W }%{{

13.1 again visited the Marine Drive branch on 30 June 2004 to track the Giro Bank

business deposits that the branch received and to establish the flow of cash into the
branch. The Marine Drive branch holds the account book for a customer account
number 6859461 who regularly deposited significant volumes of cash each
Wednesday. I analysed all of that customer’s deposits since November 2003 to confirm
that the deposits had been brought to account. I double checked the cash account
weeks of 46, 47 and 50 where I had carried out a daily transactional analysis, to

establish whether the levels of cash that had been declared had actually been received

e ¢ »&Wf* from this customer. My analysis showed that false cash declarations had been made,
e & Cjwwa; e«g%&v’ because the cash usage that occurred in the weeks 46, 47 and 50 was not reflected in
' the final cash declared by the Marine Drive branch upon completion of the balance. In

L~ other words, the cash that the Marine Drive branch physically received from this

-, customer was not reflected in the cash that Mr Castieton declared in each of the weeks
examined. The cash physically deposited at the Marine Drive branch should have been

\, accounted for.

14.1 made enquiries of Network Business Support Centre (NSBC) and the Horizon

Systems Helpline (HSH) and analysed the telephone records held by them to check

what instructions had been given to Mr Castleton and also to check that the branch did

not close due to running out of cash. My enquiries revealed that tests had satisfactorily

vz ¢
) W o
-~ . P O O

ki ,!/ olges
15. I presided over Mr Castieton’s Appeal He?ring on 1 July 2004. Mr Castleton had a Ce »grs%‘"ﬁ»'

representative present, Mrs Julie Langham;Miss Paul Carmichael of the Post Office was o

been carried out on the Horizon system which confirmed its integrity.

The Appeal Hearing on 1 July 2004 P Ht&g%& .

also there to take a note of the Hearing.

16, During the Hearing, Mr Castleton blamed the Horizon computer system for the losses.
The Horizon System is an on-line 2“:9{”"&& §Zstem that is integrated into over
17,000 Post Office branches whlchiprovndeg the highest level of security and integrity
for the Post Office and our clients with those transactions. The system is like a
sophisticated electronic calculator for the Post Officeg, It provides for on-line
reconciliation of all our customer transactions and the Post Office weekly balance. It
records all volume and values of transactions taking place at the branch. These
transactions must be physically entered onto the system by the user when a customer

presents a transaction at the Post Office counter.
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17. Each counter position has a computer terminal, a visual display unit, a keyboard,

18.

19.

20.

barcode scanner and printer. This system records all transactions inputted by the
counter clerk working at that counter position. It can therefore only record what the
counter clerk types in. Each user has a unique pass word and identifier to enable the
system to have both internal and external security. Once logged on, any transactions
performed by the user must be recorded and entered on the computer. The system
reconciles the daily and weekly transactions and provides the weekly Post Office
balance. The onus is on the counter clerk to check and confirm the value of the stock
and cash that is on hand when completing the balance. The system also allows for
information to be transferred to the main accounting department at Chesterfield in
order for accounts for each Post Office branch to be balanced.

However, Mr Castleton was unable to provide any evidence to support his assertion.
Furthermore, neither Fujitsu Services (who were responsible for designing,
implementing and operating the Horizon system), nor the Horizon System Helpdesk
had been able to identify any problems with the system. In any event, Mr Castleton
stated that the cash declarations he had made (i.e. the accuracy of the cash that he
declared onto the system and ultimately the weekly cash accounts that he signed)
were accurate “nine times out of ten”. Mr Castleton stated that he knew how much to
order based on amounts previously ordered and Chrissie’s (his assistant) experience.

I had also carried out an analysis to track large bulk orders of usable cash moving in
and out of the branch to try to ascertain why the subpostmaster would order cash
outside the branchs normal requirements. This particular analysis focused on he
period in which significant losses occurred, being cash account week 42 (the week
ending 14 January 2004) to cash account wee!{j%)?th&e week ending\é«-March 2004)
(Fohn this is the period referred to in your appeal note as being the period
vou discussed with Castieton and to which you attribute the figures below,
but in your 2 May email to me you said you analysed to the period 17 March
2004. To which period do the figures below relate? 4 or 17 March?] 1 was
interested in Marine Drive branch’s butk cash ordering and not their orders of change
because the orders for change were largely accounted for through giro change orders
and the small coin requirements to service every day transactions.

I explained to Mr Castleton that between weeks 42 and ginilusive the Marine Drive
branch had ordered significantly more cash from the Post Office than had normally
been the case. Mr Castleton stated that he only ordered what he felt was required. 1
informed Mr Castleton that for this entire period (cash account weeks 42 to gg(the
actual cash usage for transactions at the branch did not differ from week to week and
he had only actually needed to order between £200,000 to £265,000 in cash. Instead,

Mr Castleton had £305,000 cash and of which only £20,000 usable cash was returned.
é/




21,

22,

23.

24.
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For clarification I should add that during that periodithe Marine Drive branch actually
ordered £316,590 and returned £34,891.28, but this included unusable notes, foreign
notes, Scottish notes and coinage that is remitted on a weekly basis and the purpose
of my analysis was to track large bulk orders of usable cash moving in and out of the

branch. ‘ t}\
%“fﬁf&

My analysis of the increases in cash ordered by the branch der{}pngfrated that the
branch did not need to order these excessive amounts of cash, because they were not
required to serve the transactions that were being performed. Significantiy, the orders

at the branch.

The Marine Drive branch never ran out of cash. If the Horizosi system had been
incorrect and the cash shortfalls merely theoretical (i.e. comgg&{er generated), rather
than actual, there would always have been sufficient cash i{}e-‘“‘{he Marine Drive branch
to meet its requirements and no need to order extra cashéfi Crucially, it was only the
ordering of the extra cash that ensured that the branch was always able to remain
trading. Mr Castleton was unable to explain why he needed actual additional cash or
where that additional cash had gone if there was only a computer generated,
theoretical shortfall.

If Mr Castleton’s assertion was correct, this would not have affected the physical
amount of cash at the Marine Drive branch or mean that Mr Castleton had to order and
use extra cash. Mr Castleton specifically stated that he only ordered the cash he felt

was required.

Post Appeal Hearing Enquiries

25.

26.

After the Appeal Hearing, 1 did a further check with Cheryl Woodward of transaction
processing which confirmed that there were no other outstanding error notices in the

system. O YO czj., vecke fre

At the appeal hearing, Mr Castleton requested that further analysis be conducted on
certain Horizon balance printouts. I wrote to him on 5 July 2004 to confirm that I
would obtain the analysis and endeavour to confirm my decision on 14 July 2004
(pages 28 and 29). Accordingly, I gave the Horizon final account declarations to the
Network Development Manager, Anita Turner, who had no previous knowledge of the
case and asked her to conduct her own independent analysis of the losses and
movements in the suspense account between cash account weeks 45 and 50. I wrote
to Mr Castleton on 8 July 2004 to confirm the result of Ms Turner’s analysis (page 32).
Her analysis showed that:
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(a) For the week ending 12 February 2004 (cash account week 46), the Marine Drive
branch declared a shortage discrepancy of £8,243.10.

(b) For the week ending 19 February 2004 (cash account week 47), the Marine Drive
branch opened a suspense account and transferred the shortage discrepancy of
£8,243.10.

(c) For the week ending 26 February 2004, (cash account week 48) the Marine Drive
branch declared a shortage discrepancy of £3,509.18.

(d) For the week ending 4 March 2005 (cash account week 49), the Marine Drive
branch transferred the shortage discrepancy from week 48 of £3,509.18 to the
suspense account. The branch then declared a further shortage of £3,512.26.

(e) For the week ending 11 March 2004, (cash account week 50) the Marine Drive
branch did not transfer the shortage discrepancy of £3,512.26 to the suspense
account, but it was instead rolled over to week 50 without being made good.
e % (e - Yo i»

In or about late June/early July 2004 and 9 July 2004, Mr Castleton wrote to me again

(pages 30 to 31 and 34 to 37). However, I do not recall seeing those letters at the

time, which may be because they were sent to the Darlington Area Office rather than

Calthorpe House, London where I was working at the time,

Factors affecting my decision to dismiss Mr Castieton’s Appeal

25.

26.

The decision to dismiss Mr Castleton’s appeal was not taken lightly. A list of the factors
affecting my decision are at pages 9 and 10. I conducted extensive analysis on the
accounting documentation made available for the Appeal as well as the transactional
records at the Marin;wmiyé ’ branch. The Post Office’s Transaction Processing
Department only had @n;g‘giérror notices, all of which were accounted for. The cash
ordered by the Marine Drive branch was significantly outside the mean average value
that it normally ordered. The cash ordered was systematically increased on four

occasions, following which a large cash discrepancy occurred.

The Marine Drive branch incurred unprecedented declared losses over a 12 week
period in respect of which Mr Castleton could only offer the explanation that it was the
Horizon System that was causing the errors. If the Horizon system was erroneously
declaring losses in the branch, there would have been no actual cash shortfalls and
there would always be sufficient amounts of cash in the branch to service is
requirements. However, Mr Castieton ordered extra cash and it was only this extra
cash which enabled the branch to continue to trade and meant that it never ran out.
Mr Castleton was unable to explain why he required additional cash if there was only a
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system error. His agéum&n& that there was a system error was unfounded, but was in
any event, acadetﬁic. The physical need for extra cash can only be explained by the

£265,000 to meet its transaction or requirements between weeks 42 and 49, but had

ordered £305,000 in cash to cover this period in respect of which only £20,000 was
returned. It was significant that additional cash was ordered prior to a subsequent
cash discrepancy being declared. Mr Castleton was not able to explain why such sums
of cash were ordered that were in excess of what was actually required and where it
had gone.

28. There were and have not been since any subsequent error notices for the branch under
Mr Castleton's operation, nor any similar experiences of large shortages by a number
of locum Subpostmasters who have all operated the same pieces of Horizon kit, week

in week out.

29. In the circumstances, I believed (and still believe) that the decision ultimately to
dismiss Mr Castleton was soundly based and that the arguments he advanced held no
credence whatscever and accordingly I dismissed his Appeal. I wrote to Mr Castleton
on 9 July 2004 to confirm my decision (page 38).

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

SIGNEA . corinrinmrinnrssrvran oot ben st s cron

GRO

Dated...ccvirmciuriimmnmmmanrscr o 2006
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National Business Support Centre

3. The Post Office provides a service to sub-postmasters and clerks called the NBSC,
which is a helpline they can call to try to resolve business related queries.

4. There are two tiers of service support at NBSC. Tier one is essentially customer
services and is a separate entity. Tier two is run by the Post Office and is for calls
that tier one are unable to deal with. I understand that an individual at tier one
could take approximately 2,000 calls each day [is it correct to say that an
individual will take 2,000 calis per day or that tier one overali will take

2,000 per day] and at tier two, an individual could tak roximately 30 calls
each day. Basically a sub-postmaster would call th SC telephone number,
select the options to get through to tier one and i

‘anches each have a computer terminal,
barcode scanner and printer. Once a clerk

document, s g a TV license counter foil, savings bank deposit, withdrawal slip

or cheque.

8. A summary of the prescribed daily procedures that sub-postmasters must follow is
at pages 1 to 2. This includes the following:

TV Licenses — Non Barcode

9. Each day the sub-postmaster must enter details on the green daily summary form
P5744 which is retained at the branch. They have to print a daily report and
check that the totals of the counter foils agree with that report [was this the
system in place at the time? Does the daily repost info come from

1A_1198369_1 2
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Horfzon?]. If they do, they cut off the report on the computer to reset it to zero
for the next day. They then paperclip together none barcoded TV and non
barcoded over 75 counter foils and send the counter foils EDS Processing Centre.
[did they send them to EDX at the time? For chegues, ¥ understand the
migration to EDS took place around Feb 2004.]

Personal Bankin

10. The sub-postmaster has to print a report each day and check that the totals on

13.

the print out agree with the documents to hand (whether cash deposit, cheque

deposit envelope or encashment cheques) if the totals ag &, they then have to

cut off the report so that it resets for the next day erclip the cash deposit
slips, check deposit envelopes and then encashed gether and place in

bank deposits and withdrawals
and Withdrawals ie for each of

somethin do weekly or daily or both?]. A summary of this procedure is
at pages 3 to"6. Firstly, they have to check outstanding transaction corrections,
which must be resolved before the end of the week’s trading period. [what is &
Transaction Correction? Is a trading period from week to week or do you

mean each Jay?].

They then have to complete the counter daily and counter weekly reports {are
those the reports that are mentioned above or are they something else?
What are the daily reports? And what do they look like?]. [what are the
weelly reports and what do they look like and what information do they
contain?]. They are then are encouraged to print a balance snapshot and use
that to ensure that the Horizon system held stock figures matches the actual

1A_1198369_1 3
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stock holdings in their branch. They also have to check all receipt and payment
transaction totals with the supporting vouchers/documentation. There are ways
in which they can amend any stock discrepancies. They then have to print the
mandatory office weekly reports [what are these?].

14. The sub-postmaster then completes all other manual summaries and
reconciliations, for example National Savings Weekly Summary, Change Given
Return, Electric Tokens, Promotional/Payment Vouchers, MVL Weekly
Reconciliation, Rod Licence Reconciliation, Gift Voucher Weekly Reconciliation,
DVLA Premium Service Summaries, UK PA Check and Send summaries, Electric
Schemes and National Lottery Cheque Prize Payments.

15.

actual stock holdings. They then make n

16.

17.

i ‘,'r"nary fwhat is that?], UKPA Check and
orm setting out Redeemed Post Office and TV Savings

18.

Report (PG ; what is that?] and the gift voucher, monthly stock report form
{again what is that?]. The branch then completes the branch trading statement
which they have to sign and date stamp and retain in a suitable folder for 6 years.

[andrew please can you check that these were the procedures in place in
December 2003 to March 2004, which is the period that we are fooking at

and if they werent can you amend accordingly and insert what
procedures were actually in place at that time].

The Horizon System

1A.13198369 1 4



19. Accordingly, it can be seen that if the clerk or sub-postmaster makes a mistake
when imputing transaction details into their computer, there are a number of
points at which this can be picked up, because there are daily and weekly reports
that the sub-postmaster have to produce at which stage they have to check and
satisfy themselves that the documents eg cheques, cash, giros, they have match
what they have entered on the system. In addition to that, there are various
teams responsible for different sorts of paperwork, including a giro bank team,
cheques team and pension team. For example, if the clerk records an item as a
cheque rather than cash, they should pick this up on either their daily or weekly
report. However if they fail to do so, this will be picked up at the EDS Processing

Centre. Merely because an item has been recorded as a ue rather than cash

(or visa versa) would not of course cause an overall | ‘the branch. If an item

has been wrongly recorded, an error notice would

Sub~-Postmaster Training

[Andrew can you add some de
have to be trained on when they Ji

NBSC Review

*NBSC to review what could have been
causing ton (who has since left the Post Office)
: ssed it with me. She then reported to Andrew Price

back to Mrs Oglesby on 20 April 2004. (page 13).

reviewed:
(NéSC) who in"ti

not cause erﬁ as long as it was attached to the correct stock unit. If there
was any cominunication problem between the two computers, the words “node

disconnected” would flash up on screen.

21. The sub-postmaster apparently thought there were some errors relating to the
National Lottery. I understand from the e-mail that Sarah phoned the lottery
team at transaction processing who confirmed that there were some errors, but
for every charge error there was a corresponding claim error as the clerk and/or
sub-postmaster had entered the lottery figures in the wrong cash account period.
If the cash account period (week number) is wrong one week, the next week this
would balance out, hence the sub-postmaster would receive a charge error in the
first week and a claim error in the second week,

1A_119836%9_1 5
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22. Sarah’s e-mail records that the sub-postmaster was also concerned that when
entering the lottery figures, the terminals did not appear to be communicating.
However if that had been the case, the sub-postmaster would have a very large
number of errors on every report and product.

23. I looked at the cash account information that the sub-postmaster sent to me but
was unable to find any errors. [do you stili have this or your analysis?]. The
only amount questioned was a large amount on the cheques to Processing Centre,

but I was able to confirm that this was a cheque payment for the purchase of the

premium bonds. Accordingly, there is nothing more sC could do and we

suggested he work a manual system at the side of H 0 see if any problems

sfore and after he did

b' compiled during the ordinary course of
j,jrsons who have or may reasonably be

stated to b {aiaes this mean that 2 standard answer was given from
the knowle gé base. If “yes” please can you explain what the knowledge

base is?].

27. 1 December 2003, call reference H12B81573 the caller wanted a telephone
number for human resources. An answer was given from the knowledge base.

28. 11 December 2003, call reference H1Z2803595 there was a power failure on

the street and the office has electronic shutters so was unable to open. [what
does gave nom offices mean?

1A 1198369 1 6
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29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

11 December 2003, call reference H1238041386 the clerk called to confirm that
the office had been reopened.

12 December 2003, call reference H12808756 the clerk wanted to know
what the counter procedure was for a local collect when a customer comes to pick
it up. [what is focal collect?]. They were provided with an answer from the
knowledge base.

13 December 2003, call reference H12908771 this was a call because the
customer had received a card in the name of Vera instead of Violet. This was

resolved by providing the clerk with an answer from the kn dge base.

been returned again because th
postmaster said that EDS had

een errovﬁ'eously rejected, NBSC would

pass his com tions team to progress as a complaint

against EDS.

I, call reference H21243010 the postmaster wanted to
s for printing a postage label had changed and was advised

that the pre=paid will be reduced by an amount of extra service (recorded).
30 December 2003, call reference H12837387 the clerk called to say that the
customer had changed addresses and also post offices for his card fwhat type of
card?]. His new card had been sent to the old office and the clerk wanted to
know how he could have had the card directed to the new office. This was
resolved by providing the clerk with information from the knowledge base.

30 December 2003, call reference HIZ2837703 the sub-postmaster had
received a few enquiries from customers regarding the changes to the National
Savings Ordinary Account. The sub-postmaster was advised that we do not have
any further information regarding the changes to the Ordinary Saving Account

1A_1198369_1 7
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38.

39.

40.

41.

44,

other than information contained in MBS 453 [what is MBS 4537 Do you have
a8 copy?].

14 January 2004, call reference H12971100 the clerk called in relation to a
dis&repancy ie a loss of £1,103.13. They were provided with an answer from the
knowledge base fdo we know what the sub-postmaster said and what
answer they were given?].

18 January 2004, call reference Q129808113 there was an incorrect cash
dispatch fwhat does this mean?] Lisa [Lisa who?] was not too sure of the

correct procedure, but NBSC informed her what it is.

20 January 2004, call reference H21265850
required mean?]

es Ixweek 41/03

and he should receive it by th

dispatched.

£ é'éub—postmaster had checked the REMs in and out, his cash,
it and Allowances but was unable to find the loss. The sub-
postmaster was therefore advised that this matter would be passed through to
the suspense team. (When cash or stock goes into a branch, it is “remmed” in ie
entered into or out of the system. The sub-postmaster has to check the rem foils

to verify that he receives the cash or stock listed on the foil).

22
There 'was a loss in week 43 of £4,230.97. This was an unknown error.

nuary 2004, call reference Hi129B79587 the sub-postmaster called.
That
means that the sub-postmaster should not transfer the loss into the suspense

account.

1A_1198269 1 8
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45. 22 January 2004, call reference HILIG68317 a disabled customer’s card had
arrived in an incorrect name of Bernice instead of Denise and the sub-postrnaster
wanted to speak to EDS, An answer was given from the knowledge base,

46. 27 January 2004, call reference H12999552 this refers to a training event in
Scarborough.

47, 38 January 2004, call reference H13003838 the sub-postmaster enquired
whether there was a service available for customers to send money to somebody
in another part of the country. That answer was provided from the knowledge

base.

48. 28 Jlanupary 2004, call reference H21272735 th -pastmaster had called to

postmaster was advised that if he felt that echnical problem he should

call the Horizon System Helpline (HSH) deals with technical issues.

r. it appeared that he was

49, 38 January ;
were showing i

vf”hé call? Was it just tv repwort ihat the loss was

unauthorised?}.

51, 2B January 2(}‘(}4!_;'3“ reference H31274188 the sub-postmaster wanted to
have his tran:sactic;mal archives [What are transsctional archives?] looked at
more closely to try to identify what was going wrong with his branch. He was
having a lot of losses over the past three weeks and thought that there was a
systermn fault with his remittances. The NBSC followed KB instructions and sent an
e-mail to Adele Kilkoyne fwhe is she?] so that the postmaster could study his
archives to try to identify what had gone wrong. [what wasg the resull of this?
Please can you follow through with Adele Kilkoyne?].

1A, 1198369, 1 g
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52. 30 January 2004, call reference H13011880 the sub-postmaster called in

53.

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

relation to automated payments: the customer’s account had not apparently been
credited with payment. An answer was provided to the sub-postmaster from the
knowledge base.

30 January 2004, call reference Q13008942 Mrs Catherine Oglesby, the
Retail Line Managé% reported that the sub-postmaster had authorised losses of
£6,754.09 for week 44. Apparently he could not identify what had caused the
loss and was unable to make good. The sub-postmaster also stated that he had
made good a loss of £1,100 in week 42. Mrs Oglesby asked NBSC to contact the
d applied for a hardship
s.the I&E form?].

mean?]
3 February 2

vfsff}f;ebruary 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number for
Hanco {what does that stand for?] helpdesk.

4 February 2004, the branch called and asked for the procedure for producing
an overnight cash holding (ONCH) report.

& February 2004, ['this entry just says PID has the ofd address on. What
does that mean?]

9 February 2004, the branch called because a customer wished to transfer
£3,000 from her ordinary account to open an investments account. The clerk
wanted to know which form was used to process this and whether they could
process it. An answer was supplied from the knowledge base.

1A_1198369_1 10
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61.

62.

63.

64,

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

10 February 2004, the branch called and asked how to ?? out coin [does this
mean change? What do they actuslly mean here? We need to explain
this to a judge who wouldnt understand what remming out means and
wouldn 't be familiar with the system]

11 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called who had a customer who has a
disabled son and is an appointee at the moment and had been told that she could
not be an appointee for her son [what is an appointee?]. An answer was
supplied from the knowledge base.

12 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and .wanted to know the

12 February 2004, the branch reported an
week 46. There was an accumulated loss

The sub-

ice Limited.

ter in completing the form. NBSC spoke to Mrs Oglesby on 25 March.

had been suspended and the loss transferred to the late

account.

13 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to arrange a system
check due to small fauits he had encountered with the system. He was referred
to HSH.

16 February xﬂaﬁ,the sub-postmaster called and reported that the card could
not be read by the system and wanted to know what to do. He was given an

answer from the knowledge base.

16 February 2&(@@{ the branch called and stated that the system was unavailable
and wanted to know whether they could do a withdrawal. They were given an

1A_1198369_1 11
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answer from the knowledge base [what sort of answer would they have been
given?]

70. 16 February 2004, this call simply states Horizon KB0628. [what does this
mean?}]

71. 16 February 20&34, the sub-postmaster wanted to speak to HSH because his
screen was frozen. He was given an answer from the knowledge base.

72. 1% February 2004, the branch called and wanted to know, what the telephone

numbers were for transaction processing. They were gi n answer from the

knowledge base.

73. 21 February 2004, the sub-postmaster call
death of the card holder and was given an ans

74.

75. te that he had been having

about si;: weeks. The sub-postmaster

04, the branch reported a discrepancy and wanted a call from
service support Eéference H13071268 because there was a £3,509.68 shortage
and they wanted to use the suspense account. The sub-postmaster was advised
that the suspense account team would deal with this until the sub-postmaster role
had been to the correct cap fwhat does that mean?]. Claire advised that HSH
was still investigating the problem.

78. 26 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and stated that he was entering
into a smart post item on the system and it was an airsure going to the USA with
the value of £300. The sub-postmaster put the value into the system but the
price did not increase and wanted to know why. NBCS discussed with the sub-

1A_1198369_1 12
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postmaster and went through the procedure with him. It transpired that the sub-
postmaster was [erronecusiy?] entering the high value at the start of the
transaction, so it set the price at the high value compensation rate.

79. 26 February 2004, the sub-postmaster reported £3,509.68 unauthorised losses
for week 48. He said that he had an ongoing problem which HSH were
investigating. The sub-postmaster was completing an I&E form to start the

hardship process for previous discrepancies. Accordingly, although the losses
were unauthorised, they were entered into the suspense account pending the

hardship process.

80. ¥ March 2004, the branch reported that a custome called and asked for a

81. 4 March 2004, Mrs Oglesby reported t
constantly shéWing losses every week an

out a cash declaration on the system as
going to send through snapshots from

85. @ March 2004, the branch called and asked what the process was for a buy back
pre-order accounting and dispatch, They were given an answer from the

knowledge base.

86. 1D March 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number for
Chesterfield and were given the answer from the knowledge base.

87. 18 March 2004, the branch called and stated that the balance on the card

account was less than what is in the account and wanted to know what to do.

They were given an answer from the knowledge base.
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88. 1% March 2004, the branch called and asked for the address for NAIRN Post
Office and were given an answer from the knowledge base.

89. 18 March 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted the branch details for
Post Office No. 225840. They were given an answer from the knowledge base.

90. 22 March 2804, the sub-postmaster wanted to know how to issue a vault card to
a customer. [what does office process map mean?]

in fwhat does see DD mean?].

99. 31 March 2004, the branch called and asked for what the concession number
was for a disabled rod licence. They were given an answer from the knowledge

base.

100.4 April 2004, the branch called and asked how to correct errors. They were

given an answer from the knowledge base.
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101.1 April 2004, the new sub-postmaster stated that she could not balance a roli
over as the system was stating that she had negative/re-valued stock figures.
She was advised to complete the re-valuation whilst still in cap 01 [what is cap
@1?7]. This would then permit the system to allow her to roll over into week 02.

102.2 April 2004, the branch had received ocean liners stamps with the incorrect
price. The sub-postmaster was told to rem in and contact Hemmel [what is
that?] to notify them.

103.13 April 2004, the branch called and wanted the office address fwhat does this
mean?j

branch regardi ;a’ problem that they were all dealing with. The message was
SC to Mrs Oglesby.

passed on by

110.22 April 2004, Mr Castleton’s father-in-law called and stated that his son-in-law
and daughter had been suspended and somebody else had been put in and was
losing business. He wanted to speak to somebody more senior to Mrs Oglesby.
His message was passed to the area office for HOA to get in touch with Mr Franks
{what is HOA?]

111.32 April 2004, a call was taken from the sub-postmaster’s father-in-law and he
was given an answer from the knowledge base.
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112.23 April 2004, Mr Castleton wanted to know if there was any way of printing out
all the calls he had made to NBSC and for them to be sent to him. He was
advised that if he wanted information regarding calls made to NBSC, he should
make his request in writing to Adele Kilcoyne of NBSC.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are trug;

SIGNEA ..o e senrcm st on
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANDREW Y

GRO

1. I am currently a Training Ma
{ffice). 1 have worked for th

c er 2004, I was a postal officer
MBSC). However due to my experience
stand in as a team leader. My

‘that 1 spent 8 years as a counter clerk. I have a
the computer system known as Horizon, which is a

g system used by the Post Office.

otherwise stated. References to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to

page numbers of Exhibit "AW1” to this Witness Statement.
8.
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National Business Support Centre

3. The Post Office provides a service to sub-postmasters and clerks called the NBSC,
which is a helpline they can call to try to resolve business related queries.

4. There are two tiers of service support at NBSC. Tier one is essentially customer
services and is a separate entity. Tier two is run by the Post Office and is for calls
that tier one are unable to deal with. I understand that an individual at tier one
could take approximately 2,000 calls each day [is it correct o say that an
individual will take 2,000 calls per day or that tie

ovarall will take
2,000 per day] and at tier two, an individual could ‘approximately 30 calls
select the options to get through to tier one
may be a pre-recorded standard response, b

postmaster could get put through to tie
prompting sub-postmasters and clerks to
have been checking any way.

6. ficé branches each have a computer terminal,
keyboard, barcode scanner and printer. Once a clerk
ey perform are recorded and entered into the
puter. The computer system is called Horizon.
?’s%%s?
7.

by the clerk
a TV license counter foil, savings bank deposit, withdrawal slip or cheque.

‘their computer has a correspondmg physzcal document, such as

8. A summary of the prescribed daily procedures that sub-postmasters must follow is
at pages 1 to 2. This includes the following:

TV Licenses — Non Barcode

9. Each day the sub-postmaster must enter details on the green daily summary form
P5744 which is retained at the branch. They have to print a daily report and
check that the totals of the counter foils agree with that report [was &his the
system in place at the time? Does the daily report info come from
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Horizon?]. If they do, they cut off the report on the computer to reset it to zerg
for the next day. They then paperclip together none barcoded TV and non
barcoded over 75 counter foils and send the counter foils EDS Processing Centre,
jdid they send them te £D8 af the time? For chegues, I understand the
migration to EDS took place around Feb 2004.]

Personal Banking

10. The sub-postmaster has to print a report each day and check that the totals on
the print out agree with the documents to hand {whether cash deposit, cheque
, they then have to

deposit envelope or encashmment chegues) if the totals ag

cut off the report so that it resets for the next day clip the cash deposit

slips, check deposit envelopes and then encashe tpgether and place in

the envelope to go to the EDS Processing Cen

Cheques, Giro bank deposits and Savings Bank

hank deposits and withdrawals
and Withdrawals ie for each of

something o weekly or daily or both?]. A summary of this procedure is

at pages 3 to'6. Firstly, they have to check cutstanding transaction corrections,

which must be resolved before the end of the week’s trading period. [what is a
Transaction Correction? Is a trading period from week to week or oo you
mean each day?].

13. They then have to complete the counter daily and counter weekly reports Jare
those the reports that are mentioned above or are they something else?
What are the dally reports? And what do they look Hke?]. [what are the
weekly reports and what do they fook like and what information do they
contain?]. They are then are encouraged to print a balance snapshot and use
that to ensure that the Horizon system held stock figures matches the actual
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14,

stock holdings in their branch. They also have to check all receipt and payment
transaction totals with the supporting vouchers/documentation. There are ways
in which they can amend any stock discrepancies. They then have to print the
mandatory office weekly reports fwhat are these?].

The sub-postmaster then completes all other manual summaries and
reconciliations, for example National Savings Weekly Summary, Change Given
Return, Electric Tokens, Promoticnal/Payment Vouchers, MVL Weekly
Reconciliation, Rod Licence Reconciliation, Gift Voucher Weekly Reconciliation,
DVLA Premium Service Summaries, UK PA Check and Send summaries, Electric
Schemes and National Lottery Cheque Prize Payments.

actual stock holdings. They then make new
entering on the system the cash noming

Report (P65 wha&‘ is that?] and the gift voucher, monthly stock report form
[again what'is that?]. The branch then completes the branch trading statement
which they have to sign and date stamp and retain in a suitable folder for 6 years.

[Andrew please can you check that these were the procedures in place in
December 2003 to March 2004, which is the period that we are fooking at
and if they werent can you amend accordingly and insert what
procedures were actually in place at that time].

The Horizon System
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19. Accordingly, it can be seen that if the clerk or sub-postmaster makes a mistake

Sub-Postmaster Training

21.

when imputing transaction details into their computer, there are a number of
points at which this can be picked up, because there are daily and weekly reports
that the sub-postmaster have to produce at which stage they have to check and
satisfy themselves that the documents eg cheques, cash, giros, they have match
what they have entered on the system. T,

A

¢ In addition to that, there are various teams responsible for different sorts of
paperwork, including a giro bank team, cheques team and pension team. For
example, if the clerk records an item as a cheque rather than cash, they should

pick this up on either their daily or weekly report. How f they fail to do so,

this will be picked up at the EDS Processing Centre. because an item has

been recorded as a cheque rather than cash (or ould not of course

cause an overall loss to the branch. If an iteni
error notice would be generated, although th
so. This will mean that if there has been
either a claim or charge error respectively

sub-postmasters and clerks

]

the slave computer terminal to enter his stock and cash, which he was told would

not cause a problem as long as it was attached to the correct stock unit. If there
was any communication problem between the two computers, the words “node

disconnected” would flash up on screen.

The sub-postmaster apparently thought there were some errors relating to the
National Lottery. I understand from the e-mail that Sarah phoned the lottery
team at transaction processing who confirmed that there were some errors, but
for every charge error there was a corresponding claim error as the clerk and/or
sub-postmaster had entered the lottery figures in the wrong cash account period.
If the cash account period (week number) is wrong one week, the next week this

1A_1198369_1 5
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would balance out, hence the sub-postmaster would receive a charge error in the
first week and a claim error in the second week.

22. Sarah’s e-mail records that the sub-postmaster was also concerned that when
entering the lottery figures, the terminals did not appear to be communicating.
However if that had been the case, the sub-postmaster would have a very large
number of errors on every report and product.

23. 1 looked at the cash account information that the sub-postmaster sent to me but
was unable to find any errors. [de you siili have this or your analysis?]. The
only amount questioned was a large amount on the cheqg Processing Centre,
but I was able to confirm that this was a cheque pay for the purchase of the
premium bonds. Accordingly, there is nothing could do and we
suggested he work a manual system at the sid

24,
to be the cause of the unautho incurred:

MBSC Call Logs

% 25." Betwile-of the ) iie Drive branch and an overview of them
from Decemb | 2004 are ‘set out below - FAD code 213337 {there—

%

\
|
]
;
;

?
|
i

%
%,

s

26.

27,

d-Marelh-2004): These were compiled

e of business from information supplied by persons who

ation supplied, but are unlikely to have any recollection of

ot be traced. @ESVéWBEéﬁ' asked to provide an over\;?é"@f o

03, call reference H12881584 the sub-postmaster wanted to
know where they sent their application for telephone claims. The resolution was
stated to be KB [does this mean that a standard answer was given from
the knowledge base. If “yes” please can you explain what the knowledge
base is?].

1 December 2003, call reference H12881573 the caller wanted a telephone
number for human resources. An answer was given from the knowledge base.
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28.

29,

30.

31,

32,

33.

35.

36.

11 December 2003, call reference H12903585 there was a power failure on
the street and the office has electronic shutters so was unable to open. fwhat
does gave nom offices mean?

11 December 2003, call reference H12804136 the clerk called to confirm that
the office had been reopened.

12 December 2003, call reference H123D6758 the clerk wanted to know
what the counter procedure was for a local collect when a customer comes to pick
it up. [what is local colfect?}]. They were provided with an answer from the

knowledge base.

iolet. This was

rroneously rejected by the EDS. They
ication form was represented, but it had
no PID or 1D form, although the sub-
£al The caller advised the sub-
lication had been erroneously rejected, NBSC would
-ustomer relations team to progress as a complaint

postmasfef iplaint about EDS being forwarded to them.

23 December 2003, call reference H21243010 the postmaster wanted to
know if the procedures for printing & postage label had changed and was advised
that the pre-paid will be reduced by an amount of extra service (recorded).

30 December 2003, call reference HI2937387 the clerk called to say that the
customer had changed addresses and also post offices for his card fwhat type of
vard?]. His new card had been sent to the old office and the clerk wanted to
know how he could have had the card directed to the new office. This was
resolved by providing the clerk with information from the knowledge base.
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37. 3¢ December 2003, call reference HI2837703 the sub-postmaster had
received a few enquiries from customers regarding the changes to the National
Savings Ordinary Account. The sub-postmaster was advised that we do not have
any further information regarding the changes to the Ordinary Saving Account
other than information contained in MBS 453 fwhat is MBS 4537 Do you have
a copy?].

38. 14 January 2004, ¢all reference HI2971100 the clerk called in relation to a
discrepancy ie a loss of £1,103.13. They were provided with an answer from the
knowledge base [do we know what the sub-postmaster said and what

angwer they were given?].

39, 1% January 2004, call reference Q1lI88011
dispatch fwhat does this mean?] Lisa [LL
correct procedure, but NBSC informed her wiy

40, 20 January 2004, call reference H21
reguired mean?}

41, 20 January 2004, call refern
received a copy of the sales repo 5 iod and wanted to know how

r was advised that the reports were late

one could be orde ub-posti

and he should ¢ week at the latest as they were being

dispatched.

{At this time, therg was a suspense team to try to
as transferred into the suspense account that was not

the suspense feam.

43, 22 January 2004, call reference HI298791% the sub-postmaster reported a
foss of £4,000. He said he was in the office until 11pm last night but could not
find anything. The NBSC went through all the balanced cheques with him. It
appeared that the sub-postmaster had checked the REMs in and out, his cash,
stock and profit and Allowances but was unable to find the foss. The sub-
postmaster was therefore advised that this matter would be passed through to
the suspense team. (When cash or stock goes into a branch, it is “remmed” irn ig
gntered into or out of the system. The sub-postmaster has to check the rem foils
to verify that he receives the cash or stock listed on the foil}.
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44.

45,

46.

47.

48.

50.

51.

22 Janugry 2004, call reference HALZ2987857 the sub-postmaster called.
There was a loss in week 43 of £4,230,97. This was an unknown error. That
means that the sub-postmaster should not transfer the loss into the suspense
account.

22 lanuary 2004, call reference H21268317 a disabled customer’s card had
arrived in an incorrect name of Bernice instead of Denise and the sub-postmaster
wanted to speak to EDS. An answer was given from the knowledge base.

27 lanuary 2004, call reference H12998552 this refers to a training event in
Scarborough.

to somebody

mithe knowledge

that was;ha technical problem he should
H) that deals with technical issues.
=postmaster it appeared that he wasg
sact] ; A this could be the case. [What doss

dvised to balance and roll for a definite figure and to call

looked at the REMs declaration and the cash flow. No trace of the discrepancy was

found and this was referred to the suspense account team to review,

29 January 2004, call referance H13005%643 the branch called and stated
there was an unauthorised or unidentified loss of £6,754.09. {what was the
purpose of the cali? Was #t just to report that the foss was
unautharised?].

28 January 2004, call reference HZ1274188 the sub-postmaster wanted to
have his transactional archives [What are transactionsl archives?] looked at
more closely to try to identify what was going wrong with his branch, He was
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52.

53.

54,

56.

57.

58.

59.

having a lot of losses over the past three weeks and thought that there was a
system fault with his remittances. The NBSC followed KB instructions and sent an
e-mail to Adele Kilkoyne [who is she?] so that the postmaster could study his
archives to try to identify what had gone wrong. {what was the result of this?
Pleazse can you follow through with Adele Kilkoyne?].

30 January 2004, call reference HI3011960 the sub-postmaster called in
relation to automated payments: the customer’s account had not apparently been
credited with payment. An answer was provided to the sub-postmaster from the
knowledge base,

30 January 2004, call reference Q13008942 M
Retail Line Manager reported that the sub-postmaster

atherine Oglesby, the
thorised losses of
it had caused the

30 January 2004, the custor
payment. NBSC provided an ans

3 Fehruér 4, the branch asked for a telephone number for Girobank.

3 February 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number for
Hanco fwhat does that stand for? | helpdesk.

4 February 2004, the branch called and asked for the procedure for producing
an overnight cash holding {ONCH) report,

& February 2004, [this entry just says PID has the old address on. What
does that mean?}
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60, & February 2004, the branch called because a customer wished to transfer
£3,000 from her ordinary account to open an investments account. The derk
wanted to know which form was used to process this and whether they could
process it. An answer was supplied from the knowledge base.

61. 10 February 2004, the branch called and asked how to ?7 out coin [dees this
mean change? What do they actually mean here? We need to explain
this to a judge who wouldn't understand what remming out means and
wouldn 't be familiar with the system]

62. 11 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called who had

disabled son and is an appointee at the moment and een told that she could
not be an appointee for her son fwhat is an An answer was
supplied from the knowledge base,

63. 12 February 2004, the sub-postm

64,
week 46. There was an accumt
had applied for a hardship for

65.
out to Post Office Limited. The sub-
hat he should not pay out cash for this cheque. It

is this a call from the sub-postmaster?]. There was a
in‘week 46 accumulated over the last four weeks, Chased 1&E

48. This Was added to the suspense account and the total loss was now
£11,752.78. Mrs Qqglesby was aware of this and was vigiting to assist the sub-
postmaster in completing the form. NBSC spoke to Mrs Qglesby on 25 March.
The sub-postmaster had been suspended and the loss transferred to the late
account.

67. 13 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to arrange a system

check due to small faults he had encountered with the system. He was referred
to HSH.
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68.

69.

70.

71.

72,

73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

16 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called angd reported that the card could
not be read by the system and wanted to know what to do. He was given an
answer from the knowledge base.

16 February 2004, the branch called and stated that the system was unavailahle
and wanted to know whether they could do a withdrawal. They were given an
answer from the knowledge base [what sort of answer would they have been
given?}

156 February 2004, this call simply states Horizon KB0628, [what does this
mean?]

19 February 2004, the branch called a";
riumbers were for transaction processing. “They w given an answer from the

knowledge base.

. the ongoing system prablem. NBSC

this for t?‘fev étmas’cen NBSC called the clerk on Tuesday and she confirmed
that HSH had been in touch. She was giverr a call reference and asked to call
back if she had any further problems.

25 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to speak to HSH
regarding system problems. He was transferred to HSH.

286 February 2004, the branch reported a discrepancy and wanted a call from
service support reference H13071268 because there was a £3,509.68 shortage
and they wanted to use the suspense accounf. The sub-postmaster was advised
that the suspense account team would deal with this until the sub-postmaster role
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78.

79.

83.

84.

85.

had been to the correct cap {what does that mean?]. Claire advised that HSH
was still investigating the problem.

26 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and stated that he was entering
into a smart post item on the system and it was an airsure going to the USA with
the value of £300. The sub-postmaster put the value into the system but the
price did not increase and wanted to know why., NBCS discussed with the sub-
postmaster and went through the procedure with him. It transpired that the sub-
postmaster was [erroneousiy?] entering the high value at the start of the
transaction, so it set the price at the high value compensation rate.

26 February 2004, the sub-postmaster reported £3 _68 unauthorised losses

for week 48. He said that he had an ongoi
investigating. The sub-postmaster was com ie g an
hardship process for previous discrepancie:
were unauthorised, they were entered
hardship process.

Saturday

8 March 2004, the branch called and asked what to do with impounded DWP
pension allowance dockets. The sub-postmaster was advised that DWP fwho are
DWP?T makes the policy, not the Post Office.

8 March 2004, the branch called and asked who the chegue should be made
payable to for premium bonds. An answer from the knowledge base.

9 March 2004, the branch called and asked what the process was for a buy back
pre-order accounting and dispatch. They were given an answer from the
knowledge base.
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86. 10 March 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number for
Chesterfield and were given the answer from the knowledge base.

87. 15 March 2004, the branch called and stated that the balance on the card
account was less than what is in the account and wanted to know what to do.
They were given an answer from the knowledge base.

88. 1% March 2004, the branch called and asked for the address for NAIRN Post
Office and were given an answer from the knowledge base.

89. 18 March 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wa the branch details for

Post Office No, 225840. They were given an answ

S0.

91.

know if there were any losses

92. f
k 40. They were told that there are

4, the auditor wanted to speak to HSH to confirm that the sub-
postmaster had a new base unit fitted. The auditor was transferred to HSH,

97. 24 March 2004, fwhat does declare bureau advise to select edit FI1{Q hung
up mean?i

98. 30 March 2004, NBSC spoke to the new, relief sub-postmaster, Ruth Simpson.

They took NS & I details and would pass to the customer when and if they came
in {what does see DU mean?].
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99. 31 March 2004, the branch called and asked for what the concession number
was for a disabled rod licence. They were given an answer from the knowledge
base.

100.1 April 2004, the branch called and asked how to correct errors. They were

given an answer from the knowledge base.

101.1 April 2004, the new sub-postmaster stated that she could not balance a roll
over as the system was stating that she had negative/re-valued stock figures.
She was advised to complete the re-valuation whilst still in cap 01 [whHat is cap

©1?]. This would then permit the system to allow her to ver into week 02.

102.2 April 2004, the branch had received ocean li
price. The sub-postmaster was told to rem |
that?] to notify them.

103.13 April 2004, the branch called and wan

mean?]

ed NBSC to contact the sub-

manager ré g:a problem that she is already dealing with. Mrs QOglesby left a

message on voicemail fwhose voicemail? NBSC’s? the sub-postmaster’s?]

108.21 April 2004, the branch called to report a change in the opening hours and the
details were logged.

109. 22 April 2004, the branch called and asked the retail line manager to contact the
branch regarding a problem that they were all dealing with. The message was

passed on by NBSC to Mrs Oglesby.

110.22 April 2004, Mr Castleton’s father-in-law called and stated that his son-in-law
and daughter had been suspended and somebody else had been put in and was
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losing business. He wanted to speak to somebody more senior to Mrs Oglesby.
His message was passed to the area office for HOA to get in touch with Mr Franks
[what is HOAT]

111.22 April 2004, a call was taken from the sub-postmaster’s father-in-law and he

was given an answer from the knowledge base.

112.23 April 2004, Mr Castleton wanted to know if there was any way of printing out
all the calls he had made to NBSC and for them to be sent to him. He was
advised that if he wanted information regarding calls made to NBSC, he should

make his request in writing to Adele Kilcoyne of NBSC.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness state

SIGNEA occrccirmammiirmsorsrmsisbrsssmnsins v snsonsee:

Date ..ccviinsrinie
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LEE CASTLETON
Defendant/Part 20 Claimant

SECOND WITNESS STATEMENT OF CATHERINE OGLESBY

I, CATHERINE OGLESBY of! GRO :
1AN WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. Since April 2005, I have been a Sales Account Manager for the Post Office Limited
(the Post Office) with responsibility for ensuring that 24 directly managed post
office branches achieve their sales targets. Before that, I was a Retail Line
Manager (RLM) for approximately 8 years. As an RLM, I was responsible for
ensuring that sub postmasters in 85 sub post offices properly carried out their
duties to maintain service standards (for example, in relation to waiting times and
office appearance) and reach sales targets. I have worked for the Post office for
23 years.

2. 1 make this witness statement from facts within my own knowledge unless
otherwise stated. 1 have had the benefit of reading through my correspondence
and papers. References to page numbers in this witness statement are to page
numbers of Exhibit CO2 to this witness statement.

Post Office branch at GRO
3. 1 have been asked to give a brief overview of the layout of ! GRO
GRO i(the Marine Drive branch) and describe how the business

works, for the benefit of the Court. At pages 1 to 3 are office copy entries which
show that Mr Lee Castleton and Mrs Lisa Marie Castleton have been the registered
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proprietors of the freehold since 17 October 2003 and that they bought the
freehold on 18 July 2003. At page 4 is a rough plan I have drawn from memory
of the interior of the Marine Drive branch [Cath, please can you draw and send
to me a rough plan of the ground floer?]. The ground floor of the freehold
contains a rectangular shaped shop and from the entranceway, the Post Office
counter is in the far left hand corner of the shop. The shop counter and National
Lottery till are on the right as you enter the shop. [dre there living quarters
upstairs for Castieton]?

4. From 18 July 2003 to 23 March 2004 Mr Castleton was subpostmaster of the
Marine Drive branch. His contract for services was in the standard format used for
subpostmasters at the time and a copy of that contract together with the signed
page is at pages [ ] (the Contact).

4 -
&
o xi
5. Section 1, paragraph 3 of the Contract piwvides that the subpostmaster must Q‘

provide and maintain at his own expeﬁ:sg%s; reasonable office accommeodation
required by the Post Officer and pay, also at his own expense, any assistants he
may need to carry on post Office businesé; At the material time, Mr Castleton “""i}
retained Christine Train as his assistant @%’o work behind the Post Office counter <
and 1 believe that she had worked at the Marine Drive branch for many years.
[Do you remember whether anyone else worked behind the 2.0 counter
ton? Mrs Castleton’s wife, Lisa-Marie, worked in the shop. [Do you remember

whether anyone else worked in the shop?] N

w7

6. There are 2 Post Office counter positions at the Marine Drive branch, gach with its
own computer terminal, barcode scanner and printer. Before open of business
each day, the subpostmaster and any assistant logs on to their computeri‘,ﬂhey
must record all transactions they perform on their computer. They can record
transactions either by using their touch sensitive screen or keyboard. The
computer system in the branches is called Horizon. Horizon is in effect, a
sophisticated computerised calculator.

Sl (v st cecetd o G0 oA é&ﬁxﬁw’\' < Yoo e lf"é"aay&g S Y
7. 5% every transaction @{)recorded by the subpostmaster and his assistant on to

their somputer has one or sometimas more corresponding physical documents.

For example, when a customer pays their TV license, the subpostmaster will

retain the TV licence counter foil. If that customer paid for their licence by

cheque, the subpostmaster will also have the cheque.
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8. [Do you feel comfortable saying this para?] At the end of each day, the
subpostmaster prints from their computer various reports. The procedure is
slightly different for different products, but broadly speaking, they then compare
these reports against the physical documents they have (such as cheques or
licence counterfoils) to ensure they match. They then send the reports and
accompanying documents off to be processed. When these are processed, if the
covering report printed out from the branch's computer does not match the
accompanying physical documents, an error notice is generated. An error notice
is a correction statement. Its creation would help explain whether there was any
legitimate reason for an error having been made (for example, because
subpostmaster or his assistant made an incorrect entry into the computer when

recording a transaction).

[T
o

9. At the material time, the subpostmaster also had to balance "'br'\.a weekly basis *

and produce a cash account., The cash account contained information such as
cash and stock in hand at the end of that week, receipts, payments, the balance

due to the Post Office and whether there were any discrepancies such as a surplus ;"5
or shortfall. The subpostmasters had to sign the cash account to certify that it is/

accurate.

e
December 2003 N

NS
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10. Between approximate%fiy Christmas 2003 and the New Year, I was contacted by

telephone by Mr Casii%e:ton who told me that on week 39 (the week ending 23
December 2003), he had been £1,100 short in his cash account. We discussed
what might be th&-umlal explanation for this, for example the Giro Bank error or
cheque deposits going through as cash. I suggested that he contact Giro Bank and
National Savings to see if there were any problems. [ also asked him to make

good the sum of £1,100, because a Giro Bank error notice may take up to 8 weeks

to arrive. Mr Castleton said that he could make the amount good and weﬁ,}&fg
things at that.

11. This had been the first time since Mr Castleton took.ﬂv,wﬁ%‘f"'”t”ﬁ; Post Office in July
2003 that he had any major problems in balancing;’:"vCopies of the Cash Accounts
signed by Mr Castleton for the weeks ending 23 December 2003 (cash account
week 39), 30 December 2003 (cash account week 40), 7 January 2004 (cash
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account week 41) and 14 January 2004 (cash account week 42) are at pages 53 to
91.

Shortfalls in January 2004

12.
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15.

14.

In accordance with my normal visiting plan, I visited the Marine Drive Branch on
Friday 16 January 2004, At the time, no reason had come to light to explain the

loss of £1,100. The previous 3 weeks’ bws seemed to be fine.

Vo m&@&mr@mﬁ&& o Lo

because his b@lance Was over £4 000 short. A copy of the Cash Account he signed
for that wee@% at page 92. I again asked him to contact Giro Bank and National
Savings to sée whether there were any problems. I also asked him whether the
cash was kept secure and who had access to it. Mr Castleton did not believe that
any of his staff could have taken the money. He stated that on this occasion, he
was unable to make good the shortfall. I advised him to contact the helpline to
get a hardship form. (A sub postmaster is contractually obliged to make good any
shortfalls without delay. However if a sub postmaster cannot immediately make
goods the shortfalls, he may complete and submit a hardship form setting out
details of his earnings and other relevant information to seek the Post Office’s
permission to make good the shortfalls by instalment payments rather than

immediately).

We also discussed at length ways for him to double check all of the paperwork
leaving the Marine Drive Branch (for example, the giro paying in slips, pension and
allowance dockets and certain types of cheques) and to perform a snapshot each
evening to check the cash. (Effectively, the balance snapshot is just a facility to
allow the sub postmaster to quickly check transactions through the week. It is a
report that contains what the computer believes should be the total cash in stock
figure, not what cash the branch actually does have. It looks at the previous

week’s declared cash in stock and adjusts items as they are sold, so if someone ~

forgets to enter an item that a customer has purchased, then the balance snapshot
figure will be inaccurate).

I contacted Mr Castleton by telephone on or around 28 January 2004 (cash
account week 44). After he said he was a further £2,500 short, again, we had a
lengthy discussion to discuss all the daily workings. A copy of the Cash Account
for that week signed by Mr Castleton is at pages 102 to 111. I brought up in the
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conversation the possibility that somebody might be taking the cash, but Mr
Castleton discounted that possibility. I suggested that he carry out individual
stock unit balancing. Small post offices such as the Marine Drive Branch which has
2 cashier positions run a shared stock system: All the cash and stock is contained
on 1 balance sheet. However, with individual stock balancing, each computer has
its own separate stock and cash balance. Mr Castleton did not wish to do this, as
he felt that Marine Drive Branch did not lend itself to doing this sort of balancing.
I was surprised that Mr Castleton did not take up my suggestion because although
there is some work involved setting up individual stock balancing, it would have

enabled us to identify whether the losses were caused by any individual cashier.

Shortfalls in February 2004

16.

The next week ended 5 February 2005, (cash account week 45) the Marine Drive
Branch was only £25 short (pages 112 to 123) [Caih can you check this
because looking at the cash account, I think it was £25 over this week,
not short]. However, the week after ending 11 February 2004 (cash account
week 46) the Marine Drive Branch was £1,500 short (pages 124 to 135). By now,
after just 4 weeks, the Marine Drive Branch was a total of £8,243.10 short, not
counting the sum of £1,100 that Mr Castleton had made good to start-with.”

visited the Marine Drive branch around this time and asked Mr Castleton whether
he had obtained a Hardship Form. He sald that he hadn't and 1 advised him to

17.

obtain one. I understand that he did &nd he placed théysum of £8,243.10 into the
suspense account. Sub postmasters art;zwtzantra“éfﬁérﬁy obliged to make good all
losses without delay and Mr Castleton should not have been rolling them over each
week. The purpose of having a suspense account was simply so that a shortfall
that a subpostmaster does not immediately made good could be temporarily
moved to the suspense account rather than being left in the cash account. By this
time, I was very concerned and contacted the investigations team and asked them

to carry out an audit.

In cash account week 48 (the week ending 25 February 2004) the short fall for
that week alone was £3,509.18 (pages 148 to 159). Mr Castleton informed me
that he and his assistant Mrs Christine Train spent many hours double checking
the transaction logs to try to prove that it was the computer equipment that was
changing the figures. I asked him if he had found anything, but he had not.
However, he was convinced that since he had a processor changed about the time
the losses started occurring that it was the processor that was causing the losses.

14,.1107486_3 5
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1 asked Mr Castleton to contact Fujitsu serviceg {(who were responsible for
designing, implementing and operating the Horizcg-m system) to obtain a system
check. He did this and the system check came bat;?k fine. 1 asked Mr Castleton to
contact the Horizon system helpline (HS#) which Eﬁ.e did and I understand that he
sent cash accounts to the National Business Sup‘gért Centre (HBSC) to review. I
also asked Mr Castleton to contact the Post Ofﬁcgf"s Transaction Processing section

to see whether there were any error notices pendé?ng.
i

g e

H o
s,
4,

18. On 27 February 2004, 1 visited the Marine Dz;ﬁve Branch ‘and we discussed the ™.,
fosses shown in the various cash account fig§ires again. Mr Castleton became ‘\
dlstressgd‘qgﬂ Mw%?dandkglffgnam was alS?{HEE\et. I asked them what else I %
could do'to help}, discussed all the‘usual ‘possibititiés, Mr Castleton and

Mrs Train repeated that they had not taken the money and that it must be the

Horizon system. Mr Castleton stated that HSH had confirmed that the Horizon
system was_working. correctly, but he was not sure precisely what, HSH had e
ook Ve el {\emh% e i

checked:, &

19. Mr Castleton thought tQit the g,“_computer processors were not communicating with
fe ol l’?k"
each otherﬁa@@that when fie remmed in the stock the Horizon system altered the

Nw‘ﬁw“ {(When stock or cash (“a remittance”) is delivered to a branch, the sub ”i
postmaster is obliged to physically check that the stock and cash matches that ‘
H

which the Post Office say is delivered fdo they get a covering note or stock fist }
with the delivery? If not, how does the shpmr know what the P.O says is

being delivered?] and enters the details of the remittance into the branch’s ; g,g"' 5
computer, which is called “remming in”). To prove whether or not the Horizon v ;Z““G -
system had changed anything I suggested that he: : \J \r}’)
K‘ﬁi o'l
a. firstly print out an end of day snapshot; |
%
b. remmed in; and then 3\
n

C. print out a second snapshot.

I advised that if the 2 computer processors were not communicating, then work

. done on the second machine would not show up on the summary sheets.
However, all the Pensions and Allowances reports and the Gire Bank receipts
agreed with the information from the computer, which to me suggested that thergf

Lwas no computer error. e

“1.\”
.,
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Shortfalls in March 2004

20. In the week ending 3 March 2004 (cash account week 49), Mr Castleton
transferred the previous weeks balance to the suspense account. The suspense
account then totalled £11,752.78. In addition, the Marine Drive Branch Cash
Account showed a further shortage of £3,512.26 (pages 160 to 171). Mr Castleton
did not make good this amount.

21. In the week ending 10 March 2004 (cash account week 50) the previous week’s
shortage of £3,512.26 was rolled over and the shortage in the cash account
increased to £10,653.11 (pages 172 to 183).

22. In the week ending 17 March 2004 (cash account week 51), the Marine Drive Y
Branch showed a shortage in the cash account of £11,210.56 plus a shortage in %'mmp/ mv\)

g G, e
the suspense account of £11,752.78 (pages 184 to 189). = }i.. (;>~ i @?é }7
FY S S\
1o f-ﬁ :j? %} N ?}}V
Audit on 23 March 2004 AN .
At o

23. On 23 March 2004, Helen Rose (nee Hollingworth) of the Posgf Office carried out an
audit of the Marine Drive Branch together with Chris Ta;ylm‘?F The audit concluded
that there was a total unauthorised shortfall of £25,758.75 (page 1).

24. 1 arrived at the Marine Drive Branch in the afternoon of 23 March 2004 and took
Mr Castleton into the back room to speak to him. 1 told him that as a
precautionary measure, and with his permission, I would like to remove him and
his staff from the Marine Drive Branch and to operate the branch with a temporary
post master to see how it would balance. I wanted the temporary subpostmaster
to retain the same Horizon system that Mr Castleton and his team had been
working with to try and keep everything the same. Mr Castleton and his assistant
Mrs Train were both angry. Mr Castleton said that he could not wait until the
temporary sub postmaster was “thousands short next week” and that “heads will
roll” for the distress that he had suffered.

25. On the same day, Lesley Joyce (the Post Office’s contract manager) wrote to Mr

Castleton to confirm that he was suspended as a precautionary measure pending
further investigations (page 3).

1A_1107486_3 7



Events following Mr Castieton’s suspension

26.

27.

28.

29.

I asked a very experienced post master, Mrs Ruth Simpson, from the First Lane
Post Office in Hull if she would run the Marine Drive Branch on a temporary basis.
Mrs Simpson agreed, but was only able to run the Marine Drive Branch for a few
weeks as she had other commitments. She opened the Marine Drive Branch on
the morning of Wednesday 24 March 2004 and balanced £2.14 short on that night.
She brought with her a part time assistant to help out on Mondays. On the close

of business on the first Momay E@wggk ending 31 March 2004), she was £100

short and explained tl%%? ?ﬂs was because her assistant had left something in the
stack and erroneously paid this amount twice. (The stack is an on screen list of
transactions for the individual customer that is being served at the time. Each
time a new customer is served, the stack should be cleared so that it starts from
zero). A copy of the Cash Account for that week is at pages 196 to 201.

I telephoned Mr Castleton to see what his reaction would be. He stated that Mrs
Simpson was only using 1 computer rather than 2 as he had done, so it was not a
true reflection of how he ran the Marine Drive Branch. He also stated that Mrs
Simpson had misbalanced (i.e there was a shortfall of £100). I said that I would
speak with Mrs Simpson regarding his concerns. I contacted her and asked her to
use both machines. She stated that on a Monday she had 2 people working all
day, so 2 machines were used. The rest of the week she was on her own, but
logged on to the system with 2 usernames and had 2 machines running, she was
serving customers from both machines, remming in on both and putting the lottery
cash on both.

On the week ending 7 April 2004 (cash account week 02), Mrs Simpson was
£19.38 over (pages 202 to 207). We discussed how she was getting on every
other day and she would text me to confirm that she was okay. On her next
balance for the week ending 14 April 2004 (cash account week 03) she was £10.76
short (pages 208 to 213).

On 16 April 2004, I visited the Marine Drive Branch and spoke to Mr Castleton
away from the counter. He was distressed. We discussed Mrs Simpson’s balancing
results. Mrs Train wanted to know where the £100 shortage had gone in Mrs
Simpson’s first full week and I explained what she had thought. Mrs Train became
aggressive and threatening. I said that I felt the balance reflected any normal

1A_1107486_3 8
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30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

Sub-Post Office. Mr Castleton again stated that it was the computer that was
making the losses. I told Mr Castleton that Mrs Simpson would be finishing on
Wednesday 21 April 2004 due to other commitments and said that I wanted more
time and more balance results and wanted another temporary subpostmaster to
take over. Mr Castleton said that he did not wish to go back on the counter as
things stood anyway.

On the week ending Wednesday 21 April 2004, (cash account week 04) there was
a surplus for the week of £0.02 (pages 214 to 219). Mr Greg Booth took over as
temporary Sub-Postmaster on the same day. He completed his first week on
Wednesday 28 April 2004 and declared a gain of £14.76 (pages 220 to 225).

On 23 April, Mr Franks (Mr Castleton’s father-in-law) contacted me by telephone
to discuss the way in which Mr and Mrs Castleton had been treated. I explained
the situation and told him that the suspension was a precaution and that I was
hoping that by having a temporary Sub-Postmaster in the office, that if there were
any problems with the computer equipment, this would come to light. Mr Franks
demanded that Mr Castleton be reinstated immediately. I referred him to the Post
Office Head of Area, David Mellows-Facer and told him that I could not agree to
reinstate Mr Castleton at the time. I understand that Mr Franks spoke with David
Mellows-Facer and asked for a speedy conclusion to the situation. David Mellows-
Facer spoke to me and asked me whether Mr Castleton could be interviewed as

soon as possible.

On 26 April 2004, I wrote to Mr Castleton and stated that there was a shortage of
£25,758.75 and that he had reported large, unexplained losses over the preceding
12 weeks. I asked him to explain the reasons why his contract should not be
terminated summarily (pages 4 and 5).

On 28 April 2004, Mr Castleton replied and queried whether the losses existed or
whether they were “a figment of a computer’s imagination”. He asked me to send
to him various documents and information (pages 6 and 9).

1 contacted the Transactions Processing Department again on 29 April 2004 to see
whether there were any outstanding error notices. There was an error for the
National Lottery that had yet to be investigated for £125. There had also been an
error for cheques that later cleared and did not generate an error notice. There
was also an error for an Easy Access Account that had been processed incorrectly.

1A_1107486_3 9
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35.

36.

37.

38.

I contacted Girobank to see whether there wew any errors outstanding with them.
I asked them to look back to week 43, Thegfe logked back as far as week 43 and
came forward to week 02. There was a small ;:error of £1.43, but that would not be
reported. Everything else was fine.

E’,;? P a_:_;fvﬁw\‘& s el
Mr Castleton telephoned me on 4 May 2004 and stated that he had found £15,000
of the losses. I asked him where he had found the cash. He stated that the
suspense account had doubled the figures. When he had put the cash into the
suspense account, although the amount was showing in the suspense account, it
was aiso stili showing as a loss in the cash account again the next week. Mr
Castleton asked for the suspense account software to be checked. 1 again
contacted the NBSC to request this,

To test whether the suspense account was having any effect on the balance, I
contacted the temporary Sub-Postmaster, Greg Booth on or around 5 May 2004. 1
asked him how he was balancing that week on his snapshots. He told me that he
had a few pounds over. I told Mr Booth what Mr Castleton had said about the
suspense account. [ asked Mr Booth to put £100 into the shortages line on the
suspense account. First he ran an office snapshot (pages 232 to 233), then he
placed the £100 into the account, then he ran a second snapshot (pages 234 and
235) and a suspense account report (236 and 237). During this time, the same
Horizon kit was still being used by the assistant. The £100 was in the correct place
and the cash figure on the snapshot had changed by £100. This demonstrated that
the system worked correctly, 1 asked Mr Booth to balance with those amounts still
in the account. He should balance £100 over. I would then call into the Marine
Drive branch on 7 May 2004 and we would take the amount out, to see if the
opposite occurred. Mr Booth left me a message on my telephone later that
evening to state that he had balanced over, just as we had expected.

For the week ending 5 May 2004 (cash account week 06), the Marine Drive branch
declared a small gain of £103.11 (pages 226 to 231).
ler o Men en mma B2

On 6 May 2004, I wrote to Mr Castletort and sent to him a copy of an email from
Fujitsu and logs of calls to the NBSC and HSH (pages 10 to 20). I also sent to him
a copy of the Horizon System User Guide, System Failure Sub-Sections 12 and 13
and a copy of the Audit Report (pages 21 to 37). The email from Andrew Price at
the NBSC dated 20 April 2004 to me stated:

1A_1107486_3 10
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“The PM sent cash account information to NBSC and it was looked at by
Andrew Wise, he was unable to find any errors. The only amount questioned
was a large amount on the cheques to processing centre which Andrew was

able to confirm was a cheque for the purchase of Premium Bonds. The PM -

was advised there was nothing more we could do and we suggesté&’?ﬁghe
works on a manual system at the side of Horizon to see if any problems
were highlighted. Also, when doing the REMS the PM should take a snapshot
before and after to see if any problems were occurring when doing a
remittance. Andrew Wise and I both feel that the Horizon system is working

properly and we are unable to help the PM any further.”

39. The email from Julie Welsh, Service Delivery Manager HSH Fujitsu Services stated:

40.

41.

“There is no evidence whatsoever of any system problem... please tell the PM
that we have investigated and the discrepancies are caused by the
difference between the transactions they have recorded on the system and
the cash they have declared, and are not being caused by the software or

hardware.” (page 42).

On 6 May 2004, 1 also contacted the Transaction Processing Department at
Chesterfield again to check whether there were any outstanding errors. Only the
easy access error was still showing. 1 also contacted Mr Castleton by telephone
and informed him that [ had received his letter and was doing all 1 could to get
him the information he had requested. I said that I would probably not be able to

obtain everything that he had asked for.

On 7 May 2004, 1 visited Greg Booth at the Marine drive branch, as arranged.
First he ran an office snapshot (pages 238 to 239), then he removed the £100
from the suspense account and ran a second snapshot (pages 240 to 241) and a
suspense account report (242 to 243). Again, the cash figure in the snapshot and
the suspense account had changed by £100 which demonstrated that the system

worked correctly.

Interview with Mr Castleton on 10 May 2004

42, On 10 May 2004, I interviewed Mr Castleton. Ms Lesley Joyce (Contract Manager)

and Mrs Train were also present. A copy of the Minutes of the interview meeting
are at pages 43 to 45. At the interview, I explained that it was his opportunity to
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43.

44,

45.

46.

give any explanation as to why his contract for services should not be terminated.
I summarised the events which lead to his suspension on 23 March 2004 due to an
unexplained shortage at that time of £25,758.75. During the 12 weeks prior to
this audit, the Marine Drive Branch had several large unexplained losses. The
figure for cash on the system was not the same as the physical amount of cash at
the Marine Drive Branch. Mr Castleton stated that the Horizon system was to
blame.

I informed Mr Castleton that since he had been suspended, the same Horizon
system had remained in place and that there had not been any further complaints
about it from the Marine Drive Branch and that the cash account showed no large
losses. The Horizon system did crash whilst Mrs Simpscn was running the branch,
but when she rebooted it, this did not effect the balance. When Mrs Simpson had
finished, Mr Booth was appointed as a temporary sub postmaster, and again, he
had no problems.

Mr Castleton stated that he had not taken any money and that he trusted his staff
not to have taken anything. Mr Castleton said that he had asked for 10 pieces of
information and I explained that I had only received his letter 2 working days prior
to the interview and that I was working on obtaining this.

I checked that Mr Castleton understood how the cash account worked with regards
to balances and losses and gains and he confirmed he understood it. I then went
into detail with balances, error notices, losses etc and the evidence I had with the
snapshots and declared cash. I provided all of this information to Mr Castleton,
together with a list of the results of the balance.

At the end of each day the subpostmaster is supposed to count their cash [is that
right?], type the details into their computer stating the quantity of each
denomination they have and then print a cash declaration [fs this exactly the
same thing as the ONCH report?] to declare the quantity of cash in the tills
overnight. I referred Mr Castleton to some of the cash declarations which had
been manually altered or written on. Specifically I referred him to week 47 and
also the declaration on 12 February 2004 which had a figure of approximately
£7,000 written onto the bottom of the cash declaration. Mr Castleton thought it
was Mrs Train’s writing, but she was not sure. I said this was very important
because although the cash account for week 462 showed a loss of £8,243.10ithe
following snapshots and dectared cash did not métch. For example:

W@L’& - LN ‘v“‘w ¢

e
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(a) The balé,pce snapshot timed at 5.27\&:\.m. on 13 FebrgJary 2004 (page ) showed
that the""'r-{vlarine Drive Branch neede‘d £92,095.36 i«::ash to achieve a perfect
balance. ?he cash declaration shows that the branch had cash of £99,128.40
(page ), an-apparent-gain of £7,033.4400.8. Lo Tlrize— lae = L Vu@z
£
(b) The balance snapshot at 14 February 2004 showed that the Marine Drive
Branch needed £95,896.59 to achieve a perfect balance (page ), but the cash
declaration showed that it actually had £102,706.10 (page ), an apparent
gain of £6,809.51.

(c) The balance snapshot of Monday 16 February 2004 showed that the Marine
Drive Branch needed £77,958.28 to achieve a perfect balance (page ), but
the cash declaration showed that it had £84,909.54 (page ), an apparent gain
of £6,951.26.

(d) The balance snapshot dated Tuesday 17 February 2004 showed that the
Marine Drive Branch needed £68,163.08 to achieve a perfect balance (page ),
but the cash declaration showed that he actually had £74,939.85 (page ), an
apparent gain of £6,776.77.

In other words, according to the cash declarations, the Marine Drive branch had
more cash than it required to balance.

47. Crucially, the cash account on Wednesday 18 February 2004 showed that the
cash is an exact match for the cash required on the balance. I asked Mr Castleton
where the surplus had gone. He had no explanation and stated that it was
something to do with Horizon. I gave Mr Castleton other examples where there
were shortages in subsequent weeks and that they did not match the snapshot in
the cash declaration.

48. 1 explained to Mr Castleton that the Horizon system is a double entry accounting
system and that everything I had checked worked through. The evidence does not
support Mr Castleton’s theory that the Horizon system went wrong when he

entered the stock remittances on to the system.

Post interview

1A_1107486_3 13
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49. After the interview, I sent copies of the cash and suspense accounts to Elizabeth
Morgan and Davlyn Cumberland in Leeds who were two people very experienced
in dealing with the suspense accounts. Neither of them could see anything wrong
with the way that the computers were working.

50. On 14 May 2004, I wrote to Mr Castleton to clarify the entries at the top of the
final balance that he had queried and to explain why the 2 final balances he had
mentioned did not look similar (page 46). I also sent him a copy of the interview
notes.

Mr Castieton’s dismissal

51. Mr Castleton did not provide any evidence of a computer problem. All the entries
in his cash accounts were double checked. The figure declared for cash on the
systemn did not match the physical amount of cash he had in his office. This
showed that there was an actual loss, rather than a computer probiem.

52. Mr Castleton denied taking the cash, but he would not take my advice to try
individuail balancing, or listen to my suggestion that a member of his staff might
be taking the money.

{
53. The Transaction Processing Department at Chesterfield and Girobank have stated 5)
that they had no outstanding error notices to issue. Fujitsu Services had checked “‘M;
the software and could not find any propie - éng &
\SQ; é.,,‘i e v
V) e Gx EUZ '%' 7
oo Y
54. Since Mr g:éstleton had been suspended, the temporary sub postmasters had u
workeg- Aith exactly the same Horizon kit and the balance had continued to be 0
\\v 5
fine< each day. In the circumstances, I decided to terminate summarily Mr "y d
Castleton’s Contract, due-te-the-farge i ined-lesses—th Farttert o <
mﬁk@”@ﬁﬁ&%ﬁm&h@%@%ﬁ@% ? wrote to Mr Castleton on 17 May 2004 to j’ : i",
PR 4
confirm that I had decided to terminate summarily the Contract effective from 23 i,k—%}g v
A
March 2004, the date of his suspension (pages 47 to 48). gg*”‘l‘%%};

Events following Mr Castleton’s dismissal
55. On 23 May 2004, Mr Castieton wrote to me to confirm that he wished to appeal

against my decision (page 49). He also stated that he was seeking further
information relating to the computer fault. On 1 June 2004 he wrote directly to

1A_1107486_3 14
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David Mellows-Facer for this information (page 50). On 2 June 2004, David
Mellows-Facer replied to Mr Castleton (page 51). Fuhdarstand-that Mr Castleton’s
appeal was dealt with by Mr John Jones, Area Development Manager, which
upheld my decision.

56. In the circumstances, I believed (and still believe) that my decision to dismiss Mr
Castleton was entirely justified.

Outstanding indebtedness

, PN
i & o «"‘““"”\ v i

57. At gagﬁl { } is 8 Former Subpostmasters Aécounts Statement of Outstandm fashyt,
Thg&s éﬁ%s that the owtstandmg mdebtedness (exciudmg mterest} is £25,858.95.
v

atild perhaps claré‘y that the foﬂowmg error noUceﬁ were not issued until 24
i \ but that M’?eiate to 23 March 2006, when Mr Castleton was still |n ¢

T o,
',

%

3

¥
H
H
§

:(’a) £176 of this relates to a lottery charge error (i.e. an erro};s;’»"ﬁnotice
against the subpostmaster) (pages ); and s

(b) £35 80 ryétes to a lé}\ttery claim error {w‘ @\p error not}ce in favour of
the “sufpostmaster) (pgges ). },,af“' \Q ,@*"/

vy \Q\.\\._,,.,'.-‘f'
Y, e

I believe that the facts stated in this Witness Statement are true.

YT T2 1=Ts FOO VU UV RUR Py

GRO

Dated....ccvovimrvrinr cvarinissnrvseress sinsraessessinienee 2006
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANNE CHAMBERS
I, ANNE CHAMBERS of | GRO

8SN WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. I am a System Specialist e I have worked for Fujitsu
(previously ICL) since 1978. 1 h

known as Horizon, which is a computerise

dge of the computer system

cunting éQstem used by Post Office

ised by Fi jitsu Services to view extractions of audit
m and to obtain system transaction information

3. Any records o hich I refer in my statement form part of the records relating to
the business of Fujitsu Services. These were compiled during the ordinary course
of business from information supplied by persons who have or may reasonably be

supposed to have personal knowledge of the matter dealt with in the information
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supplied, but are unlikely to have any recollection of the information or cannot be
traced. As part of my duties, I have access to these records. A MWL T fﬁ{ Lﬁ?c&

e wf;f’w LB
System Support Cenire \B g/i«( s

4. Calls from Post Masters relating to potential system problems are initially taken
and logged by the Horizon System Helpdesk (HS$H). Business issues, which
include problems with discrepancies when balancing the branch accounts, are
expected to be handled in the first instance by the National Business Support
Centre (MBSC), run by the Post Office. If these helpdesks are unable to resolve

re (88C), the unit in

h'; information than do

the problem, calls may be passed to the System Support Cer
which I work. I have access to much more detailed
the other units.

5. My initial involvement with the investigatio 'v as on 267 Februar"y":é{)p,g, when call

reference e-0402251077 was assigned to ). The call C'Fd\ss-referred

several other closed calls at pages, {do they need to be included explicitly

e-0402130267, e-e-

3

@13..00.36 18/02/04 (page ) - the call
fter the event occurred. The Known Error Log entry
_ pecific symptoms of this instance. Upon checking
undredé of branches had had the same event at the same
Iready been investigated by another member of the SSC on
f1 18/02/2004 e-0402180803

eference and exhibit cal

and in no waij affected the branch accounts.

P ol
e O

{y:\.& waf \_}& b

Continuing discrepancies {several calls) / 4 ‘gﬂ&x

& 7. { 1 checked for any mral reconc{llatlon reﬁb?’l;,entrles for the branch which might
%h&i& gj;:mw o indicate a system ‘problem, Varxou;%ﬁﬁjﬁ checks occur at the end of each day.
?bi 3 ﬂ/w“"‘”"“‘For exampte, the gateway terminal (i.e. the particular computer at the branch

o through which data is uploaded to the central data centre) will total all the

transactions completed on both terminals during the day. The total is transmitted
to the central data centre and compared with the total transactions received at
the data centre from the branch, to ensure that all transactions recorded at the

1A_1208412_1 2
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branch have reached the data centre. If the gateway terminal is not in
communication with the second terminal, the totals are not calculated until
communications are restored.

8. Further checks are made when the sub-postmaster has produced the weekly cash
account at the end of the financial week - normally Wednesday. The cash
account lines are produced by processing the entire week’s transactions as
recorded at the branch, the paper copies of the cash account are printed, and the
electronic copy is sent to the data centre. Each day, the gateway terminal has
added up the day’s transactions according to where they shouid appear in the

. The data centre also

cash account, and summarises them at the end of the weg

produces a weekly cash account based on all the tras ons received from the

branch during the week. There are thereforg

accounts:
a) The official branch weekly cash acco

b) The branch daily account, summarised a

c)

transactions recor h hi#d reached the data centre and had been

e official:Branch cash account. My checks covered at least two

any cash, stamp and stock declarations or adjustments made at the branch. 1
looked primarily at one of the latest financial weeks ~ I cannot remember now
whether I checked week 47 or 48.

11. Cheques were handled correctly as far as the system was concerned. I checked
the remittance out of the cheques, which is normally done several times a week,
as the sub-postmaster had reported a problem with this on 10 February (call
reference e-0402130267) (page ). I found that on that one day, the cheque
listing report was not cut off after the day’s cheques had been remmed out. ‘Cut
off’ involves pressing a button on the system to confirm that you have completed
processing of the report, so that when the report is next printed, it will include

1A_12084612_1 3
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only transactions done after the cut-off point. Since the report was not cut off,
when next printed, it still included the cheques that had already been despatched.
I confirmed that the total value of cheques remmed out of the system equalled
the values of cheques received, and so the failure in process did not cause any
financial discrepancy.

ui\-}{;/ \9;\

. Following up a fus:%{er point from call reference e-0402130267, I noticed that

occasionally, wé’ien they declared the cash held in the office at the end of the
working day? they did not always use the same declaration identification number.
For example if a sub-postmaster uses number 01 and enters £10,000 and then
changes their number and uses 11 to record it elsewheﬁ “the system will think
that, at that point, the branch has £20,000 whereas it only has £10,000. I
checked to make sure this had not been done when'they deciéﬁed the cash at the

end of the financial week, and it had not.

wte sk

\j \ P é{‘*i§ &'\ia&)lws’ Ef"‘?/ Kf.%}‘:“

5 discover that at the end of each day, the cash the branch

declared in __he ‘drawer was tens, hundreds or thousands of pounds astray from

what they had recorded on the system. This meant that it was possible that the
sub-postmaster was not accurately recording all transactions on the system at the
time the cash was physically being put into or taken out of the till. This is not
necessarily a problem, as long as everything is entered and declared correctly by
the end of the financial week, but does suggest that they are not working
accurately, and it meant I couid not link the weekly loss to any particular day.

There was no evidence whatsoever of any system problem, but the continuing
losses and calls suggested they needed some business assistance. I therefore
contacted a colleague, Julie Weish, in Fujitsu Customer Services, and asked her to
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inform Post Office (page ). I updated the call with a summary of my investigation
and returned it to HSH, requesting they contact the sub-postmaster and explain

that we had investigated and the discrepancies were caused by the difference
&&mew

between the transactions they had recorded on the system and the cash they
declared, and were not being caused by the software or hardware. { wEAS 1 Al L@,
C)E

§ B bagad oS RN whvda Ve et 26,

/ ek oy N Ve Aesses -
e
Drive branci;_fbr if not, any respect in whic
5 such as }Kaffect the production of cash account or
/ their cgfitents.
i y,
H ¢
s'é. .T
‘ 1 believe that the facts stated in this w 2nt are true.
/
/
i
/
é
i
\
%.
,_ o\
" ¢ : » S CAL L Gty LS
:r&u;‘:‘}‘“ PP %g‘}g}&,_mw {\% &y \V) [ (ﬂe.;“_;gg \> N {. [
{ L7
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANDREW PAU

I, ANDREW PAUL DUNKS of |

1involved in IT Security for
itsu to undertake extractions of

1 and to obtain information regarding
sed on the Horizon system.

2. 1 make this Wi
oth i ted.

hibit "AD1” to this Witness Statement. Any records to
ent form part of the records relating to the business
ere compiled during the ordinary course of business from

but are ﬁ'm‘;kély to have any recollection of the information or cannot be

traced. As part of my duties, I have access to these records.
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HSH Call Logs

5.

An important element of the support provided to subpostmasters and Counter
Clerks is the Horizon System Helpdesk (H&H). The HSH is the Horizon user’s
first ‘port of call’ in the event of their experiencing a problem with the Horizon
system or requiring advice and guidance. If the system were to malfunction,
upon discovery the Horizon users (i.e. the sub-postmaster or counter clerk)
would raise a call to the HSH seeking clarification or advice. HSH is a service
run by Fujitsu for the Post Office., I have been asked to provide details and
information on the calls for advice and guidance logged by HSH recorded
during the period 1 December 2003 to 23 April 2004 for the 14 Marine Drive
South, Bridlington Post Office - FAD (Financial Accounting Division) Code
213337 (the Marine Drive branch)

e Drive branch and

I have reviewed the HSH calls pertaining to, 'Z'.}e Ma
during the period 1 December 2003 to 23 April 2004 there
the Marine Drive branch to HSH (5 of W ch occurred after
ded). I am
have had an effect on the

23 calls from
March 2004

that none of these calls relate to faults wh
integrity of the information held on the system. . Details and an overview of the

calls are given in date orde

ference e-03120802861 The sub-

8 December 2003, &5’ i, call

his terminal. He rebooted, inserted his PMMC/pin
stinue. The call was then closed.

. , 2.08pm, call reference o-0401200574 - this is a log
simply to ;e rd that there was an ASDL update from ISDN [please explain
what ASDL and ISDN stand for]. This was a scheduled visit to the Marine
Drive branch to install broadband. The upgrade was completed, but the

broadband was not turned on at that time.

28 January 2004, 11i.13am, call reference e-040128032% - the call was
taken by Dane Meah at HSH from the caller who stated that there were
discrepancies going through the system for three weeks in a row, The caller was
advised that the problem would need to be thoroughly investigated by the
National Business Support Centre (MBSC) before the issue could be investigated

1412039531 2
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because a software problem and the caller was transferred to the NBSC and the
call closed.

28 January 2004, 10.26am, call reference 04012903588 - a call was
taken by Mary Rainbow at HSH. The sub-postmaster reported that he was having
problems on his system connected to remittances (REMs). The Sub-postmaster
has to enter a remittance when he receives a delivery of new stock, He stated
that every time he entered in the new stock, it left him with a discrepancy. The
Sub Post master was transferred to the NBSC, since this was a business issue and
the call was closed. '

w

to initialise and that he also has

The Sub-postmaster called

recommended that an

node. The enginee ivel .at.1.30pm, replaced the node and the call was

closed.

13 February 2004, 10.46am, call reference e-0402130267 - this call was
taken by Tony Law at HSH, referred from Marie at NBSC. The sub-postmaster
had stated that his system was doubling up cash declarations and cutting off
cheques, yet they still apparently appeared the next day. NBSC advised that they
had checked that he was cutting everything off properly and that the catch figures
were being done correctly. The sub-postmaster had insisted on a system check
being carried out. He said that the problem had been happening for five weeks
and that every time stock had been remmed in, they had a loss that night. The
sun-postmaster also stated that the cheques he had recorded on the 10" were

showing on the 11% February as well.

1A_1203953_1 3
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12, The call was escalated to Heather Dryden at HSH. As a sub-postmaster is
supposed to send cheques to the EDS Processing Centre each evening, the next
day you would expect to see the cheque figures cleared to zero on the Horizon
system. The sub-postmaster, initially stated that this had happened more than
once, but when Heather went through his cheques, it had happened just the once.
It appears that the sub-postmaster forgot to cut off and the cheque listing had
two days worth of cheques in it. There is no option to cut off retrospectively ie if
the sub-postmaster reveals that he has not cut off the previous days cheques,

they will show up the next day and a failure to cut off previously cannot be

corrected later. However, the point is that the system wilv t put the cheques in

the balance and process them twice. It will reconcile gach cheque against the

transaction.

e e-0402160081 ~ David Lawrence
master had called NBSC to
ce Log On (POLG), but were

13. 16 February 2004, 8.32am, call refer
at HSH took a call from Marie at NBSC. The
state that both his terminals were at Post Of

noe e-0402160628 - Tony Law took
ster had stated that he needed an OBCS
ader that gach sub-postmaster has at their terminal
:boolks. T 'g;‘OvECS was checked and the results given
esult was?]. The call was then closed.

O3am, call reference e-0402250454 - A call was taken
clerk reported that they had been having problems on the

remmed in‘ tv‘ ou"éh the week. The clerk reported that over the past 7 weeks,
they have had losses every week and at one point they had a problem with cash
on hand, but they found that this was an issue with ID numbers that had been
resolved. The clerk aiso reported that last week when they rolled over they put a
loss into the suspense account and then took the computer terminal back to the
trial balance which came out with a zero net discrepancy to start the new week
with. The clerk reported that she had printed out a balance snapshot on Monday
and that looked OK, but since then they had remmed in some stock which

appears to have given them a loss.
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16. The clerk was advised that she would need to check her stock position for last
week and then check her rems in summary. This would show the stock that she
should be holding and that figure could be compared with the stock showing in
the adjust stock [what does this mean?] and this would highlight any problems
with the stock on hand. The clerk was advised that we would need her to take
her computer terminal to trial balance this evening and come back to us before
she rolls over so that we can take down any details she can give us. The clerk
confirmed that they are working on a shared stock unit and would call back if
further assistance was required. The balance sheet would show the old
discrepancy until they can do a trial balance. The call was then closed.

17. 25 Pebruary 2004, 12.03pm, call reference e-04 725@5 3 - a call was taken

had problems regarding the balance. The
the PM to call back tonight when they ha
The call was then closed.

18. 25 February 2004, 12.12pm,
by Nicola Goodson at HSH. Jane
had been closed.

a cdll in relation to a call that

ftical event was seen stating “error message. An error
aqdit log”. This call was not generated by the sub-

: ggers a call when there is an unusual event. The call was
Support Centre (88€), so the SMC closed their call. The

action. It re?’é;fs o the level of attention required on a grading system for example
critical high level of attention or warning would be medium level of attention.

20. 25 February 2004, 5.33pm, call reference e-0402251077 - Call was taken
by Kuljinder Bhachu at HSH. The sub-postmaster reported that the branch was
getting large discrepancies for the past few weeks. The closed calls were
reviewed and it was noted that a number of calls had been logged regarding
discrepancies and that the NBSC had been in contact with the sub-postmaster
could not find any user error. Kuljinder spoke to Sandra at NBSC., They checked
the Tivoli events and the system appeared to be OK. Given that a critical event
had been noted earlier that day, the event logs were downloaded for review. The

1A_1203953_1 5
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23.

24,
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sub-postmaster advised that the problem had started ever since the BT engineer
came to move the BT box for preparation for the installation of the ADSL.
Kuljinder recommended that SSC investigate why the sub-postmaster is
experiencing large discrepancies. A known error log (¥EL) reference was given
and the problem was re-assigned within HSH to group EDSC1 [what does this
stand For?]. At this point Anne Chambers of SSC investigated the matter. I note
from the log that she found that there was no evidence whatsoever of any system

problem.

4 March 2004, 8.42am, call reference -0403040165 .

Hayley Minnis, a HSH retail line manager. The caller re

call was taken by
d discrepancies in the
office and was advised to speak to NBSC about thi Jtwas not a HSH issue.

The call was then closed.

4 March 2004, 11.28am, call reference
Elspeth Neilson. The sub-postmaster’'s lir

0524~ A call was taken by
nager stated that the sub-
postmaster was getting larg They were advised that the
discrepancies are caused by th '

recorded on the system and t

& duditor wanted to know when the base unit had
arine Drive branch. They were advised that it was

Opm, call reference e-0403230628 - Call was taken by
: Brett from the NBSC asked for a One Shot Password (G8®)

An QOSP is issued so that the auditor can log on to the sub-
postmaster’s system. An OSP was given and the call was closed.

1 April 2004, 12.45pm, call reference e-0404010718 - A call was taken by
Adam Goldstein at HSH. The new sub-postmaster stated that the screen had
frozen. A check was carried out which showed the events were normal [what
does this mean?] and the sub-postmaster was advised to reboot. The call was
then closed.

1A_1203953_1 6
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19 April 2004, 9.57am, call reference e-0404190387 - A call was taken by
Elspeth Neilson at HSH. The Retail Line Manager (RLM) stated that there had
been discrepancies on the system since the base unit was swapped in February
and wanted to know why. The RLM was advised that events appeared to be
normal and that a health check had been passed. The sub-postmaster was happy
to continue unassisted. The RLM stated that the new sub-postmaster had been in
the office and there had not been any discrepancies in the balance. The RLM was
advised to contact NBSC for advice on balancing. The call was closed.

21 April 2004, 9.10am, call reference e-0404210187 <
David Dawe. The sub-postmaster stated that the gateway was saying to enter the
PMMC and that the screen had been blue for 10 miny ]
to wait for the screen to clear. The sub-postmaster wasitold to wait for 20

calt was taken by

e sub-postmaster had

“sub-postmastéer was told to call
The

minutes and as that screen was normal and. !
back if this had not changed within the ]
closed.

21 April 2004, 1.32pm, call r
Bernard Michael at SMC. This wa
It was when ADSL (broadband), t

actually switched ¢

been successfiy

1 should add that this area is not my particular area of expertise. I have a general
knowledge of these procedures and have made the comments above to aid the
court. o you Feef able to say this: On the basis of my overview of the call logs
there does not appear to be any reascnable grounds for believing that the
information stored on the Horizon system would be inaccurate because of

improper use of the computer terminal.

1 believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.
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EXHIBIT "APDL"

This is the Exhibit marked “AD1” referred to in the Witness Statement of Andrew Paul
Dunks dated August 2006.
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANNE CHAM
I, ANNE CHAMBERS of Fujitsu Services, | GRO

iGROWILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. 1 am a System Specialist emp
(previously ICL) since 1978. 1
known as Horizon, which is a compi

erwise stated. _
iimbers of Exhibit "AC1“ to this Witness Statement.

the business of Fujitsu Services. These were compiled during the ordinary course
of business from information supplied by persons who have or may reasonably be
supposed to have personal knowledge of the matter dealt with in the information

1A_1203719_1 1



supplied, but are unlikely to have any recollection of the information or cannot be
traced. As part of my duties, I have access to these records.

System Support Centre

Cantinuing disg

7.

Calls from Post Masters relating to potential system problems are initially taken
and logged by the Horizon System Helpdesk (HSH). Business issues, which
include problems with discrepancies when balancing the branch accounts, are
expected to be handled in the first instance by the National Business Support
Centre (NBSC), run by the Post Office. If these helpdesks are unable to resolve
tre ($8C), the unit in
m information than do

the problem, calls may be passed to the System Support
which I work. I have access to much more detailed
the other units.

My initial involvement with the investigatio on 26" February 2004, when call

reference e-0402251077 was assigned t
several other closed calls, {do they need &
so I read those too, to get a
branch.

..00.36 18/02/04 (page ) - the call
t occurred. The Known Error Log entry

ancies {several calls)

I checked for any central reconciliation report entries for the branch which might
indicate a system problem. Various built in checks occur at the end of each day.
For example, the gateway terminal (i.e the particular computer at the branch
through which data is uploaded to the central data centre) will total all the
transactions completed on both terminals during the day. The total is transmitted
to the central data centre and compared with the total transactions received at
the data centre from the branch, to ensure that all transactions recorded at the
branch have reached the data centre. If the gateway terminal is not in
communication with the second terminal, the totals are not calculated until

communications are restored.

1A_1203719_1 2
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8. Further checks are made when the sub-postmaster has produced the weekly cash
account at the end of the financial week - normally Wednesday. The cash
account lines are produced by processing the entire week’s transactions as
recorded at the branch, the paper copies of the cash account are printed, and the
electronic copy is sent to the data centre. Each day, the gateway terminal has
added up the day’s transactions according to where they should appear in the
cash account, and summarises them at the end of the week. The data centre also
produces a weekly cash account based on all the transactions received from the
branch during the week. There are therefore effectivel

accounts:
a) The official branch weekly cash account;
b) The branch daily account, summarised at the

¢) The data centre weekly cash account. .

i e data centre and had been
zccount.
ks 47 and 48,

My checks covered at least two

11. Cheques were handled correctly as far as the system was concerned. 1 checked

the remittance out of the cheques, which is normally done several times a week,
as the sub-postmaster had reported a problem with this on 10" February (call
reference e-0402130267) (page ). I found that on that one day, the cheque
listing report was not cut off after the day’s cheques had been remmed out. ‘Cut
off’ involves pressing a button on the system to confirm that you have completed
processing of the report, so that when the report is next printed, it will include
only transactions done after the cut-off point. Since the report was not cut off,
when next printed, it still included the cheques that had already been despatched.
I confirmed that the total value of cheques remmed out of the system equalled

1A_1203719_1 3
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the values of cheques received, and so the failure in process did not cause any

financial discrepancy.

12. Following up a further point from call reference e-0402130267, I noticed that
occasionally, when they declared the cash held in the office at the end of the
working day, they did not always use the same declaration identification number.
For example if a sub-postmaster uses number 01 and enters £10,000 and then
changes their number and uses 11 to record it elsewhere, the system will think
that, at that point, the branch has £20,000 whereas it only has £10,000, I
checked to make sure this had not been done when they deglared the cash at the

end of the financial week, and it had not.

13. &
ny duplicated declara

iat the cash holding

‘was reasonably close to what

alue of the cash transactions

time the cas
necessarily a prbblem, as long as everything is entered and declared correctly by
the end of the financial week, but does suggest that they are not working
accurately, and it meant I could not link the weekly loss to any particular day.

'as physically being put into or taken out of the till. This is not

15. There was no evidence whatsoever of any system problem, but the continuing
losses and calls suggested they needed some business assistance. I therefore
contacted a colleague, Julie Welsh, in Fujitsu Customer Services, and asked her to
inform Post Office. I updated the call with a summary of my investigation and
returned it to HSH, requesting they contact the sub-postmaster and explain that
we had investigated and the discrepancies were caused by the difference between

1A_ 1203719 1 4
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the transactions they had recorded on the system and the cash they declared, and
were not being caused by the software or hardware.

Conclusion

16. There are no reasonable grounds for believing that the information recorded and
stored on the Horizon system would subsequently become inaccurate because of

improper use of the computer terminal. To the best of my knowledge and belief,

during the material time, the Horizon system was operati roperly at the Marine

Drive branch or if not, any respect in which it was n ating properly was not

such as to affect the production of cash account rd, or accuracy of

their contents.

1 believe that the facts stated in this witness stat

SIgNed ..ovorvorcmintnrsnssnsesas ssrsari e

Date i
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Statement: 1
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant
Witness: Ann Chambers
Statement: 1
Exhibits: “ACT"
Date made: "2/ E ,%{8/06
IN THE HIGH COURTYT OF JUSTICE Claim No, HRQOSXO2706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:
POST OFFICE LIMITED Clabmant/Part 20
Defendant
~ and -
LEE CASTLETON Defendant/Part
20 Clabmant
WITHESS STATEMENT OF ANNE CHAMBgRS
| I, ANNE CHAMBERS of Fujitsu Services,i GRO j

8SN WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

.| Deleted: [insert job titie] |
e { Delsted: [insert date ]
o peleted: 1. 1am ’

1.

responsible for [fnsert

stem used by Post Office
i | details]

ion_of problems which are

[ Defeted: undertake ]

{ Deleted: information
L regarding

: { Deleted: processed on the J
| Deteted: :

v' rwise stated. ﬁé@ferences to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to
page niimbers of Exhibit *"AC1” to this Witness Statement.

3. Any records
the business of Fujitsu Services. These were compiled during the ordinary course
of business from information supplied by persons who have or may reasonably be

‘which I refer in my statement form part of the records relating to

supposed to have personal knowledge of the matter dealt with in the information

1A_1194765_1 1
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supplied, but are unlikely to have any recollection of the information or cannot be

, Formatted: Font: Bold

traced. As part of my duties, I have access to these records.

System Support Centre

Calls from Post Masters relating to potential systen
and logged by the Horizon Svst@,___H__p_d_eskg__,

i

call_cross-referred several

1
]
3
P

raised several
did not ma ch

Deleted: Horlzon System

" i Helpdesk and Mational

Business Support Centre9
Al

4. An important element of

the support provided to
subpostmasters and
Counter Clerks is the
Horizon System Helpdesk
{HBH). The HSH is the
Horizon user’s first ‘port of
call’ in the event of their
experiencing a problem
with the Horizon system or
requiring advice and
guidance. If the system
were to malfunction, upon
discovery Horizon users
(Post Master, Counter
Clerk) would raise a call to
the HSH seeking
clarification or advice.
Comprehensive processes
and procedures exist to
manage the receipt,
analysis and final
disposition of cails made to
the HSH. Alf calis to the
HSH are captured by the
Audit Server and stored as
part of the overall Audit
Trail. HSH is a service run
by Fujitsu for the Post
Office.q

A

5. The Post Office also
provides a service to
subpostmasters and
Counter Clerks called the
National Business Support
Centre (8BS&C). This has a
helpline which
subpostmasters can call to
try to resolve any business

related queries.§

19 L[]
Daleted: At this point I
investigated the matter.

The critical event earlier
hat day was part of a
storm i.e. acentral 5]

[ Formatted: Superscript

mdncate a system problem Vanous bun!t in checks occur at the end of each day.

[

Formatted: Font: Bold, Ttalic

(

Formatted: Font: Bold

both terminals during the day. “ﬁ” e tota! rgnsmlttgg to the central data centre

. Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

and_compared with the WI transactions_received at the data centre from the

branghdgﬁuwfg_u"wng recorded at the branch have reached the

centre. Ii/?’he gateway terminal_is_not in_communication with the second

o

ngl, ;gﬁ toggls are not calculated until communications are restored. .

«/0/

P

,&,Jm{ WQV}% ‘f;ﬂ

“{ Deleted: The gate way

terminal will enly send in
information from these built
in checks, once all the
terminals in the brang”

{i‘i %\rﬁ oY
Vie ’Wmm%‘\ “‘" ""‘“’Ba"
1S : 4

i

mc}v\
- uﬂw&t
‘{t) FAnY (gy;{iﬂm\ C&Q\‘fﬁk(ﬁ.f\

)
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Further checks are made when the sub-postmaster has produced the weekly cash ..~ | Deteted: Reports are only

. .1

AT 4

11._Cheques were Handled correctly as faf as the system was concerned, Ichecked

) . produced if there are
account at the end of the financial week - normally Wednesday. The cash discrepancies, A

electronic ¢ is sen ta _centre. .[Each e gateway terminal has J,,,.»{Deleted: is produced and
electronic copy is sent fo the data centre. Each day, the gatgway terminal has | sent to the data centre,

~."{ Deleted: T

A " Deleted:

"1 Deleted: will do daily cash
accounts, This is
surnmarised

Deleted: weekly and

compared to the weekly
branch cash account to
check for discrepancies.

Deleted: which is compared
to the branch weekly cash
accounts

[ Deleted: s

| Deleted: which is
.| accumulated at the
\ | weekend

{cm

( Farmatted: Indent: Left: 0.74 ‘

)

“{ Formatted: Justified, Indent:
Left: 0 om, Hanging: 0.75 ¢m,
Tabs: Not at 0.75 cm

.| Deleted: 28

examined the bre
) -1 Deleted: I checked the
] discrepancies between
ments made at the branch. I . | these three accounts and
N “, | found none.

B N

ed primarily at ohe of the latest financial weeks - I cannot remember now

{ Formatred: Superscript

1 checked week 47 or 48.

53

% L pag T} .

.{ Deleted: (

{ Deleted: )

the remittange. out of the chequuy, which is normally done several times a week, =~ ™.
[ Deleted: also

as the sub-postmaster had f\g/gorted a_problem with this on 10" February (call

{ Deleted: s

referenc_g__gw0402130267)./1 found that on that one day, the cheque listing report
{ Formatted: Superscript

was not_cut off after the day’s cheques had been remmed out. ‘Cut off’ involves
pressing a button on the system to confirm that you have completed processing of

he report h he report is next printed, it will incl nly transactions
done after the cut-off point. Since the report was not cut off, when next printed, .
: . : .| Deleted: were correct which
it still_included the cheques that had already been despatche confirmed that . they were apart from one
the total value of cheques remmed oyt of the system equalied the values of day when the sub-

. R . . . postmaster forgot to cut off
cheques received, and so the failure in process did not cause any financiat | the cheques.
discrepancy.
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12. Following up a further point from call reference -0402130267, I noticed that ) { Beleted: also
occasionally, when they declared the cash held in the office at the end of the
working day, they did not always use the same declaration identification number, .. | Peleted: the sub-
T T e o postrnaster’s identification
For example if a sub-postmaster uses number 01 and enters £10,000 and then declaration number was

used incorrectly

changes their number and uses 11 to record it elsewhere, the system will think

that, at that point, the branch has £20,000 whereas it only has £10,000. J | Deleted: The clerks used 2
“““““ - declaration numbers for
checked to make sure this had not been done when they declared the cash at the daily cash handling, but this
X . . would not affect the weekly

end of the financial week, and.iLhad MOty .. ..o, | balance

{ Deleted: . 1

13. T went through the_cash elements of transactions day by day and compared them

with the overnight cash declarations (ianaring any,duplica i | peteted: )
recorded on the system during the day. For‘e;g;'
was holding £50,000 cash, and d

-{Deleted: :

-1 Deleted: a) Starting cash
position; 4

b) Transaction; and$

c) A system cash figure
which should be close to
the actual cash holding.§

; i Deleted: 29 }

system. This meant that it was possible that the L
tely recording all transactions on the system _at the { Deleted: the }
ssically being put into or taken out of the till. This is not

..as long as everything is entered and declared correctly by

| Beleted: , although if that
‘| had been the case, an error
notice or error notices
45. There was no evidence whatsoever of any system problem, but the continuing .~ would have been generated
""""""""" ) i to explain the discrepancy.
losses and calls suggested they needed business assistance. I therefore q

contacted a colleaque, Julie Welsh, in Fujitsu Customer Services, and asked her to 30

inform_Post Qffice. I updated the call with a summary of my investigation and { Peleted: asked }

returned it to.HSH, requesting they contack.the sub-postmaster and explain that . EZ:‘::: —— )

we had investigated and the discrepancies were caused by the difference between . ( Deleted: are

the transactions they had recorded on the system and the cash they declared, and _(mle& 4 have ’
( Deteted: have ]

{ Deleted: are

1A_1194765_1 4



POL00071231
POL00071231

;| Deleted: 31. 4 Margh
2004, 8.42am, call
reference e-0483040165
- A call was taken by
Hayley Minnis, a HSH retail
line manager, The caller
reported discrepancies in
the office and was advised
to speak to NBSC about
...................................... this, since it was not a HSH

Conclusion

stored on the Horizon system would ¥ subsequently become inaccurate because : is;sue.d ;he call was then
: closed.§

of improper use of the computer terminal. To the best of my knowledge and : q
belief. duri th ial ti he Hori . | 32. 4 March 2004,

elief, during the material time, the Horizon system was operating properly at the 11.28am, call reference
Marine Drive branch or if not, any respect in which it wa rating properly ' €-0403040524- A call was
arine e ch o t, any respect ch it was operating properly : taken by Elspeth Nellson
was not such as to affect the production of cash account or audit record, or : The sub-postmaster’s line

manager stated that the
sub-postmaster was getting
large discrepancies. They
were advised that the
discrepancies are caused by
the difference between the
transactions they have
recarded on the system and
the cash they have
declared and are not being
caused by the software or
hardware. The call was
then closed. §

accuracy of their contents.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

kil

33. 23 March 2004,
11.44pm, call reference
&-0403230583 - Call was
taken by Jacqueline Wilcock
at HSH. The auditor
wanted to know when the
base unit had been
exchanged at the Marine
Drive branch. They were
advised that it was
exchanged on 2 February
2004. The call was then
closed. §

4

34. 23 March 2004,
2.20pm, call reference e-
B403230628 ~ Call was
taken by David Dawe at
HSH. Brett from the NBSC
asked for a One Shot
Password (38¥F) for the
auditor. An OSP is issued
so that the auditor can log
on to the sub-postmaster’s
systermn. An OSP was given
and the call was closed.§

9

35. 1 April 2004,
12.45pm, call reference

| e-0404010718 ~ A call

;| was taken by Adam

:| Goldstein at HSH. The new
:| sub-postmaster stated that
il the screen had frozen. A

i check was carried out

I which showed the events

i were normal [what does
this mean?] and the [’f_“_“ﬁ“]"

,f Deleted: 40 1!

1A 1194765 1 5



POL00071231

POL00071231
Filed on behalf of the: Claimant
Witness: Ann Chambers
Statement: 1
Exhibits: "ACL"
Date made: ‘vfz;zv,$/8/06

Clalm No. HQOSXO2706

IN THE HIGH COURY OF JUSTICE
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:

POST OFFICE LIMITED Claimant/Part 20
; Defendant

Defendant/Part 20
Clalmant

TEMENT OF ANN
MBERS

BONKD PEARCE LLP

R

Salicitors for the Claimant/Part 20
Defendant

1A 1194765 1



Filed on behalf of the: Claimant

Witness: A Chambers

Statement: 1

Exhibits: "ACL"

Date made: zg{ $/8/06

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No.

QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:

POST OFFICE LIMITED

- and ~

LEE CASTLETON

EXHIBIT "AC1"

This is the Exhibit marked "AC1” referred to in the Witness Statement of Ann

Chambers dated August 2006.

1A_1194765_1

Claimant/Part 20
Defendant

Defendant/Part
20 Claimant

POL00071231
POL00071231



POL00071231

POL00071231
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Statement: 1
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Date made: 11/8/06
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POST OFFICE LIMITED Claimant/Part 20
Defendant
- and -
LEE CASTLETON Defendant/Part
20 Claimant

WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANDREW WIS

I, ANDREW WISE, of Human Resources,

GRO

I have worked for th

Office).

hen the first tier of calls that sub-postmasters make

s:a Horizon field support officer from 1999 to 2001 and

as a counter clerk. I have a working knowledge of

2. W
otherwise stated. References to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to .
page numbers of Exhibit "AW1” to this Witness Statement. (::,@% {;«}{ ‘o~ V{ﬁ\ . e
j; Mational Business Support Cenire /} ;):: " m? «é

{

S
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3. The Post Office provides a service to sub-postmasters and clerks called the NBSC,
which is a helpline they can call to try to resolve business related queries.

4. There are two tiers of service support at NBSC. Tier one is essentially customer
services and is a separate entity. Tier two is run by the Post Office and is for calls
that tier one are unable to deal with, I understand that an individual at tier one
could take approximately 2,000 calls each day fis it correct o say that an
individual will take 2,000 calls per day or that tier one overall wilf take
2,800 per day] and at tier two, an individual could take approximately 30 calls

each day. Basically a sub-postmaster would call the N telephone number,

select the options to get through to tier one and th plain their problem. It

may be a pre-recorded standard response, but if thet

available, the sub-
postmaster could get put through to tier two
prompting sub-postmasters and clerks to do

have been checking any way.

are recorded and entered into the
BT = T uﬁ&’,gfﬁ o g

6.
7. .
lncludes the following: .-~ . ” .
‘\. Dom, i}é c;% &m@«@ ”i‘:’ vl é«& \m.:n
TV Licenses - No code gmz,m?j ;

..... 's
5

\gg ﬂgi ﬁ:ﬁl £

8. Each day the sub-postmaster must enter details on the green dan!gy; summary form
P5744 which is retained at the branch. They have to print a;ﬂa ly report and
check that the totals of the counter foils agree with that report. If they do, they
cut off the report on the computer to reset it to zero for the next day. They then
paperclip together none barcoded TV and non barcoded over 75 cou folls.ang .

send M@Ehe counter. foils EDS Processmg Centreji‘@”"{ { S et Wi ‘H;J & %ﬁ
5&%’%@ ?‘M? hj; gj\,ﬁggi\,ﬁ:s} i, far QQM gwsm,iaﬁﬂ Vo & &S
iﬁj"{" O\iu @ ot ‘_& ggz_@:) 2&%& """""""""""""""""""""""""" e e

R S e \/) J@Q\ %%{ <
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Personal Banking
9. The sub-postmaster has to print a report each day and check that the totals on
the print out agree with the documents to hand (whether cash deposit, cheque
deposit envelope or encashment chegues) if the totals agree, they then have to
cut off the report so that it resets for the next day, paperclip the cash deposit
slips, check deposit envelopes and then encashed cheques together and place in
the envelope to go to the EDS Processing Centre. ( 7
(,7 Creqedd, Geo oo cbinatds ok Son _e RQete 1
10. The sub-postmaster then goes through a similar daily procedure for cheques, giro
bank deposits and withdrawals, daily cash declaration an ings Bank Deposits
and Withdrawals ie for each of these, the sub-postm * has to print a report,
check that the cheques, giro slips, cash or other d
paperclip the c;ocuments together and send theny: @y (L8 i‘u-%"' ?‘gﬁ‘ﬁ,_w

ek 05 & m% o (:f}g @fc.ﬂ‘fa%‘

oned (oM mede™S
Lnter dailyireports fare those the reports
ove or are they something else? What are the daily
it do m]_ ¥. look hke?] Thg{»th@n Fave-to-complete-tolnter

repartsfvihiat are thesas .-a.wd5 what do they look like and what

cantam?]. They are then are encouraged to print a
use that to shee-against-the-gctuat-steck-ir-thelr-branth,

They also have to check all receipt and payment transaction totals with the
supporting vouchers/documentation. There are ways in which they can amend
any stock discrepancies. They then have to print the mandatory office weekly
reports {what are these?].

The sub-postmaster then completes all other manual summaries and
reconciliations, for example National Savings Weekly Summary, Change Given
Return, Electric Tokens, Promotional/Payment Vouchers, MVL Weekly
Reconciliation, Rod Licence Reconciliation, Gift Voucher Weekly Reconciliation,
DVLA Premium Service Summaries, UK PA Check and Send summaries, Electric
Schemes and National Lottery Cheque Prize Payments.

1A_1198369._1 3
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14.

15.

16.

18.

The sub-postmaster then prints foreign currency [what is this? Is it 8 fist of
what foreign currency they have?] and to check the figures against their
actual stock holdings. They then make new declarations for cash and stamps,
entering on the system the cash nominations they have and a number of each
different type of stamps. They then print a report which is kept with their branch.
They then print the balance report and have to check that all the totals are

correct.

On the last Wednesday of the trading period, the lottery figures must be included

prior to final rollover into the next trading period.

orders slips, a Giro Bank Change Summary
Send {what iz that?] a form setting out Ré

Accordingiy; f /‘be seen that if the clerk or sub-postmaster makes a mistake

when imputing transaction details into their computer, there are a number of
points at which this can be picked up, because there are daily and weekly reports
that the sub-postmaster have to produce at which stage they have to check and
satisfy themselves that the documents eg cheques, cash, giros, they have match
what they have entered on the system.

In addition to that, there are various teams responsible for different sorts of
paperwork, including a giro bank team, cheques team and pension team. For
example, if the clerk records an item as a cheque rather than cash, they should
pick this up on either their daily or weekly report. However if they fail to do so,
this will be picked up at the EDS Processing Centre. Merely because an item has

1A_1198369_1 4
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been recorded as a cheque rather than cash (or visa versa) would not of course
cause an overall loss to the branch. If an item has been wrongly recorded, an
error notice would be generated, although this can easily take up to 12 weeks or
so. This will mean that if there has been an over or underpayment there will be
either a claim or charge error respectively.

Sub-Postmaster Training

{Andrew can you add some detalls of what the sub-postmasters and clerks

) have to be trained on when they join the post office.]
/ - See mg@} {2+i%
MBSO Call Logs
Locbe o
Mm L

Se o bai&w»

: #815864 the sub-postmaster wanted to
for telephone claims. The resolution was
a standard answer was given from
60 Con s LPROA Wg““&v
Vh,\’ W g( byt sﬁ; N
ference H12881573 the caller wanted a telephone

ko ® i
& Ly :j&% ot

the street’s ¢ office has electronic shutters so was unable to open. [what

does gave nom offices mean?

28, 11 December 2003, call reference H129041386 the clerk called to confirm that
the office had been reopened.

2&; 12 December 2003, call reference H12BO67586 the clerk wanted to know
what the counter procedure was for a local collect when a customer comes to pick
it up. [what is focal colfect?]. They were provided with an answer from the

knowledge base.

1A.1198369 1 5



25,

26.

27.

32.

13 December 2003, call reference HIZ2808771 this was a call because the
customer had received a card in the name of Vera instead of Violet. This was
resolved by providing the clerk with an answer from the knowledge base.

13 December 2003, call reference H12808772 the office was open but was
showing up as closed [what does this mean? how was this resolved?].

22 December 2003, call reference H12825312 the postmaster sent off an
application with the PID fwhat does that stand for?] for the opening of an
account and identification form which was erroneously rejected by the EDS. They
retained the ID form and PID and the application form was resented, but it had
been returned again because there was no PID or ID:fgrm, although the sub-
postmaster said that EDS had retained them. .JF advised the sub-

the card directed to the new office. This was

received a fé enquiries from customers regarding the changes to the National
Savings Ordinary Account. The sub-postmaster was advised that we do not have
any further information regarding the changes to the Ordinary Saving Account
other than information contained in MBS 453 fwhat is MBS 4537 Do you have

a copy?l.

14 January 2004, call reference H12971100 the clerk called in relation to a
discrepancy ie a loss of £1,103.13. They were provided with an answer from the
knowledge base [do we know what the sub-postmaster said and what

answer they were given?].

1A_1198369 1 6
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33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

39.

40.

19 January 2004, call reference Q12980113 there was an incorrect cash
dispatch [what does this mean?] Lisa [Lisa who?] was not too sure of the
correct procedure, but NBSC informed her what it is.

20 January 2004, call reference HR1268950 [what does Ixweek 41/03

reguired mean?]

20 January 2004, call reference H21265985 the sub-postmaster had not
received a copy of the sales report for the last period and wanted to know how

one could be ordered. The sub-postmaster was advised that the reports were late

and he should receive it by the end of the week at the | as they were being

dispatched.

with the suspense team. _
ensure that nothing was transferred int

permitted).

all the balanced cheques with him. It
hecked the REMs in and out, his cash,
és unable to find the loss. The sub-

his matter would be passed through to
SRR Iy

:v call reference HMiI29B7857 the sub-postmaster called.
n week 43 of £4,230.97. This was an unknown error. That
means that the sub-postmaster should not transfer the loss into the suspense

account.

22 January 2004, call reference H21268317 a disabled customer’s card had
arrived in an incorrect name of Bernice instead of Denise and the sub-postmaster
wanted to speak to EDS. An answer was given from the knowledge base.

27 January 2004, call reference H12989552 this refers to a training event in

Scarborough.

1A_1198369_1 7
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41.

42.

43.

44,

45,

46.

28 January 2004, call reference H13003838 the sub-postmaster enquired
whether there was a service available for customers to send money to somebody
in another part of the country. That answer was provided from the knowledge

base.

28 January 2004, call reference H21272735 the sub-postmaster had called to
say that since he had broadband installed, every time he receives stock into his
office it was showing short by the same amount. He had checked to make sure
that it was remmed in properly but it was still showing £2,500 short. The sub-
postmaster was advised that if he felt that that was a technical problem he should

call the Horizon System Helpline (H&H) that deals . 1 technical issues.

However, after NBSC spoke to the sub-postmaste it appeared that he was

28 January 2004, call reference H130
were showing a loss of £2,523.12 and that

looked at the REMs declaration ah " flow. ce of the discrepancy was
found and this was referred to the ccaunt team to review.

29 January 204 305643 the branch called and stated
there was an upa i < i d loss of £6,754.09. [what was the

Q&c&w& ?fwwm\ﬁsﬂ ai‘"(:ifw%? =

29 Sanuary 2004, caEE&_referet}z:e H21274188 the sub- postmaster wanted to

weeks and't 1t that there was a system fault with his remittances. The NBSC
followed KB instructions and sent an e-mail to Adele Kiltkoyne [who is she?] so
that the postmaster{é;m study his archives to try to identify what had gone wrong.
fwhat was the result of this? Please can you follow through with Adele
Kitkoynea?].

30 January 2004, call reference HI3011960 the sub-postmaster called in
relation to automated payments: the customer’s account had not apparently been
credited with payment. An answer was provided to the sub-postmaster from the

knowledge base.

1A_1198369_1 8
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47.

48.

49,

5Q.

51.

52.

53,

54.

55.

30 January 2004, call reference Q13009942 Mrs Catherine Qgleshy, the
Retail Line Manager reported that the sub-postmaster had authorised losses of
£6,754.09 for week 44. Apparently he could not identify what had caused the
loss and was unable to make good. The sub-postmaster also stated that he had
made good a loss of £1,100 in week 42. Mrs Qgleshy asked NBSC to contact the
branch to try resolve his query. The sub-postmaster had applied for a hardship
form. He was waiting for a return of the I&E form. [what iz the I&F form?].

30 January 2004, the customers account had not been credited with the
payment. NBSC provided an answer from the knowledge base,

HSH called to say that the desk top initialisation had fai nd that an operational

violation had been detected. This was passed to is a call from the

branch or originally from HEH?]
3 February 2004, the sub-postmaster

being taken for pre~pay mobile phone : what does process map

mean?j

does that mean?]

9 February
£3,000 from her ordinary account to open an investments account. The clerk

2004, the branch called because a customer wished to transfer

wanted to know which form was used to process this and whether they could
process it, An answer was supplied from the knowledge base.

14 February 2004, the branch called and asked how to ?7 out coin {dees this
mean change? What do they actuaily mean here? We need to explain
this v a judge who wouldn't understand what ”mmx'ng oul means amd

wouldnt be familiar with the system]

11 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called who had a customer who has &
disabled son and is an appointge at the moment and had been told that she could

1A_1198369_1 8
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57.

58.

59,

60.

63.

64.

not be an appointee for her son fwhat is an appointee?]. An answer was
supplied from the knowiedge base.

12 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to know the
procedure for opening a card account. {what does com 7 mean?]

12 February 2004, the branch reported an unauthorised loss of £8,243.10 in
week 46. There was an accumulated loss over the last four weeks. The branch
had applied for g\%ormgp An amount was entered into the suspense account
pending completion of the hardship papers.

13 February 2004, the branch called and asked h 0 pay out on a capital

postmaster was advised that he should not
should only be used to pay for products or sef

stmaster?]. There was a

on 27 February fwho is I&EF
48. This was added to the

. the sub-postmaster called and reported that the card could
not be read he system and wanted to know what to do. He was given an

answer from the knowledge base.

18 February 2004, the branch called and stated that the system was unavailable
and wanted to know whether they could do a withdrawal. They were given an
answer from the knowledge base {what sort of answer would they have been
given?]

16 February 2004, this call simply states Horizon KB0628. [what doas this

mean?]

1A.1198369_1 10
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65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

72.

73.

16 February 2004, the sub-postmaster wanted to speak to HSH because his
screen was frozen. He was given an answer from the knowledge base.

18 February 2004, the branch called and wanted to know what the telephone
numbers were for transaction processing. They were given an answer from the

knowledge base.

21 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and asked how to deal with the
death of the card holder and was given an answer fréﬁ%he knowledge base.

rs Oglesby to call him

24 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called asking for Mr
} system problem. NBSC

regarding the previous conversation about the ongoin
advised Mrs Oglesby that the sub-postmaster had

25 February 2004, the sub-postmaster calle been having

o state that he ¥
problems with the system and balance for about six weeks. The

wanted to know whether they have starte

was still inv v‘mrﬁ\g the probiem,

iﬁ%zfﬂw&
ed that he was entering
into a smart post item on the system and it was an # going to the USA
with the value of £300. The sub-postmaster put the value into the system but the
price did not increase and wanted to know why. NBCS discussed with the sub-

26 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and stz

postmaster and went through the procedure with him. It transpired that the sub-
postmaster was [erronecusiy?] entering the high value at the start of the
transaction, so it set the price at the high value compensation rate.

S pes st
28 February 2004, the m@g‘;eported £3,509.68 unauthorised losses for week
48. He said that he had an ongoing problem which HSH were investigating. The

1A_1198369_1 11
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74.

75.

POL00071231
POL00071231

sub~-postmaster was completing an I&E form to start the hardship process for
previous discrepancies. Accordingly, although the losses were unauthorised, they
were entered into the suspense account pending the hardship process.

3 March 2004, the branch reported that a customer had called and asked for a
change of name on the CAP?O card since it had the wrong names [what does

CAP;‘O stand for?]. The branch was given an answer from the knowledge base

4 March 2004, Mrs Qglesby reported that she had called HSH as a branch was

constantly showing losses every week and the sub-postmaster thought this may
“week. HSH had put

be down to software as the amount was getting worse e

her straight through to NBSC wuthout U\%kmg any in
Tt 5 eevga L0ob Ponn ;g ¥t Mﬁa e

MNBSC Review
oA o herda R

he was told woul
stock unit. If the
the words “no

ere some errors, but for every charge error there was a

rror as the clerk and/or sub-postmaster had entered the

he wrong cash account period. If the cash account period
(week num ‘wrong one week, the next week this would balance out, hence
the sub postfﬁavéter would receive a charge error in the first week and a claim

error in the second week.

ﬁg.{'*aim‘*; G € é.f;ut:?lg @-‘E«Vi’“
78 ‘%“he sub-postmaster was also concerned that when entering the lottery figures

the terminals did not appear to be communicating. However if that had been the
case, the sub-postmaster would have a very large number of errors on every

report and product. PP 15
oF ;‘§>f “

I looked at the cash account information that the sub-postrfaster sent to me but

79.
[do you stifi have this?]. The only amount

was unable to find any errors.
questioned was a large amount on the cheques to Processing Centre, but I was

1A_1198369_1 12
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133
able to confirm that this was a cheque payment for the purchase of the premiu% i@%_g
bonds. Accordingly, there is nothing more NBSC could do and we suggested he ‘% N
work a manual system at the side of Horizon to see if any problems were ii /?
highlighted. He was also advised to take a snapshot before and after he did the f f/

REMs to see if there were any problems occurring when he did a remittance. /?”"

81.

82.

83.

84.

87.

88.

89.

. 8 March 2004, the branch was asking about a cash declaration on the system as

he had £7,579. The sub-postmaster was going to send through snapshots from
Saturday today.

with impounded DWP

& March 2004, the branch called and asked what to
\ that DWP fwho are

pension allowance dockets. The sub-postmaster was
DWPZ?7 makes the policy, not the Post Office.
£ March 2004, the branch called and ask hould be made
payable to for premium bonds. An answef from the krniowledge base:
8 March 2004, the branch called and asked whg e process was for a buy back
pre-order accounting and dis; n an answer from the

knowledge base.

10 March 2004, the br : asked for the telephone number for
Chesterfield ang were gi “from the knowledge base.

18 March 2 4, the sub-postmaster called and wanted the branch details for

Post Office No. 225840. They were given an answer from the knowledge base.

22 March 2004, the sub-postmaster wanted to know how to issue a vault card to
a customer. [what does office process map mean?]

23 March 2004, the auditor called and wanted to know if the office had had a
new base unit. They were told to try calling Hesizerm. 15 H.

1A_1198369_1 13



90. 23 March 2004, the auditor called and wanted to know if there were any losses
that had been authorised from about week 40. They were told that there are
three losses and all are unauthorised.

91. 23 March 2004, OSP site down request advised fwhat does this mean?]

92. 23 March 2004, office closure, advised parties fwhat does this mean?]

93. 23 March 2004, [who calfled to say that the office would be open

tomorrow at Sam?}

94. 23 March 2004, the auditor wanted to speak to HS
postmaster had a new base unit fitted. The audito

confirm that the sub-

95. 24 March 2004, [what does declare bureau advise to select edit F10 hung
up mean?] ’

96. 30 March 2004, NBSC spoke to the new, relig b-postmaster, Ruth Simpson.

er when and if they came

She was ad complete the re-valuation whilst still in cap 01 fwhat is cap

#3127 This Woufd then permit the system to allow her to roll over into week 02.

100.2 April 2004, the branch had rece:vedﬂgcean liners stamps with the incorrect
TR
price. The sub-postmaster was told to % in and contact Her&ﬂel fwhat is that?]

to notify them.

101.43 April 2004, the branch called and wanted the office address {what does this
mean?]

102. 4% April 2004, the retail line manager asked NBSC to contact the sub-
postmaster urgently and was left a voicemail.

1A_1198369_1 14
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/w&%«hfﬁ“‘é‘t&‘ﬁ‘fﬁ"fé“ﬁj%e considered that m@,jmxizm;@?ﬁﬁm“‘mé‘;ﬁ%;@ﬁg’*

103.19 April 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number of National
Savings and was given an answer from the knowledge base.

104.19 April 2004, the branch called and asked for a telephone number of TP [what
does this mean? Is it transaction processing?] and was given an answer

from the knowledge base.

105.20 April 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to speak to the retail line
manager regarding a problem that she is already dealing with, Mrs Oglesby left a

message on voicemail fwhose voicemail? NBSC's? the postmasters?]

106.2% April 2004, the branch called to report a chan g ning hours and the
details were logged.

107.22 April 2004, the branch called and as
branch regarding a problem that they were: &
passed on by NBSC to Mrs Ogles

:gtated that his son-in-law
3 glse had been put in and was
o somebody more senior to Mrs Oglesby.
for HOA to get in touch with Mr Franks

make his req'u st in writing to Adele Kilcoyne of NBSC.

neb-apmer e Be the cause of the unsothorised-fosses-incurred.

1A_1198369_1 i 5
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I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true,

SIgNeA it st s e
TGRO ]
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant
Witness: Andrew Wise

Statement: 1

Exhibits: "AWL"

Date made: 11/8/06

Claim No. HQOBX0Z2706

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION

BETWEEN:

Claimant/Part 20
Defendant

POST OFFICE LIMI

Defendant/Part 20
Claimant

WITNESS 8 ENT OF ANDREW

PEARCE LLP

Solicitors for the Claimant/Part 20
Defendant
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant
Witness: A Wise
Statement: 1
Exhibits: "GI1
Date made: 11/08/06
IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim No.
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:
POST QFFICE LIMITED Claimant
- and ~
LEE CASTLETON Defendant

EXHIBIT "AW1"

This is the Exhibit marked “"AW1” referred to in the Witness Statement of Andrew Wise
dated August 2006. ’
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Filed on behalf of the: Claimant
Witness: Ann Chambers
Statement: 1
Exhibits: "ACL"
Date made: 2/8/06
IM THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Clalm No. HQOBX02706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:
POST OFFICE LIMITED Claimant/Part 20
Defendant
- ang -
LEE CASTLETON Defendant/Part

20 Claimant

WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANN CHAMBE

I, ANN CHAMBERS of Fujitsu Services, |

GRO

[insert date]. 1 am respon
knowledge of the computer syste
accounting system used by Post O

of business from information supplied by persons who have or may reasonably be

supposed to have personal knowledge of the matter dealt with in the information

1A 1194765 1 1



supplied, but are unlikely to have any recollection of the information or cannot be
traced. As part of my duties, I have access to these records.

Horizon System Helpdesk and National Business Support Centre

4, An important element of the support provided to subpostmasters and Counter
Clerks is the Horizon System Helpdesk (H&H). The HSH is the Horizon user’s first
‘port of call’ in the event of their experiencing a problem with the Horizon system
or requiring advice and guidance. If the system were to malfunction, upon
discovery Horizon users (Post Master, Counter Clerk) would raise a call to the HSH

procedures exist to
~made to the HSH. All
‘as part of the overall

seeking clarification or advice. Comprehensive processes
manage the receipt, analysis and final disposition of
calls to the HSH are captured by the Audit Server and
Audit Trail. HSH is a service run by Fujitsu for thg

5. The Post Office also provides a servic

subpostmasters and 41
called the National Business Support Cen (B This has a helpline which

subpostmasters can call to try to resolve any

vent i any significant occurrence in the system or in an

s users to be notified. For critical events such as a server

this operating-si)stem adds information to an event-log file to provide information
without disturbing normal work. This event logging service starts automatically
each time a computer running Windows NT is started. In the Horizon system
these events are collected by the Tivoli Event Monitor and are captured by the
Audit Server and stored as part of the overall Audit Trail.

Mon Polling Reports

8. A daily report is produced that lists those branches that have not polled for 24
hours, and the number of days they have been ‘out of contact’. Polling : Branches

1A_1194765_.1 2
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are ‘contacted’ periodically by the Correspondence Layer (where all transactions
for all branches are stored prior to despatch to other systems) to deposit
and collect information pertinent to that branch. This reduces the telephony costs
incurred were branches to be permanently connected to the Correspondence
Layer. Branches can operate in a disconnected state for up to 27 days.

HSH Call Logs

10.

13.

The Tivoli Event Logs and Non Polling Reports for the perigd:December 2003 to

April 2004 are contained in the call logs at pages []. is this correct, or

are these different from the atfached fogs?)] _of the calls and an

overview of them is set out in date order below:

% December 2003, 9.54am, call re
postmaster had a power blip following whic

the keyboard was not accepting the
PMMC card, which is used by sub: masters t

g.onto their terminal. The Post

ng through the system for three weeks in a row. The caller was
advised that the problem would need to be thoroughly investigated by the
National Business Support Centre (MBSC) before the issue could be investigated

because a software problem and the caller was transferred to the NBSC and the

call closed.

29 January 2004, 10.26am, call reference 204012903588 - a call was
taken by Mary Rainbow at HSH. The sub-postmaster reported that he was having
problems on his system connected to remittances (REMs). The Sub-postmaster
has to enter a remittance when he receives a delivery of new stock. He stated
that every time he entered in the new stock, it left him with a discrepancy. The

1A_1194765_1 3
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14.

15.

16.

18.

Sub Post master was transferred to the NBSC, since this was a business issue and
the call was closed.

2 February 2004, 8.4%am, call reference e-0402020111 ~ Ben Horseman at
HSH took a call from Cath at NBSC who stated that terminal (node) 2 had failed
to initialise and that he also has “operational integrity violation has been
detected” and “unable to connect to the repost service”. The Post Master was
advised that he would be called back whilst the counter is reviewed.

Both counters had been upgraded with ADSL (Broagbf The Sub-postmaster
called back at 9.18am and was advised to rebg@%
engineer swap or adJust the base unit on wfm

the PCs do a refresﬁ\Lwhat does this mean

ecommended that an

installation failure. An un- operat:o?féﬂ TS
starting up properly. An engineer was s&
node. The engineer arrived on site at 1.30pm; ed the node and the call was

closed.

tmaster had stated that he had a rem
call was then closed.

_sérrectly. The sub-postmaster had insisted on a system check
He said that the problem had been happening for five weeks
and that every time stock had been remmed in, they had a loss that night. The
sun-postmaster also stated that the cheques he had recorded on the 10% were

showing on the 11™ February as well,

The call was escalated to Heather Dryden at HSH. As a sub-postmaster is
supposed to send cheques to the EDS Processing Centre each evening, the next

day you would expect to see the cheque figures cleared to zero on the &
system. The sub- postmaster,‘ég initially stated that this had happened more than

once, but when Heather went through his cheques, it had happened just the once.
It appears that the sub-postmaster forgot to cut off and the cheque listing had

1A_1194765_1 4
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two days worth of cheques in it. There is no option to cut off retrospectively ie if
the sub-postmaster reveals that he has not cut off the previous days cheques,
they will show up the next day and a failure to cut off previously cannot be
corrected later. However, the point is that the system will not put the cheques in
the balance and process them twice. It will reconcile each cheque against the

transaction.

19. 16 February 2004, 8.32am, call reference e-0402160081 - David Lawrence
at HSH took a call from Marie at NBSC. The sub-postmaster had called NBSC to
state that both his terminals were at Post Office Log QOn (POLG), but were

rebooting ok subsequently. The call was therefore closed

20. 16 February 2004, 11.12am, call referencs o-040218086 v;' Tony Law took

ecked and the results given
‘then closed.

week'aﬂd'waif one point they had a problem with cash
hat this was an issue with ID numbers that had been

; rted that she had printed out a balance snapshot on Monday
K, but since then they had remmed in some stock which

appears to have given them a loss.

22. The clerk was advised that she would need to check her stock position for last
week and then check her rems in summary. This would show the stock that she
should be holding and that figure could be compared with the stock showing in
the adjust stock [what does this mean?] and this would highlight any problems
with the stock on hand. The clerk was advised that we would need her to take
her computer terminal to trial balance this evening and come back to us before
she rolls over so that we can take down any details she can give us. The clerk
confirmed that they are working on a shared stock unit and would call back if

1A_11894765_1 5
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further assistance was required. The balance sheet would show the old
discrepancy until they can do a trial balance. The call was then closed.

23. 25 February 2004, 12.a3pm5,eé§§ reference e-0402250553 - a call was taken
by Robert Congerton. [Iske at the MNBSC?]. The clerk had told the NBSC she
had problems regarding the balance. The NBSC were advised that HSH had told
the PM to call back tonight when they had a net discrepancy on the cash account.
The call was then closed.

24. 25 February 2004, 12.12pm, call reference e-04022 0565 - Call was taken
by Nicola Goodson at HSH. Jane at the NBSC had a.¢
had been closed.

relation to a call that

g “error message. An error
has occurred = see the audit s not generated by the sub-
postmaster calling the help desk
sual event. The call was

j the SMC closed their call.

which automatically triggers a ¢

pepostmaster reported that the branch was

5 for the past few weeks. The closed calls were

at a number of calls had been logged regarding

“advised that the problem had started ever since the BT engineer
came to move the BT box for preparation for the installation of the ADSL.
Kuljinder recommended that S$SSC investigate why the sub-postmaster is
experiencing large discrepancies. A known error log (KEL) reference was given
and the problem was re-assigned within HSH to group EDSC1 [what does this
stand for?),

At this point I investigated the matter. The critical event earlier that day was
part of a storm ie a central problem causing lots of event storms which had
occurred over the entire Horizon system that night as a result of a faulty software
fix. The KEL had nothing to do with the discrepancies.

1A_1194765_1 6
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27.

28.

29.

30.

Various built in checks occur at the end of each day. For example, the gate way
terminal will total all the transactions. The gate way terminal will only send in
information from these built in checks, once all the terminals in the branch have
communicated with it. Reports are only produced if there are discrepancies. A
weekly cash account is produced and sent to the data centre. The gate way
terminal will do daily cash accounts. This is summarised weekly and compared to
the weekly branch cash account to check for discrepancies. The data centre also
produces a weekly cash account which is compared to the branch weekly cash
accounts. There are therefore effectively three weekly cash

a) The branch weekly cash accounts;
b) The branch daily accounts, which is accumula ' ekend; and

¢) The data centre weekly cash account.

ced that occasionatly the
was used incorrectly. For

01 and enters £10,000 and then

rd it elsewhere, the system will think

ly has £10,000. The clerks used 2

example if a sub-postrmia:
changes their n mber and ses 11 to

I was surprised to discover that at the end of the day, the cash the branch
declared in the drawer was tens, hundreds or thousands of pounds stray from
what they had recorded on the system. This meant that it was possible that the

sub-postmaster was not accurately recording all transactions on the system,
although if that had been the case, an error notice or error notices would have
been generated to explain the discrepancy.

There was no evidence whatsoever of any system problem. I therefore asked
HSH to revert to the sub-postmaster and explain that we have investigated and

1A.1194765_1 7
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31,

32.

33.

34,

35.

36.

the discrepancies are caused by the difference between the transactions they
have recorded on the system and the cash they have declared and are not being
caused by the software or hardware.

4 March 2004, 8.42am, call reference e-0403040165 - €all was taken by
Hayley Minnis, a HSH retail line manager. The caller reporfed discrepancies in the
office and was advised to speak to NBSC about this, since it was not a HSH issue.

The call was then closed.

A call was taken by
at the sub-

4 March 2004, 11.28Bam, call reference -0403040

Elspeth Neilson. The sub-postmaster’s line manager

23 March 2004, 11.44pm, ca
Jacqueline Wilcock at HSH. The

E;,tmaster’s system: An OSP was given and the call was closed.

12.45pm, call reference e-0404010718 - A call was taken by
t HSH. The new sub-postmaster stated that the screen had

1 April 2004,
Adam Goldstei
frozen. A check was carried out which showed the events were normal [what

does this mean?] and the sub-postmaster was advised to reboot. The call was

then closed.

19 April 2004, 8.57am, call reference ¢-0404190387 ~ A call was taken by
Elspeth Neilson at HSH. The Retail Line Manager (RLM) stated that there had
been discrepancies on the system since the base unit was swapped in February
and wanted to know why. The RLM was advised that events appeared to be
normal and that a health check had been passed. The sub-postmaster was happy
to continue unassisted. The RLM stated that the new sub-postmaster had been in

1A_1194765_1 8
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38.

the office and there had not been any discrepancies in the balance. The RLM was
advised to contact NBSC for advice on balancing. The call was closed.

21 April 2004, 8.10am, call reference e~-0404210187 - A call was taken by
David Dawe. The sub-postmaster stated that the gateway was saying to enter the
PMMC and that the screen had been blue for 10 minutes. The sub-postmaster had
to wait for the screen to clear. The sub-postmaster was told to wait for 20
minutes and as that screen was normal and the sub-postmaster was told to call
back if this had not changed within the next 20 minutes. The call was then

closed.

actually switched on. The call was then
been successful.

uld be inaccurate because of improper use of the computer
ast of my knowledge and belief, during the material time, the

Horizon system was operating properly at the Marine Drive branch or if not, any

respect in which it was not operating properly was not such as to affect the

production of audit record or accuracy of their contents.

1 believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

SIGNEA o vcovecricineinirnn e s s oo s

ANN CHAMBERS

Date i ieveis e s e

1A_1194765_1 <]
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Filed on behaif of the: Claimant
Witness: Ann Chambers
Statement: 1
Exhibits: "ACT"
Date made: EW/OG
mz.- g%
IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUSTICE Claim Mo, HQDEX02706
QUEENS BENCH DIVISION
BETWEEN:
POST OFFICE LIMITED Claimant/Part 20
Defendant
-~ g -
LEE CASTLETON Defendant/Part
20 Claimant
WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANN CHAMBE!
I, ANN CHAMBERS of Fujitsu Services, | GRO

[insert date]. 1 am respons
knowledge of the computer systes
accounting system used by Post O

Fujitsu Services t

R ferencés-to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to
t "AC1” to this Witness Statement.

3.  Any reco dsato w_,"ﬁ I refer in my statement form part of the records relating to
the busineséé&:ii‘ujitsu Services. These were compiled during the ordinary course
of business from information supplied by persons who have or may reasonably be
supposed to have personal knowledge of the matter dealt with in the information

1A,1194765_1 1
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supplied, but are unlikely to have any recollection of the information or cannot be
traced. As part of my duties, I have access to these records.

4. 1 have been asked to provide details and confirmation on the reports that monitor
faults, polling failures, equipment failures and calls for advice and guidance
logged by the Horizon System Helpdesk recorded during the period December
2003 to April 2004 for the Marme Drlve branch FAD Code 213337.

KR
Tivali Event Logs

Horizon operates under the Microsoft Windows NT op mg system. In this

(d”i}& Q\‘w“ﬁ ) L

\;{KJ»(«’ .\\‘\3‘"{@
“ . )\\“ \:fﬂ w‘;é’)
7 %\? g%}/\«?
fﬁ\ The Tivoli Eveny Logs and Non Polling Reports for the period December 2003 to N
April 2004 afé contained in the call logs at pages []. [dnrn is this correct, or o

are these d:fferent@ Details of the calls and an overview of them is set out [ 1 -

m@«»& z;w;*s m%“m

date order below: * 3

3 *‘?ﬁ - o December 2003, 9.54am, call reference e-@312$9ﬁ2§§5“ ﬁ&a&ker had a

power blip following which, the keyboard was not accepting the 1 {*card, which

1A,1194765_1 2



2.

;

ol

'

s

is used by sub-post masters to log onto their terminal. The Post Master was

advised to reboot his terminal. He rebooted, insertef his PMMC/pin and was
. Tl ol pes LU ¢ gl -

happy to continue. U b ceell  pus§ LW~

20 January 2004, 2.05pm, call reference -0401200874 - this is a log
simply to record that there was an ASDL update from ISDN [please explain what
ASDL and ISDN stand for]. This was a scheduled visit to the Marine Drive branch
to install &roadband. The upgrade was completed, but the §roadband was not
turned onmat that time.

28 lanuary 2004, 11.13am, call reference e- 2325 - the call was

because a software problem and the caller w

call closed.

So~
. A8am, call reference e-0402020111 - &wm-Horseman at
it from¢&ath at NBSC who stated that terminal (node) 2 had failed

d that he also has “operational integrity violation has been

HSH took &
to initialise
detected” and “unable to connect to the repost service”. The Post Master was
advised that he would be called back whilst the counter is reviewed.

s

Both counters had been upgraded with ADSL (Broadband). The Sub Master called
back at 9.18am and was advised to reboot. It was recommended that an
engineer swap or adjust the base unit on terminal 2. At approximately 3.30am,
the PCs do a refresh [what does this mean?] and occasionally this can cause an
installation failure. An un-operational integrity violation points to a refresh not
starting up properly. An engineer was sent out to sort out the base unit and

1A_1194765_1 3
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node. The engineer arrived on site at 1.30pm, replaced the node and the call was

closed.

13 February 2004, 10.41am, call refarenae e-0402130281 - call was taken
by John Lockyear at HSH. The ’sub Post Master had stated that he had a rem
issue and this was referred to NBSC “THe call was then closed.

13 February 2004, 10.46am, call reference 2-04021302867 - this call was
taken by Tony Law at HSH, referred from Marie at NBSC. The Post Master had

checked that he was cutting everything off prop
were being done correctly. The sub-Post Master

and that every time stock had been remmex
Post Master also stated that the chqugsvsv he
showing on the 11 February as# :
at HSH. As a sub-Post Master

t off retrospectively ie if the sub-Post

not cut off the previous days cheques, they will show
reto cut off previously cannot be corrected later.

‘that the system will not put the cheques in the balance and

process them twice:: It will reconcile each cheque against the transaction.

16 February 2004, 8.32am, call reference e-0402160081 ~ David Lawrence
at HSH took a call from Marie at NBSC. The sub-Post Master had called NBSC to

gg“,z 14 ke
state that both his terminals were at P&iz:(Post Office Log Orﬁ ut were
rebooting ok subsequently. The call was therefore closed. i i;:%\

16 February 2004, 11.12am, call reference e~-0402160528 - Tony Law took
a ca%k from Pat at NBSC. The sub-Post Master had stated that he needed an
OBCS check. This is the bar code reader that each sub-Post Master has at their
terminal and wfas used for pension books. The OBCS was checked and the results

given [do we know what the result was7} The call was then closed.
N, \ < e
\ P e

badk ‘%”%“‘”

1A_1194765_1 4



25 February 2004, 11.03am, call reference e-0402250454 ~ A call was
taken by Mary Rainbow at#{8. The clerk reported that they had been having
problems on the system with balancing that week, which seemed to be related to
stock being remmed in through the week. The clerk reported that over the past 7
weeks, they have had losses every week and at one point they had a problem
with cash on hand, but they found that this was an issue with ID numbers that
had been resolved. The clerk also reported that last week when they rolled oveg
they put a loss into the suspense account and then took the computer terminal

back to the trial balance which came out with a zero net discrepancy to start the

new week with. The clerk reported that she had printed o
on Monday and that looked OK, but since ttfg they had
which appears to have given them a !oss.géfThe’cleirk

balance snapshot
med in some stock

sed that she would
" ems in

need to check her stock position for last week arié'then check h

e adjust stock {what does’

g:with the stock on hand. The
computer terminal to trial

over so that we can

o_nflrméd that they are working

“assistance was required. The

ncy until they can do a trial balance.

[ie oV & NESC 1]

3, ‘reférence e»—ﬁ«é@%&\ﬁﬂ@ss - a call was
; > CARM
n. friiin the NBSC. The Pest.Masker had told the NBSC

25 February 2004, 12.12pm, call reference 2-0402250565 - Call was taken
by Nicola Goodson at HSH. Jane at the NBSC had a call in relation to a call that
had been closed.

25 February 2004, 4.56pm, call reference e-0402251011- Call was taken by
Niall Vincent, because a critical event was seen stating “ersor message. An error

. {"(.,,{}, e a;»;g_,)*z:“ii.«ii
has occurred = see the audit log”. This iz.not caséed by the sub-Post Master
calling the help desk, but by the System Management Centre (SMC) which
automatically triggers a call when there is an unusual event. The call was

referred to the SSC [what does that stand fon?l, so the SMC closed their calf.

rd
{ﬁki\(}\ / \‘g ugx L4,

1A_1194765_1 5
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“zé 25 February 2004, 5.33pm, call reference e-0402351077 ~ Call was taken
by Kuljinder Bhachu at HSH. The sub-Post Master reported that the branch was
getting large discrepancies for the past few weeks. The close{’i:alls were reviewed
and it was noted that a number of calls had been logged regarding discrepancies
and that the NBSC had been in contact with the sub-Post Master could not find
any user error. Kuljinder spoke to Sandra at NBSC. They checked the Tivoli
eventgﬁwa{r&fj%tg&kzstem appeared to be OK. Given that a critical event had been
notegé the event logs wére downloaded for review. The sub-Post Master advised
that the problem had started ever since the BT engineer ca to move the BT box
for preparation for the installation of the ADSL. Kuljinder.zezommended that SSC
investigate why the sub-Post Master is experiencing Ia:‘g_ iscrepancies. A known
error log (KEL) reference was glven and the proble'v as ri as&gned within HSH

Frafy SEOFM te
et Mok Rty
storms which had occurred over the entire

information from

communicated wi

7 {%’ 1 checked the discrepancies between these three accounts and found none.

o Cheques were handled correctly (as far as the system was concerned). I also
checked the rems were correct which they were apart from one day when the
sub-Post Master forgot to cut off the cheques. I also noticed that occasionally the
sub-Post Master’s identification declaration number was used incorrectly. For
example if a sub-Post Master uses number 01 and enters £10,000 and then
changes their number and uses 11 to record it elsewhere, the system will think
that the branch has £20,000 whereas it only has £10,000. The daiygash

Ll L,\sz:& QVM
2. c‘;{fgvi o VYN "xm«cak;.»ag

&&“ (:3\‘"% \ Coy Lx
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-handhng-which used-double declaration-number, but this would not affect the
weekly balance. I went through the transactions day by day and compared them
with the over night declarations. 1 expected to find:

( &) starting cash positiqri;

H

{:%}) transaction; P

( @) a system cash figure which should be close to the actual cash holding.

e nk 3 g "“‘f»»‘:i:; L %%“&”‘:’“’ﬁf‘“'“ﬁiﬁ
»&K 1 was surprised to discoverfpaf”at the end of the day, the cash the branch
declared in the drawer was 19s;-100sor 1000s of pounds stray from what they
that the sub-Post
stem, although if

had recorded on the system. This meant that it was poss

Master was not accurately recording all transactions g

that had been the case, an error notice or error potices would have been

generated to explain the discrepancy.

1 therefore asked HSH to revert t
investigated and the discrepancies ar e difference between the

d explain that we have

el 4 March 2004;11.28am, call reference e-0403040524- A call was taken by
Eispeth Neilson. The sub-Post Master’s line manager stated that the sub-Post

Master was getting large discrepancies. They were advised that the discrepancies
are caused by the difference between the transactions they have recorded on the
system and the cash they have declared and are not being caused by the software
or hardware. The call was then closed.

23 March 2004, 11.44pm, call reference e-0403230583 - Call was taken by
Jacqueline Wilcock at HSH. The auditor wanted to know when the base unit had

Lot
""\.,\a;. M

been exchanged at the Marine Drive branch. They were advised that it was
exchanged on 2 February 2004. The call was then closed.

14.1194765_1 7
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43 March 2004, 2.20pm, call reference e~-0403230628 ~ Call was taken by
David Dawe at HSH. Brett from the NBSC asked for a One Shot Password (DSF)
for the auditor. An OSP is issued so that the auditor can log on to the sub-Post
Master’s system. An OSP was given and the call was closed.

1 April 2004, 12.45pm, call reference e-0404010718 ~ A call was taken by
Adam Goldstein at HSH. The new sub-Post Master stated that the screen had
frozen. A check was carried out which showed the events were normal [what

does this mean?] and the sub-Post Master was advised to 6t. The call was

then closed.
o
15 April 2004, 2.57am, call reference a—ﬂﬁﬂéﬁi{???@? - A caliwas taken by
. ; Y i B8
Eispeth Neilson at HSH. The g%i;ail fine { er stated:that there had been

£ e-0404210187.< A call was taken by
that the Qaté”'Wax_;Was saying to enter

H d to wait for thé':%;creen é ear. The sub-Post Master was told to wait for 20
minttes and as that screen was normal and the sub-Post Master was told to call
back if this had not ct

closed.

'énged within the next 20 minutes. The call was then

{:\/ g‘?(’{;é-%d}é\gﬁ"}&“’ “”};} /

21 April 2004, 1.329;1{; call reference e~-0404210701 - A call was taken from
Bernard Michael at;ﬁc. This was an SMC call and related to a software upgrade.
It was whe%aﬁ(DStjf«?? that in-February, was actually switched on. The call was
then closed once the switck over to ADSL had been successful. \
N — e bt~ msleald &g ea T Komwor B”z iy
N
23 April 2004, 3pm, call reference e-0404230680 - A call was taken by

Jason Lockyear. The sub-Post Master wanted to know if he could get a list of his
calls and of software. The sub-Post Master was advised to contact NBSC for a full
list and the call was then closed.

1A_1194765_1 8
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Conclusion

There are no reasonable grounds for believing that the information stored on the
Horizon system would be inaccurate because of improper use of the computer
terminal. To the best of my knowledge and belief, during the material time, the
Horizon system was operating properly at the Marine Drive branch or if not, any
respect in which it was not operating properly was not such as to affect the
production of audit record or accuracy of their contents.

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are {

1A_1194765_1 9
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WITNESS STATEMENT OF ANDREW wms"

I, ANDREW WISE, of Human Resources

L 5:make ta the NBSC. Prior to that, I was a Horizon field support
er from 1999152001 an;j prior to that I spent 8 years as a counter clerk. 1
working knowledge of the computer system known as Horizon, which is a

compiiterised accounting system used by the Post Office.

2. I make this:Witness Statement from facts within my own knowledge unless
otherwise stated. References to page numbers in this Witness Statement are to
page numbers of Exhibit "AW1” to this Witness Statement.

14_1204619_1 1



Network Business Support Centre

3. The Post Office provides a service to sub-postmasters and clerks called the NBSC,
which is a helpline they can call to try to resolve business related queries.

4, There are two tiers of service support at NBSC. Tier one is essentially customer
services and is a separate entity., Tier two was run by the Post Office and was for
calls that tier one were unable to deal with. I understand that an individual at tier
one could take approximately 2,000 calls each day [is it correct te say that an
individual will take 2,000 calls per day or that tier one overall will take

2,000 per day ~ This is the overall calis] and at tier ; an individual could

take approximately 30 calls each day. Basically a sub__»: ) fmaster would call the

NBSC telephone number, select the options to get ‘fr‘ou'g'h to tier one and then

explain their problem. It may be a pre-recorded standard respzj_nse, but if there is

none available, the sub-postmaster could get put through to tier two. A lot of

nd clerks to&b’uble check

document} i’z;:h‘f;_éé a TV license counter foil, savings bank deposit, withdrawal slip

or cheque.

8. A summary of the prescribed daily procedures that sub-postmasters must follow is
at pages 1 to 2. This includes the following:

TV Licenses - Non Barcode

9. Each day the sub-postmaster must enter details on the green daily summary form
P5744 which is retained at the branch. They have to print a daily report and
check that the totals of the counter foils agree with that report [was this the
system in place at the Hime? Does the daily report info come from

14_1204618_1 2
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Horizon? ~ This system was in place af the time. The report is produced
from the Horizon system and shows alf the transactions of that type that
have been recorded for that day.]. If they do, they cut off the report on the
computer to reset it to zero for the next day. They then complete a batch controi
voucher (BCVY} paperclip together none barcoded TV and non barcoded over 75
counter foils to the BCV and send the counter foils to the Processing Centre. [did
they send them fto EDS at the time? For chegues, I understand the
migration to EDS took place around Feb 2004. -~ Before EDS we use fo
send them to Data Central, this was a processing cendre run by Post
Office Led, T am not sure of the exact date we started _:gssfﬁg EDE, from a2

branch point of view they just used a different envelop

Personal Banking

gash declaration and Savings Bank Deposits
ch of these, the sub-postmaster has to print a report,
lips, cash or other documents agree with the report,

¢k that the cheques, giro's
erclip the relevant documents together with the BCV and send them to the

t.place such aé‘girobank or the Processing Centre.

aui{'dz you feel gualified to be able to summarise what
happened to these docs once they arrived at Transaction Processing? ~I
have never been to the provessing centre fo see their operation so ¥ don't

feel I would gualified to summarise this.]
Weeldy Balance Procedurs

12. Each week the sub-postmaster has to go through a balancing procedure. {Is this
something they do weekly or daily or both? - The balancing procedure iz
weekiy.]. A summary of this procedure is at pages 3 to 6. [what is &
Transaction Correction? Is a trading period from week to week or do vou
mean each day? ~ The process for balancing changed in September 06

14 1204618 1 3
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14.

15.

16.
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and changed o monthly, Trensaction Corrections were introduced then
and were not on the system in Feb 04].

They then have to complete the counter daily and counter weekly reports fare
those the reports that are mentioned above or are they something else?
What are the daily reports? And what do they look like? ~ The counter
daily reports are the vnes listed above.]. [What are the weekly reports
and what do they look like and what information do they contain? ~ 4H
transactions that are sent off weskly sre classed as counter weekly

reports, These include things such as Pensions and Allowances, Green

Firps, Postal Orders. These are listed on the Weekiy ‘@?ancinge hand out.

The reports look the same as those produced for. & iy reports. J. They are

then are encouraged to print a balance snapshot arn 13t to ensure that the

acoount. J.

The sub-postms r té'ré; completes. all other manual summaries and

reconciliations,’ ar, examp . National Si_v:\ffings Weekly Summary, Change Given

Promotional/Payment  Vouchers, MVL Weekly

Return, Electric

ice Summaries, UK PA Check and Send summaries, Electric

: Lotteff Cheque Prize Payments.

On Demand Bureau de Change and this is used to balance their foreign
purrency. ] and to check the figures against their actual stock holdings. They
then make new declarations for cash and stamps, entering on the system the
cash nominations they have and a number of each different type of stamps. They
then print a report which is kept with their branch.

The office then produces a Trial Balance report, if all the cash stock and figures
are correct and once the National Lottery figures have been entered the office can
then be rolled over and a Final Balance report is produced.

1A_1204619 1 4
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Each week, the sub-postmaster sends to Chesterfield the paid postal and money
orders slips, a Giro Bank Change Summary {what is that? ~ The Post Office
offers a change giving service to customers that bank with Girobank, this
is @& summary of how many transactions are done.J, UKPA Check and Send
{what is that? ~ This is the Passport Check and Send service, not all Post
Offices offer this.] a form setting out Redeemed Post Office and TV Savings
Stamps? National Lottery prize payments (£500 plus) fwhat sort of information
would this contain? -~ This shows Jdetails of what chegues bave been
issued to National Lottery winners where the prize Is more than £500.]
and DVLA premium service forms fwhat is that? ~ This is a servive where a
customer can apply for a phote card driving licence ai he Post office, we
check the form and ID and send it off. .

After everything has been completed and the o 1.the balance they

will then complete the weekly Cash Account produced and

signed, one of these copies is sent to T ction Progessing at Chesterfield and

the other is retained in the office.

the procedures in place in

<25 yarmga‘;"that we are fooking at
] scordingly and insert what
that time ~ The weekly balancing

Accordingly, it can be seen that if the clerk or sub-postmaster makes a mistake

when imputing transaction details into their computer, there are a number of
points at which this can be picked up, because there are daily and weekly reports
that the sub-postmaster have to produce at which stage they have to check and
satisfy themselves that the documents eg cheques, giros, pensions and
allowances match what they have entered on the system. In addition to that,
there are various teams responsible for different sorts of paperwork, including a
giro bank team, cheques team and pension team. For example, if the clerk
records an item incorrectly on the system, they should pick this up on either their
daily or weekly report. However if they fail to do so, this will be picked up at the
Processing Centre. If an item has been wrongly recorded, an error notice would be

1A _1204819_ 1 5



generated, although this can easily take up to 12 weeks or so. This will mean
that if a transaction has been over or under stated there will be either a claim or
charge error respectively.

Sub-Postmaster Training

[Andrew can you add some details of what the sub-postmasters and clerks
have o be trained on when they join the post office. ~ The training would
include how to use the Horizon system and would include a lot of transaction

based procedures such as ~ Chegue acceptance, Gimbank,_jwa{'iaﬂal Ravings,

pensions and Allowances, Pogtage, TV licences, letters, nd parcels,Personal

banking, Alse things such as the dally sccounting grocedure and weekiy

balancing along with how to use the counter oper rannuals and things

fike customer care and security and Health and Gafety.]

NBSC Review

20. My understanding was around 4 March 20 s Oglesby asked NBSC for

yn 20 April 2004.

/ (page 13). The e-mail
ton spoke to the sub-postmaster at Marine Drive who

t was attached to the correct stock unit. If there was any
ﬂ,_'._blem between the two computers, the words “node
jould flash up on screen when any reports were produced.

21. The sub-postmaster apparently thought there were some errors relating to the
National Lottery. I understand from the e-mail that Sarah phoned the lottery
team at transaction processing who confirmed that there were some errors, but
for every charge error there was a corresponding claim error as the clerk and/or
sub-postmaster had entered the lottery figures in the wrong cash account period.
If the cash account period (week number) is wrong one week, the next week this
would balance out, hence the sub-postmaster would receive a charge error in the

first week and a claim error in the second week.

1A_1204619_1 6
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22.

23.

24,

NEBSC Call Logs

25.

26.

27.
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Sarah’s e-mail records that the sub-postmaster was also concerned that when
entering the lottery figures, the terminals did not appear to be communicating.
However if that had been the case, the sub-postmaster would have a very large

number of errors on every report and product.

I looked at the cash account information that the sub-postmaster sent to me but
was unable to find any errors. {do yvou still have this or your analysis? ~ I
don't bave snything relating to this.]. The only amount questioned was a
large amount on the cheques to Processing Centre, but I was able to confirm that
this was a cheque payment for the purchase of the premium bonds. Accordingly,

there is nothing more NBSC could do and we suggested he :work a manual system

at the side of Horizon to see if any problems wer ghted. He was also

advised to take a snapshot before and after he did o see if there were

any problems occurring when he did a remittance

We concluded that the Horizon system was working properly and did not appear

to be the cause of the unauthorised losses ii

1 have been asked to provide an ov rview o call logs from the Marine Drive
' ember 2003 to April 2004 are set out
compiled during the ordinary course of

business from information arsons who have or may reasonably be

2:0f the matter dealt with in the information

supposed to have | &
L but re unlikelyito have any recollection of the information or cannot be

know where they sent their application for telephone claims. The resolution was

stated to 'Séf;K&{;[ does this mean that a standard answer was given from
the knawie&éébase. I¥ "ves” piease can you explain what the knowledge
base ig? -~ If KB is in the resolution then the answer has been given off
the kmowledge base. The KB is a tool used by NBSC to give snswers fo
SPMR and find information there are 1000s of case tities on the system
which gives information and what answers to give. The advisor will use
remmedy (this is the system used to fog calls and is iinked o the KB) o
categorise & call made by 3 SPMR. If the correct categorisation is used

then the system showld give the advisor the answer to the guestion. .

1 December 2003, call reference H12881573 the caller wanted a telephone
number for human resources. An answer was given from the knowiedge base.

1A _1204619_3 7



28.

29.

30.

31.

11 December 2003, call reference H12%035985 there was a power failure on
the street and the office has electronic shutters so was unable to open. [what
does gave nom offices mean? ~ Each Post office has 2 or 3 nominated
offices so if an office is closed the customers will be Jdirected to »
neninated office to fransact thelr business. NBSC wouwld give the
nominaled office details to the SPMR so he cowld display a notice telling

customers where fo go. ]

11 December 2003, call reference H12804136 the clerk qalled to confirm that
the office had been reopened.

12 Decemnber 2003, call reference H1290675
what the counter procedure was for a local collect when a customer comes to pick

erk wanted to know

it up. fwhat is local collect? - this is a sefvice offered by the post office, if

Royal Mall can not deliver & packayg y can lgave this at tﬁéi&mmf Fost

Office and the customer can collect it frop

an answer from the knowledge base.

customer had received a card in't;
clerk with

. 22 December 2003, call reference H12925312 the postmaster sent off an

application with the PID fwhat does that stand for? ~ Persons! Invitation
Document, this is used o apply for a Post Ofice Card Account Card] for
the opening of an account and identification form which was erroneously rejected
by the EDS. They retained the ID form and PID and the application form was
represented, but it had been returned again because there was no PID or ID form,
although the sub-postmaster said that EDS had retained them. The caller advised
the sub-postmaster that as the application had been erroneously rejected, NBSC
would pass his comments to our customer relations team to progress as a

complaint against EDS.

iA_1204619_1 8
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34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

42 December 2003, call reference HI2825381 this is a record of the sub-
postmaster’'s complaint about EDS being forwarded to them.

23 December 2003, call reference H21243010 the postmaster wanted to
know if the procedures for printing a postage label had changed and was advised
that the pre-paid will be reduced by an amount of extra service (recorded).

30 December 2003, call reference H12937387 the clerk called to say that the
customer had changed addresses and also post offices for his card fwhat type of
card? ~ This would be his Post Office Card acvcount Card]. His new card had
he could have had

been sent to the old office and the clerk wanted to know
the card directed to the new office. This was resolved by providing the clerk with

information from the knowledge base.

30 December 2003, call reference Hi@é??’?@:‘i the sub-pastmaster had

of £1,153.13. They were provided with an answer from the

we know what the sub-postmaster safd and what

nmmary s“m vmi{éﬁmr an the KB for an office that miss balanced was o
check all cash stamps and stock, check rems and chegues o processing

centre rems, and check pensions and allowances etc. L

19 January 2004, call reference Q12980113 there was an incorrect cash
dispatch {what does this mean? ~ Reading the call it looks ke the Office
was not sure of the procedure to despatch Cash to Hemel {(this is the
main cash depot}] Lisa [Lisa who? ~ Reading the call it looks like Liss
could be the person in the Office who ralsed the call] was not too sure of
the correct procedure, but NBSC informed her what it is.

14_1204619 1 S
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40. 20 3anuary 2004, call reference HR1265850 [what does Ixweek 41/03
reguired mean? ~ This is 8 request to have a copy of week 43/03 counter
aews to be sent to the office. Counter News is a weeldy publication sent
to all Gffices that Lists Operational Changes, it could be the office lost or

dhid not recefve a copy.]

41. 20 January 2004, call reference H21265965 the sub-postmaster had not
received a copy of the sales report for the last period and wanted to know how
one could be ordered. The sub-postmaster was advised that the reports were late
and he should receive it by the end of the week at the latest as they were being

dispatched.

42. 21 January 2004, call reference HIZBBT3 ah-postmaster called
with the suspense team. (At this time, th
ensure that nothing was transferred in

permitted).

43.
“last night but could not

e alanced cheques with him. It
ecked the REMs in and out, his cash,
as unable to find the loss. The sub-

find anything. The NBSC went thyoL
i gstmaster he

week 43 of £4,230.97. This was an unknown error. That

account.
45, 22 January 2004, call reference H21288317 a disabled customer’s card had
arrived in an incorrect name of Bernice instead of Denise and the sub-postmaster

wanted to speak to EDS. An answer was given from the knowledge base.

46, 27 January 2004, call reference H128989552 this refers to a training event in
Scarborough.

47. 28 January 2004, call reference H13003838 the sub-postmaster enquired
whether there was a service available for customers to send money to somebody

14_1204619_1 10
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48.

49.

50.

51.

POL00071231

POL00071231

in another part of the country. That answer was provided from the knowledge
base.

28 January 2004, call reference H21272735 the sub-postmaster had called to
say that since he had broadband installed, every time he receives stock into his
office it was showing short by the same amount. He had checked to make sure
that it was remmed in properly but it was still showing £2,500 short. The sub-
postmaster was advised that if he felt that that was a technical problem he should
call the Horizon System Helpline (M%#) that deals with technical issues.
However, after NBSC spoke to the sub-postmaster it appeared that he was
entering all the transactions correctly, so this could be p_héf‘?éase. fWhat does

that mean? ~ The adviser would have gone thro 3 the rem procedure

with the SPMRE and it looks ke he establish

mnring the cash
system ke he

at thls was the third discrepancy in as
figures using a transaction log and aiso
sh flow. No trace of the discrepancy was

e advisors and assigned fo the suspense account team o

is created by
deal with].

29 January 2004, call reference H21274188 the sub-postmaster wanted to
have his transactional archives [What are transactional archives? - Horizon
only holds about 30 days worth of data {(not sure exactiy). After this
period all the transaction date s archived by Fujitsu., Post office Lid can
reguest offfce archived data from Fujitsy but this is at & large cost.] looked
at more closely to try to identify what was going wrong with his branch. He was
having a lot of losses over the past three weeks and thought that there was a
system fault with his remittances. The NBSC followed KB instructions and sent an

1A_1204618_1 11



52.

53.
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e-mail to Adele Kilkoyne [who is she? ~ I think that Adele has now left the
business, she was the individual who requested this information off
Fujitsu] so that the postmaster could study his archives to try to identify what
had gone wrong. [what was the resull of this? Please can you follow
through with Adele Kilkoyne? - I do not koow the resufts of this and as I
safd ¥ think Adele has left the business. This may be something you need
{o take up with Dave Hulber? who is at N8SC.].

30 January 2004, call reference H13011860 the sub-postmaster called in
relation to automated payments: the customer’s account ha not apparently been

credited with payment. An answer was provided to the ostmaster from the

knowledge base.

30 January 2004, call reference QiBGOBQ._ﬁ Mrs Catherine Oglesby, the

Retail Line Manager reported that the sub- master had authg rised losses of
£6,754.09 for week 44. Apparently he.fould not identify what h'a‘d'v ‘aused the
loss and was unable to make good. The sub aster also stated that he had

made good a loss of £1,100 in week 42. y asked NBSC to contact the

branch to try resolve his que ‘ '¢-had applied for a hardship

55.

56.

57.

to HSH]

32 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called to query whether nominations are
being taken for pre-pay mobile phone vouchers [what does process map
mean? ~ On the KB a iof of the information in the style of 2 process map,

this just means the advisor answered from the process map. ]

3 February 2004, the branch asked for a telephone number for Girobank.

3 February 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number for
Hanco {what does that stand for? ~ MHanco is the name of 8 company that

1A_1204618_1 12



38,

59,

&0.

61.

62,

63.

64.

supply some ATM machines in the post office, the office wanted the

number to contact them. § helpdesk.

4 February 2004, the branch called and asked for the procedure for producing
an overnight cash holding (QRECH) report.

& February 2004, fthis entry fust says PID has the old address on. What
does that mean? -~ This is 3 card account guery. The PID {personaf
invitation document) had the wrong customers address on. The office
woudd Bave boen asking what he should do in thizs sityation. ]

r wished to transfer
count, The clerk
ther they could

9 February 2004, the branch called because a ¢

to 7?7 out coin [does this

mean change? What do they actually mean here? We need fo explain

this to a judge who wouldn’ arstand what reovming out means and

wouldnt be familiar with the systemr

waould need to rem this out so that
ra on how to rem coin out. ]

12 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to know the

procedure for opening a card account. [what does comm F mean? ~ COM
stands for counter Qperations Manual, These manuals st all Pogt Office
Transactipns and scceunting provedures (there are § volumes and aff
office have these). The KB links fnto the COM’s fo give answers, this
means that the answer wasg given from the counter operations manuasl

muniher 2.}

12 February 2004, the branch reported an unauthorised loss of £8,243.10 in
week 46. There was an accumulated loss over the last four weeks. The branch

14, 1204618 1 13
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65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

had applied for a hardship form. An amount was entered into the suspense
account pending completion of the hardship papers.

13 February 2004, the branch called and asked how to pay out on a capital
bank Lloyds TSB Bank cheque made out to Post Office Limited. The sub-
postmaster was advised that he should not pay out cash for this cheque. It
should only be used to pay for products or services.

13 February 2004, [is this a call from the sub-postmaster? ~ Mot sure
who generated this call]. There was a loss of £8,243.10 in week 46
sbruary [who is I&E?
iz when the BPMR
re was a further loss

accumulated over the last four weeks. Chased I&E on 27

- the I&E is the form used to apply for hardsm’g
can not afford to pay back a loss they have had ]
of £3,509.68 in week 48, This was added to the
loss was now £11,752.78. Mrs Oglesby wa
orm. NBSC spoke to Mrs Dglesby on

unt and the total

ware of this and was visiting to

assist the sub-postmaster in completing §
25 March. The sub-postmaster had been

d énd the loss transferred to

the late account,

13 February 2004, the sub-postm and warited to arrange a system

They were given an

nted to know whether they could do a withdrawal.

Account then 3 payments of upto £20 can bs mads in an emergency if the
system fs not available., IF it {5 & different kind iF on line ransaction then

the customaer would be asked to go somewhere else of come back Iater. ]

16 February 2004, this call simply states Horizon KB0628. f[what does this
mean? ~ I can only guess at this. I wouldd think that it was an Morizon
issue so the SPMR was referred fo HEH. The KBOG28 in the resciution
could be the number of the KB case Hile.

16 February 2004, the sub-postmaster wanted to speak to HSH because his
screen was frozen. He was given an answer from the knowledge base.

1A_1204619_1 14
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72.

73.

74,

75.

76.

77.

78.

1% February 2004, the branch called and wanted to know what the telephone
numbers were for transaction processing. They were given an answer from the
knowledge base.

21 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and asked how to deal with the
death of the card holder and was given an answer from the knowledge base.

24 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called asking for Mrs Oglesby to call him
regarding the previous conversation about the ongoing system problem. NBSC

advised Mrs Oglesby that the sub-postmaster had called.

25 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called to state that:he had been having

this for the sub-postmaster. NBSC called t
that HSH had been in touch.

26 February 2004
service support HY “Because there was a £3,509.68 shortage

e suspense account. The sub-postmaster was advised

thﬁii"the suspense account =am would deal with this until the sub-postmaster role

ﬁévﬁv_been to the correct cap fwhat does that mean? ~ The suspense account
taa'sﬁ_;.:wiis’ ot d@a?;,&ﬁrim a discrepancy until the SPMR had rolled over and

commitied the discrepancy. If they have not rofled over yet then the call

can not be | mm:! to the suspense account team.]. Claire advised that HSH

was still inves i_:jating the problem.

26 February 2004, the sub-postmaster called and stated that he was entering
into a smart post item on the system and it was an airsure going to the USA with
the value of £300. The sub-postmaster put the value into the system but the
price did not increase and wanted to know why. NBCS discussed with the sub-
postmaster and went through the procedure with him. It transpired that the sub-
postmaster was ferronecusiy? ~ Yes this was user grror on the SPMRS
part. ] entering the high value at the start of the transaction, so it set the price at

the high value compensation rate.
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POL00071231
POL00071231



79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

POL00071231

POL00071231

46 February 2004, the sub-postmaster reported £3,509.68 unauthorised losses
for week 48. He said that he had an ongoing problem which HSH were
investigating. The sub-postmaster was completing an I&E form to start the
hardship process for previous discrepancies. Accordingly, although the losses
were unauthorised, they were entered into the suspense account pending the

hardship process.

3 March 2004, the branch reported that a customer had called and asked for a
change of name on the CAPO card since it had the wrong names [what does
CAPQ stand for? — Card Account at Post Office J. The branch was given an

answer from the knowledge base.

4 March 2004, Mrs Oglesby reported that she had ed HSH as a branch was

Saturday today.

8 March 2904--'
pension allowan
DWe? -~ ﬂ&ﬁaxﬁm ;
Office

‘Pensions] makes the policy, not the Post

‘azﬂarch 2004, ranch ‘called and asked who the cheque should be made

pa'yéi;l:g‘to for prem bonds. An answer from the knowledge base.
9 Marchv 2(}@4 fhé branch called and asked what the process was for a buy back
pre-order acébunting and dispatch. They were given an answer from the

knowledge base.

10 March 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number for
Chesterfield and were given the answer from the knowledge base.

1% March 2004, the branch called and stated that the balance on the card
account was less than what is in the account and wanted to know what to do.
They were given an answer from the knowledge base.

1A_1204619_1 i6



88.

89.

20,

91,

92.

93.

94.

95,

96.

97.

98.

POL00071231

POL00071231

15 March 2004, the branch called and asked for the address for NAIRN Post
Office and were given an answer from the knowledge base.

18 March 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted the branch details for
Post Office No. 225840, They were given an answer from the knowledge base.

22 March 2004, the sub-postmaster wanted to know how to issue a vault card to
a customer. [what does office process map mean? -~ This means that the
Advisor Followed the process map that was on the K8.]

23 March 2004, the auditor called and wanted to know. if the office had had a

new base unit. They were told to try calling HSH.

23 March 2004, the auditor called and wante
that had been authorised from about week:
three losses and all are unauthorised.

23 March 2004, OSP site down request advise

what does this mean? -~ Q5P
means One Shot Passwoard, s SPMR forgets his password he can not

tog on fo Horizon and he higs ¢ & Une Shot Password te log

o ]

This could be the SPME or an offiver in vhargs, when
they would ring NBSC to inform them when they

, the auditor wanted to speak to HSH tu confirm that the sub-
postmaster had a new base unit fitted. The auditor was transferred to HSH.

24 March 2004, [what does declare bureau advise to select edit FI10 hung
up mean? -~ The SPMR weuld be asking how to declare his Bursau De
Change {(fergign currency} The select edit FI0 is the procvedure o Ffollow
when declaring the buresy in the belance screen. ¥ can only assume the

Hung Up means the SPME hung up.]

30 March 2004, NBSC spoke to the new, relief sub-postmaster, Ruth Simpson.
They took NS & I details and would pass to the customer when and if they came
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in fwhat does see DO mean? ~ See DD means see Detailed doscription.
The advisor enfers the SPME guestion in the Detafled description,
spmetimes the guestion includes the resofution so the advisor puls see
o],

99. 31 March 2004, the branch called and asked for what the concession number
was for a disabled rod licence, They were given an answer from the knowledge
base.

100.1 April 2004, the branch called and asked how to correct errors. They were
given an answer from the knowledge base.

101.1 April 2004, the new sub-postmaster stated that

ad not balance a roll

is in) CAP 01 is Cash account period v
o week 02.

system to allow her to roll over i

102.2 April 2004, the branch had

cation m}fmm @il stock snd cash is

sent from and af Secure Stock Centre but we just

rofer fo mmw;

104.15 April ‘2004, the retail line manager asked NBSC to contact the sub-

postmaster urgently and was left a voicemail.

105.1% April 2004, the branch called and asked for the telephone number of National
Savings and was given an answer from the knowledge base.

106.19 April 2004, the branch called and asked for a telephone number of TP [what
does this mean? Is it transaction processing? - Yes] and was given an

answer from the knowledge base.

107.28 April 2004, the sub-postmaster called and wanted to speak to the retail line
manager regarding a problem that she is already dealing with. Mrs Oglesby left a

1A_1204619_ 1 18



message on veoicemail {whose voicemail? NBSC's? the sub-postmasters? -~
This call is a Page RLM {(Relail Line Manager)} call, These calls are passed
to the Admin team o contact the RLM. In the resoludion it says RLM Cath
Ooleshy Left Message on Volcemadl @ 1428, This means the admin team
feft 3 message on Cath Ogleshy’s voicemail at 14:28 that day]

108.21 Aprii 2004, the branch called to report a change in the opening hours and the

details were logged.

109.22 April 2004, the branch called and asked the retail line manager to contact the

branch regarding a problem that they were all dealing with:" The message was
passed on by NBSC to Mrs Oglesby.

losing business. He wanted to speak to:

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

SIGNEA oo evasis ittt b i
ANDREW WISE

DIALE Lo mriirvns it vt vairvas oo s g
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Claimant
Andrew Wise
1

AWLY

22/8/06

Claim No. HQOSX02706

IN THE HIGH